The Law Offices of

WILSON, HUTCHINSON & POTEAT

611 Frederica Street Owensboro, Kentucky 42301 Telephone (270) 926-5011 Facsimile (270) 926-9394

William L. Wilson, Jr. Mark R. Hutchinson T. Steven Poteat T. Tommy Littlepage

OVERNIGHT DELIVERY

August 1, 2008

Honorable Stephanie Stumbo Executive Director Kentucky Public Service Commission 211 Sower Blvd. PO Box 615 Frankfort, Kentucky 40602

RE: Atmos Energy Corporation's Responses to KPSC Initial Data Request Dated July 21, 2008 Case No. 2008-00230

Dear Ms. Stumbo:

I enclose herewith an original, plus seven (7) copies, of Atmos Energy Corporation's Responses to the Kentucky Public Service Commission's Initial Data Request in Case No. 2008-00230 for filing in your office. Thanks.

Very truly yours,

le O

Mark R. Hutchinson

courtesy copy: Dennis Howard

RECEIVED

AUG 0 4 2008

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

<u>bill@whplawfirm.com</u> <u>randy@whplawfirm.com</u> <u>steve@whplawfirm.com</u> <u>ttommy@whplawfirm.com</u>



RECEIVED

AUG 0 4 2008

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Atmos Energy Corporation KPSC Initial Data Request Dated July 21, 2008 Case No. 2008-00230 DR Item 1

Witness: Mark A. Martin

1. Refer to paragraph 6 of Atmos' June 20, 2008 application ("application").

a. Provide a copy of the Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent Action ("Agreement") entered into on January 28, 2008.

Response: Please see attached copy of the Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent Action.

b. If Atmos has an estimate of its future costs of complying with the Agreement, provide a detailed list of the estimated costs.

Response: Please see attached invoice dated July 9, 2008 from Linebach & Funkhouser, Inc. (LFI) for \$228,572. LFI is managing the process and coordinating the reimbursement of all subcontractor expenses. The costs set forth on the attached invoice represent costs that have been incurred by the Company since the time the list of Itemized Expenditures (through May 31, 2008) which was attached to the Company's original application in this proceeding, was prepared. The Company anticipates additional legal and miscellaneous expenses of approximately \$60,000, which includes the \$40,000.00 of costs (referred to in the Company's response to Data Request 2(c)) for which recovery will not be sought.

.

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGION 4

IN THE MATTER OF: Goodloe Elementary School Site Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky

Atmos Energy Corporation,

Respondent.

ADMINISTRATIVE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND ORDER ON CONSENT FOR REMOVAL ACTION

U.S. EPA Region 4 Docket No. CERCLA-04-2008-3757

Proceeding Under Sections 104, 106(a), 107 and 122 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604, 9606(a), 9607 and 9622

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	JURISDICTION AND GENERAL PROVISIONS		
II.	PARTIES BOUND		
III.	DEFINITIONS		
IV.	Findings of Fact		
V.	Conclusions of Law and Determinations		
VI.	SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND ORDER7		
VII.	DESIGNATION OF CONTRACTOR, PROJECT COORDINATOR, AND ON-SCENE		
	Coordinator		
VIII.	Work to be Performed		
IX.	SITE ACCESS		
X.	Access to Information		
XI.	RECORD RETENTION		
XII.	COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER LAWS 14		
XIII.	EMERGENCY RESPONSE AND NOTIFICATION OF RELEASES		
XIV.	AUTHORITY OF ON-SCENE COORDINATOR		
XV.	PAYMENT OF RESPONSE COSTS		
XVI.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION		
XVII.	Force Majeure		
XVIII.	STIPULATED PENALTIES		
XIX.	COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY EPA		
XX.	RESERVATIONS OF RIGHTS BY EPA		
XXI.	COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY RESPONDENT		
XXII.	OTHER CLAIMS		
XXIII.	CONTRIBUTION		
XXIV.	INDEMNIFICATION		
XXV.	INSURANCE		
XXVI.	FINANCIAL ASSURANCE		
XXVII.	MODIFICATIONS		
XXVIII.	NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF WORK		
XXIX.	INTEGRATION/APPENDICES		
XXX.	EFFECTIVE DATE		

Appendix A is the Action Memorandum. Appendix B is the Map of the Site. Appendix C is the Work Plan.

2

I. JURISDICTION AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. This Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent ("Settlement Agreement") is entered into voluntarily by the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and Atmos Energy Corporation ("Respondent"). This Settlement Agreement provides for the performance of a removal action by Respondent and the reimbursement of certain response costs incurred by the United States at or in connection with the property located at 3rd and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky, the "Goodloe Elementary School Site" or the "Site."

2. This Settlement Agreement is issued under the authority vested in the President of the United States by Sections 104, 106(a), 107 and 122 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604, 9606(a), 9607 and 9622, as amended ("CERCLA").

3. EPA has notified the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the "Commonwealth") of this action pursuant to Section 106(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9606(a).

4. EPA and Respondent recognize that this Settlement Agreement has been negotiated in good faith and that the actions undertaken by Respondent in accordance with this Settlement Agreement do not constitute an admission of any liability. Respondent does not admit, and retains the right to controvert in any subsequent proceedings other than proceedings to implement or enforce this Settlement Agreement, the validity of the findings of facts, conclusions of law, and determinations in Sections IV and V of this Settlement Agreement. Respondent agrees to comply with and be bound by the terms of this Settlement Agreement and further agrees that it will not contest the basis or validity of this Settlement Agreement or its terms.

II. PARTIES BOUND

5. This Settlement Agreement applies to and is binding upon EPA and upon Respondent and its successors and assigns. Any change in ownership or corporate status of Respondent including, but not limited to, any transfer of assets or real or personal property shall not alter Respondent's responsibilities under this Settlement Agreement.

6. Respondent is jointly and severally liable for carrying out all activities required by this Settlement Agreement.

7. Respondent shall ensure that its contractors, subcontractors, and representatives receive a copy of this Settlement Agreement and comply with this Settlement Agreement. Respondent shall be responsible for any noncompliance with this Settlement Agreement.

III. DEFINITIONS

8. Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, terms used in this Settlement Agreement which are defined in CERCLA or in regulations promulgated under CERCLA shall have the meaning assigned to them in CERCLA or in such regulations. Whenever terms listed below are used in this Settlement Agreement or in the appendices attached hereto and incorporated hereunder, the following definitions shall apply:

a. "Action Memorandum" shall mean the EPA Enforcement Action Memorandum relating to the Site signed by the Regional Administrator, EPA Region 4, or his/her delegate, and all attachments thereto. The "Action Memorandum" is attached as Appendix A.

b. "CERCLA" shall mean the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601, *et seq.*

c. "Day" shall mean a calendar day. In computing any period of time under this Settlement Agreement, where the last day would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal holiday, the period shall run until the close of business of the next working day.

d. "Effective Date" shall be the effective date of this Settlement Agreement as provided in Section XXX.

e. "EPA" shall mean the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any successor departments or agencies of the United States.

f. "EPPC" shall mean the Kentucky Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet and any successor departments or agencies of the State.

g. "Future Response Costs" shall mean all costs, beginning on the Effective Date, including, but not limited to, direct and indirect costs, that the United States incurs in reviewing or developing plans, reports and other items pursuant to this Settlement Agreement, verifying the Work, or otherwise implementing, overseeing, or enforcing this Settlement Agreement, including but not limited to, payroll costs, contractor costs, travel costs, laboratory costs, the costs incurred pursuant to Paragraph 24 (costs and attorneys' fees and any monies paid to secure access, including the amount of just compensation), and Paragraph 34 (emergency response), and Paragraph 60 (work takeover). Future Response Costs shall also include all Interim Response Costs that have accrued pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a) during the period from December 6, 2007, to the Effective Date.

h. "Interest" shall mean interest at the rate specified for interest on investments of the EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund established by 26 U.S.C. § 9507, compounded annually on October 1 of each year, in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a). The applicable rate

of interest shall be the rate in effect at the time the interest accrues. The rate of interest is subject to change on October 1 of each year.

i. "Interim Response Costs" shall mean all costs, including direct and indirect costs, a) paid by the United States in connection with the Site between December 6, 2007, and the Effective Date, or b) incurred prior to the Effective Date, but paid after that date.

j. "National Contingency Plan" or "NCP" shall mean the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan promulgated pursuant to Section 105 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9605, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 300, and any amendments thereto.

k. "Paragraph" shall mean a portion of this Settlement Agreement identified by an Arabic numeral.

1. "Parties" shall mean EPA and Respondent.

m. "Past Response Costs" shall mean all costs, including, but not limited to, direct and indirect costs, that the United States paid at or in connection with the Site through December 6, 2007.

n. "RCRA" shall mean the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901, *et seq.* (also known as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act).

o. "Respondent" shall mean Atmos Energy Corporation.

p. "Section" shall mean a portion of this Settlement Agreement identified by a Roman numeral.

q. "Settlement Agreement" shall mean this Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent and all appendices attached hereto (listed in Section XXIX). In the event of a conflict between this Settlement Agreement and any appendix, this Settlement Agreement shall control.

r. "Site" shall mean the Goodloe Elementary School Superfund Site, encompassing approximately three (3) acres, located at 3rd and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky, and depicted generally on the map attached as Appendix B.

s. "Commonwealth" shall mean the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

t. "Waste Material" shall mean 1) any "hazardous substance" under Section 101(14) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14); 2) any pollutant or contaminant under Section 101(33) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(33); and 3) any "solid waste" under Section 1004(27) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6903(27).

u. "Work" shall mean all activities Respondent is required to perform under this Settlement Agreement.

v. "Work Plan" shall mean the Removal Action Work Plan and schedule for implementation of the removal action, as set forth in Appendix C to this Settlement Agreement, which has been reviewed and approved by EPA and the Commonwealth, and any modifications made thereto in accordance with this Settlement Agreement.

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT

9. For purposes of this Settlement Agreement, EPA finds that:

a. The Site is located at the corner of 3rd and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky, and currently consists of the former Goodloe Elementary School property, including a 0.8-acre vacant lot. The surrounding land use is mixed residential and commercial. A coal gasification plant operated at the Site from approximately 1889 until the mid-1930s. A school (known by various names, including the Negro School, Colored School Western Colored School, and Western School) was located adjacent to the former gas plant as early as 1882. The school and the former gas plant became the Goodloe Elementary School in 1962. The Site is now owned by Respondent.

b. Owensboro Gas Light Company (later Owensboro Gas Company) was the original owner and operator of the coal gasification plant at the Site. It merged with Western Kentucky Gas Company in 1945. Respondent is the successor to Western Kentucky Gas Company.

c. A Site Investigation was conducted jointly by EPA and the Commonwealth in 1984, followed by a Site Investigation Prioritization in October 1993. The 1984 Site Investigation concluded that detectable levels of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) were found in the west lot. However, a health assessment conducted in May 1984 concluded that although PAH contamination existed in the west lot, there was insufficient evidence of a health hazard such that no restrictions of the west lot were required.

d. The 1993 Site Investigation Prioritization concluded that the Site did not warrant further action under CERCLA, but made the following recommendations: (1) direct contact with the soil in the west lot should be avoided; (2) a no trespassing sign should be placed at the 3rd Street entrance to the lot; and (3) persons performing grounds keeping services on the west lot should be provided with breathing filters.

e. Additional sampling was conducted at the Site in September 2006 by the EPPC, Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Waste Management. Benzo(a)pyrene was detected at the Site at levels as high as 19,000 parts per billion (ppb). f. Benzo(a)pyrene is a probable human carcinogen. Exposed soil could become airborne, impacting nearby properties.

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DETERMINATIONS

10. Based on the Findings of Fact set forth above, and the Administrative Record supporting this removal action, EPA has determined that:

a. The Goodloe Elementary School Site is a "facility" as defined by Section 101(9) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(9).

b. The contamination found at the Site, as identified in the Findings of Fact above, includes "hazardous substances" as defined by Section 101(14) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14).

c. Respondent is a "person" as defined by Section 101(21) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(21).

d. Respondent is a responsible party under Section 107(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a), and is jointly and severally liable for performance of the response action and for response costs incurred and to be incurred at the Site. Respondent is the successor to the "owners" and/or "operators" of the facility at the time of disposal of hazardous substances at the facility, as defined by Section 101(20) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(20), and within the meaning of Section 107(a)(2) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(2).

e. The conditions described in Paragraph 9(c)-(e) of the Findings of Fact above constitute an actual or threatened "release" of a hazardous substance from the facility as defined by Section 101(22) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(22).

f. The removal action required by this Settlement Agreement is necessary to protect the public health, welfare, or the environment and, if carried out in compliance with the terms of this Settlement Agreement, will be considered consistent with the NCP, as provided in Section 300.700(c)(3)(ii) of the NCP.

VI. SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND ORDER

Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Determinations, and the Administrative Record for this Site, it is hereby Ordered and Agreed that Respondent shall comply with all provisions of this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, all attachments to this Settlement Agreement and all documents incorporated by reference into this Settlement Agreement.

VII. <u>DESIGNATION OF CONTRACTOR, PROJECT COORDINATOR,</u> <u>AND ON-SCENE COORDINATOR</u>

11. Respondent has notified EPA that Linebach Funkhouser, Inc. shall serve as Respondent's primary contractor at the Site, and EPA has approved the use of such contractor. Respondent shall notify EPA of the name(s) and qualification(s) of any other contractor(s) or subcontractor(s) retained to perform the Work at least 10 days prior to commencement of such Work. EPA retains the right to disapprove of any or all of the contractors and/or subcontractors retained by Respondent. If EPA disapproves of a selected contractor, Respondent shall retain a different contractor and shall notify EPA of that contractor's name and qualifications within 10 days of EPA's disapproval.

12. Within 30 days after the Effective Date, Respondent shall designate a Project Coordinator who shall be responsible for administration of all actions by Respondent required by this Settlement Agreement and shall submit to EPA the designated Project Coordinator's name, address, telephone number, and qualifications. To the greatest extent possible, the Project Coordinator shall be present on Site or readily available during Site work. EPA retains the right to disapprove of the designated Project Coordinator. If EPA disapproves of the designated Project Coordinator, Respondent shall retain a different Project Coordinator and shall notify EPA of that person's name, address, telephone number, and qualifications within 10 days following EPA's disapproval. Receipt by Respondent's Project Coordinator of any notice or communication from EPA relating to this Settlement Agreement shall constitute receipt by Respondent.

13. EPA has designated Art Smith of the Emergency Response and Removal Branch, Region 4, as its On-Scene Coordinator ("OSC"). Except as otherwise provided in this Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall direct all submissions required by this Settlement Agreement to the OSC via e-mail at the following address:

Art Smith U.S. EPA On-Scene Coordinator Romano L. Mazzoli Federal Building, Rm. 172A 600 Dr. MLK Jr. Place Louisville, KY 40202 Office: (502) 582-5161 Cell: (502) 905-7559 Fax: (502) 582-5268 smith.art@epa.gov

14. EPA and Respondent shall have the right, subject to Paragraph 12, to change their respective designated OSC or Project Coordinator. Respondent shall notify EPA 10 days before such a change is made. The initial notification may be made orally, but shall be promptly followed by a written notice.

VIII. WORK TO BE PERFORMED

15. Respondent shall perform, at a minimum, all actions necessary to implement the Action Memorandum (set forth in Appendix A) as set forth in the EPA- and EPPC-approved Work Plan (set forth in Appendix C). The actions to be implemented as set forth in the Work Plan include the following: (1) developing and implementing an air monitoring and emergency contingency plan; (2) developing and implementing a Site Security Plan; (3) developing and implementing an extent of contamination and post-excavation sampling plan; (4) collecting and analyzing surface and subsurface soil samples for delineation, disposal, and confirmation purposes; (5) capping the area containing benzo(a)pyrene above the 6,200 ppb removal action level with paving or other suitable materials and properly disposing of any removed soils; (6) excavating any isolated contamination at levels above 6,200 ppb outside the planned cap area to a depth of two feet and, if contamination remains at or above the removal action level of 6,200 ppb, placing warning marker material at the bottom of the excavated area and backfilling with clean fill; and (7) performing public outreach as necessary.

16. Work Plan and Implementation.

a. Respondent has prepared a Quality Assurance Project Plan ("QAPP") in accordance with "EPA Requirements for Quality Assurance Project Plans (QA/R-5)" (EPA/240/B-01/003, March 2001), and "EPA Guidance for Quality Assurance Project Plans (QA/G-5)" (EPA/600/R-98/018, February 1998), which has been reviewed and approved by EPA.

b. Respondent shall not commence any Work except in conformance with the terms of this Settlement Agreement and the EPA-approved Work Plan. The Work Plan, the schedule, and any subsequent modifications shall be incorporated into and become fully enforceable under this Settlement Agreement.

17. <u>Health and Safety Plan</u>. Respondent has submitted a Health and Safety Plan, which has been reviewed by EPA, that ensures the protection of the public health and safety during performance of on-site work under this Settlement Agreement. This plan was prepared in accordance with EPA's Standard Operating Safety Guide (PUB 9285.1-03, PB 92-963414, June 1992). In addition, the plan complies with all currently applicable Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA") regulations found at 29 C.F.R. Part 1910, and includes contingency planning. Respondent shall implement the plan during the pendency of the removal action.

18. Quality Assurance and Sampling.

a. All sampling and analyses performed pursuant to this Settlement Agreement shall conform to EPA direction, approval, and guidance regarding sampling, quality assurance/quality control ("QA/QC"), data validation, and chain of custody procedures as set forth in the Work Plan and QAPP. Respondent shall ensure that the laboratory used to perform the analyses participates in a QA/QC program that complies with the appropriate EPA guidance. Respondent shall follow, as appropriate, "Quality Assurance/Quality Control Guidance for Removal Activities: Sampling QA/QC Plan and Data Validation Procedures" (OSWER Directive No. 9360.4-01, April 1, 1990), as guidance for QA/QC and sampling. Respondent shall only use laboratories that have a documented Quality System that complies with ANSI/ASQC E-4 1994, "Specifications and Guidelines for Quality Systems for Environmental Data Collection and Environmental Technology Programs" (American National Standard, January 5, 1995), and "EPA Requirements for Quality Management Plans (QA/R-2) (EPA/240/B-01/002, March 2001)," or equivalent documentation as determined by EPA. EPA may consider laboratories accredited under the National Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program ("NELAP") as meeting the Quality System requirements.

b. Upon request by EPA, Respondent shall have such a laboratory analyze samples submitted by EPA for QA monitoring. Respondent shall provide to EPA the QA/QC procedures followed by all sampling teams and laboratories performing data collection and/or analysis.

c. Upon request by EPA, Respondent shall allow EPA or its authorized representatives to take split and/or duplicate samples. Respondent shall notify EPA not less than 10 days in advance of any sample collection activity, unless shorter notice is agreed to by EPA. EPA shall have the right to take any additional samples that EPA deems necessary. Upon request, EPA shall allow Respondent to take split or duplicate samples of any samples it takes as part of its oversight of Respondent's implementation of the Work.

19. <u>Post-Removal Site Control</u>. The Work Plan includes a proposal for post-removal site control consistent with Section 300.415(*l*) of the NCP and OSWER Directive No. 9360.2-02. Respondent shall implement such controls and shall provide EPA with documentation of all post-removal site control arrangements.

20. Reporting.

a. Respondent shall submit weekly activity summaries to EPA concerning actions undertaken pursuant to this Settlement Agreement from the Effective Date of this Settlement Agreement until termination of this Settlement Agreement, unless otherwise directed in writing by the OSC. These activity summaries shall describe all significant developments during the preceding period, including the actions performed and any problems encountered, analytical data received during the reporting period, and the developments anticipated during the next reporting period, including a schedule of actions to be performed, anticipated problems, and planned resolutions of past or anticipated problems.

b. Respondent shall submit three (3) copies of all plans, reports or other submissions required by this Settlement Agreement or the Work Plan. Respondent shall submit such documents in electronic form.

21. <u>Final Report</u>. Within 60 days after completion of all Work required by this Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall submit for EPA review and approval a final report summarizing the

actions taken to comply with this Settlement Agreement. The final report shall conform, at a minimum, with the requirements set forth in Section 300.165 of the NCP entitled "OSC Reports." The final report shall include a summary of the Work performed, including the ultimate size and specifications for the cap, a listing of quantities and types of materials removed off-site or handled on-site, a discussion of removal and disposal options considered for those materials, a listing of the ultimate destination(s) of those materials, a presentation of the analytical results of all sampling and analyses performed, and accompanying appendices containing all relevant documentation generated during the removal action (*e.g.*, manifests, invoices, bills, contracts, and permits). The final report shall also include the following certification signed by a person who supervised or directed the preparation of that report:

"Under penalty of law, I certify that to the best of my knowledge, after appropriate inquiries of all relevant persons involved in the preparation of the report, the information submitted is true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations."

22. Off-Site Shipments.

a. Respondent shall, prior to any off-site shipment of Waste Material from the Site to an out-of-state waste management facility, provide written notification of such shipment of Waste Material to the appropriate state environmental official in the receiving facility's state and to the On-Scene Coordinator. However, this notification requirement shall not apply to any off-site shipments when the total volume of all such shipments will not exceed 10 cubic yards.

i. Respondent shall include in the written notification the following information: 1) the name and location of the facility to which the Waste Material is to be shipped; 2) the type and quantity of the Waste Material to be shipped; 3) the expected schedule for the shipment of the Waste Material; and 4) the method of transportation. Respondent shall notify the state in which the planned receiving facility is located of major changes in the shipment plan, such as a decision to ship the Waste Material to another facility within the same state, or to a facility in another state.

ii. The identity of the receiving facility and state will be determined by Respondent following the award of the contract for the removal action. Respondent shall provide the information required by Paragraph 22(a) and 22(b) as soon as practicable after the award of the contract and before the Waste Material is actually shipped.

b. Before shipping any hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants from the Site to an off-site location, Respondent shall obtain EPA's certification that the proposed receiving facility is operating in compliance with the requirements of CERCLA Section 121(d)(3), 42 U.S.C. § 9621(d)(3), and 40 C.F.R. § 300.440. Respondent shall only send hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants from the Site to an off-site facility that complies with the requirements of the statutory provision and regulation cited in the preceding sentence.

IX. SITE ACCESS

23. If the Site, or any other property where access and/or land/water use restrictions are needed to implement this Settlement Agreement, is owned or controlled by Respondent, Respondent shall, commencing on the Effective Date:

a. Provide EPA and its representatives, including contractors, with access at all reasonable times to the Site, or such other property, for the purpose of conducting any activity related to this Settlement Agreement.

b. Refrain from using the Site, or such other property, in any manner that would interfere with or adversely affect the implementation, integrity, or protectiveness of the Work to be performed pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

c. If warranted by post-removal Site conditions, secure deed notices or other restrictions to prevent future exposures.

24. Where any action under this Settlement Agreement is to be performed in areas owned by or in possession of someone other than Respondent, Respondent shall use its best efforts to secure from such persons:

a. all necessary access agreements within seven (7) days after the Effective Date, or as otherwise specified in writing by the OSC. Respondent shall immediately notify EPA if after using its best efforts it is unable to obtain such agreements. For purposes of this Paragraph, "best efforts" includes the payment of reasonable sums of money in consideration of access. Respondent shall describe in writing its efforts to obtain access. EPA may then assist Respondent in gaining access, to the extent necessary to effectuate the response actions described herein, using such means as EPA deems appropriate. Respondent shall reimburse EPA for all costs and attorneys' fees incurred by the United States in obtaining such access, in accordance with the procedures in Section XV (Payment of Response Costs).

b. an agreement to refrain from using the Site, or such other property, in any manner that would interfere with or adversely affect the implementation, integrity, or protectiveness of the Work to be performed pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

c. if warranted by post-removal Site conditions, deed notices or other restrictions to prevent future exposures.

25. Notwithstanding any provision of this Settlement Agreement, EPA retains all of its access authorities and rights, as well as all of its rights to require land/water use restrictions, including enforcement authorities related thereto, under CERCLA, RCRA, and any other applicable statutes or regulations.

X. ACCESS TO INFORMATION

26. Respondent shall provide to EPA, upon request, copies of all documents and information within its possession or control or that of its contractors or agents relating to activities at the Site or to the implementation of this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, sampling, analysis, chain of custody records, manifests, trucking logs, receipts, reports, sample traffic routing, correspondence, or other documents or information related to the Work. Respondent shall also make available to EPA, for purposes of investigation, information gathering, or testimony, its employees, agents, or representatives with knowledge of relevant facts concerning the performance of the Work.

27. Respondent may assert business confidentiality claims covering part or all of the documents or information submitted to EPA under this Settlement Agreement to the extent permitted by and in accordance with Section 104(e)(7) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9604(e)(7), and 40 C.F.R. § 2.203(b). Documents or information determined to be confidential by EPA will be afforded the protection specified in 40 C.F.R. Part 2, Subpart B. If no claim of confidentiality accompanies documents or information when they are submitted to EPA, or if EPA has notified Respondent that the documents or information are not confidential under the standards of Section 104(e)(7) of CERCLA or 40 C.F.R. Part 2, Subpart B, the public may be given access to such documents or information without further notice to Respondent.

28. Respondent may assert that certain documents, records and other information are privileged under the attorney-client privilege or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Respondent asserts such a privilege in lieu of providing documents, it shall provide EPA with the following: 1) the title of the document, record, or information; 2) the date of the document, record, or information; 3) the name and title of the author of the document, record, or information; 4) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; 5) a description of the contents of the document, record, or information; and 6) the privilege asserted by Respondent. However, no documents, reports or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Settlement Agreement shall be withheld on the grounds that they are privileged.

29. No claim of confidentiality shall be made with respect to any data, including, but not limited to, all sampling, analytical, monitoring, hydrogeologic, scientific, chemical, or engineering data, or any other documents or information evidencing conditions at or around the Site.

XI. RECORD RETENTION

30. Until 10 years after Respondent's receipt of EPA's notification pursuant to Section XXVIII (Notice of Completion of Work), Respondent shall preserve and retain all non-identical copies of records and documents (including records or documents in electronic form) now in its possession or control or which come into its possession or control that relate in any manner to the performance of the Work or the liability of any person under CERCLA with respect to the Site, regardless of any corporate retention policy to the contrary. Until 10 years after Respondent's receipt of EPA's notification pursuant to Section XXVIII (Notice of Completion of Work),

Respondent shall also instruct their contractors and agents to preserve all documents, records, and information of whatever kind, nature or description relating to performance of the Work.

31. At the conclusion of this document retention period, Respondent shall notify EPA at least 90 days prior to the destruction of any such records or documents, and, upon request by EPA, Respondent shall deliver any such records or documents to EPA. Respondent may assert that certain documents, records and other information are privileged under the attorney-client privilege or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Respondent asserts such a privilege, it shall provide EPA with the following: 1) the title of the document, record, or information; 2) the date of the document, record, or information; 3) the name and title of the author of the document, record, or information; 4) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; 5) a description of the subject of the document, record, or information; and 6) the privilege asserted by Respondent. However, no documents, reports or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Settlement Agreement shall be withheld on the grounds that they are privileged.

32. Respondent hereby certifies individually that to the best of its knowledge and belief, after thorough inquiry, it has not altered, mutilated, discarded, destroyed or otherwise disposed of any records, documents or other information (other than identical copies) relating to its potential liability regarding the Site since notification of potential liability by EPA or the State or the filing of suit against it regarding the Site and that it has fully complied with any and all EPA requests for information pursuant to Sections 104(e) and 122(e) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604(e) and 9622(e), and Section 3007 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6927.

XII. COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER LAWS

33. Respondent shall perform all actions required pursuant to this Settlement Agreement in accordance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws and regulations except as provided in Section 121(e) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 6921(e), and 40 C.F.R. §§ 300.400(e) and 300.415(j). In accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 300.415(j), all on-site actions required pursuant to this Settlement Agreement shall, to the extent practicable, as determined by EPA, considering the exigencies of the situation, attain applicable or relevant and appropriate requirements ("ARARs") under federal environmental or state environmental or facility siting laws. Respondent shall identify ARARs in conjunction with the implementation of the Work.

XIII. EMERGENCY RESPONSE AND NOTIFICATION OF RELEASES

34. In the event of any action or occurrence during performance of the Work which causes or threatens a release of Waste Material from the Site that constitutes an emergency situation or may present an immediate threat to public health or welfare or the environment, Respondent shall immediately take all appropriate action. Respondent shall take these actions in accordance with all applicable provisions of this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, the Health and Safety Plan, in order to prevent, abate or minimize such release or endangerment caused or threatened by the release. Respondent shall also immediately notify the OSC or, in the event of his/her unavailability, the Regional Duty Officer at 404-562-8700, of the incident or Site conditions. In the event that Respondent fails to take appropriate response action as required by this Paragraph, and EPA takes such action instead, Respondent shall reimburse EPA all costs of the response action not inconsistent with the NCP pursuant to Section XV (Payment of Response Costs).

35. In addition, in the event of any release of a hazardous substance from the Site, Respondent shall immediately notify the Emergency Response and Removal Branch, Regional Duty Officer, at 404-562-8700, and the National Response Center at (800) 424-8802. Respondent shall submit a written report to EPA within seven (7) days after each release, setting forth the events that occurred and the measures taken or to be taken to mitigate any release or endangerment caused or threatened by the release and to prevent the reoccurrence of such a release. This reporting requirement is in addition to, and not in lieu of, reporting under Section 103(c) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9603(c), and Section 304 of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-To-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. § 11004, *et seq*.

XIV. AUTHORITY OF ON-SCENE COORDINATOR

36. The OSC shall be responsible for overseeing Respondent's implementation of this Settlement Agreement. The OSC shall have the authority vested in an OSC by the NCP, including the authority to halt, conduct, or direct any Work required by this Settlement Agreement, or to direct any other removal action undertaken at the Site. Absence of the OSC from the Site shall not be cause for stoppage of work unless specifically directed by the OSC.

XV. PAYMENT OF RESPONSE COSTS

37. Payment for Past Response Costs.

a. Within 30 days after the Effective Date, Respondent shall pay to EPA \$159,417.65 for Past Response Costs. Payment shall be made to EPA by Electronic Funds Transfer ("EFT") in accordance with current EFT procedures to be provided to Respondent by EPA Region 4, and shall be accompanied by a statement identifying the name and address of the party(ies) making payment, the Site name, the EPA Region and Site/Spill ID Number A4NF, and the EPA docket number for this action.

b. At the time of payment, Respondent shall send notice that such payment has been made to:

Art Smith U.S. EPA On-Scene Coordinator Romano L. Mazzoli Federal Building, Rm. 172A 600 Dr. MLK Jr. Place Louisville, KY 40202 smith.art@epa.gov with a copy to:

Paula V. Batchelor Environmental Protection Specialist U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4 61 Forsyth St., S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960

and

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 26 Martin Luther King Dr. Cincinnati, OH 45268

c. The total amount to be paid by Respondent pursuant to Paragraph 37(a) shall be deposited in the EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund.

38. Payments for Future Response Costs.

a. Respondent shall pay EPA all Future Response Costs not inconsistent with the NCP. On a periodic basis, EPA will send Respondent a bill requiring payment that includes a SCORPIOS Report, which includes direct and indirect costs incurred by EPA and its contractors. Upon request, EPA shall provide Respondent with EPA's cost documentation package and available work performed documentation. Such request must be made within 15 days of receipt of a bill. Respondent shall make all payments within 30 days of receipt of each bill requiring payment, except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 40 of this Settlement Agreement, or except where Respondent requests EPA's cost documentation package, in which case payment is due within 30 days of Respondent's receipt of EPA's cost documentation package.

b. Respondent shall make all payments required by this Paragraph by a certified or cashier's check or checks made payable to "EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund," referencing the name and address of the party(ies) making payment and EPA Site/Spill ID number A4NF. Respondent shall send the check(s) to:

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Superfund Payments Cincinnati Finance Center P.O. Box 979076 St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

c. At the time of payment, Respondent shall send notice that payment has been made to:

Art Smith U.S. EPA On-Scene Coordinator Romano L. Mazzoli Federal Building, Rm. 172A 600 Dr. MLK Jr. Place Louisville, KY 40202 smith.art@epa.gov

with a copy to:

Paula V. Batchelor Environmental Protection Specialist U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4 61 Forsyth St., S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960

and

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 26 Martin Luther King Dr. Cincinnati, OH 45268

d. The total amount to be paid by Respondent pursuant to Paragraph 38(a) shall be deposited in the EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund.

39. In the event that the payment for Past Response Costs is not made within 30 days of the Effective Date, or the payments for Future Response Costs are not made within the time specified in Paragraph 38, Respondent shall pay Interest on the unpaid balance. The Interest on Past Response Costs shall begin to accrue on the Effective Date and shall continue to accrue until the date of payment. The Interest on Future Response Costs shall begin to accrue on the date of the bill and shall continue to accrue until the date of payment. Payments of Interest made under this Paragraph shall be in addition to such other remedies or sanctions available to the United States by virtue of Respondent's failure to make timely payments under this Section, including but not limited to, payment of stipulated penalties pursuant to Section XVIII.

40. Respondent may dispute all or part of a bill for Future Response Costs submitted under this Settlement Agreement, if Respondent alleges that EPA has made an accounting error, or if Respondent alleges that a cost item is inconsistent with the NCP. If any dispute over costs is resolved before payment is due, the amount due will be adjusted as necessary. If the dispute is not resolved before payment is due, Respondent shall pay the full amount of the uncontested costs to EPA as specified in Paragraph 38 on or before the due date. Within the same time period, Respondent shall pay the full amount of the contested costs into an interest-bearing escrow account. Respondent shall simultaneously transmit a copy of both checks to the persons listed in Paragraph 38(c) above. Respondent shall ensure that the prevailing party or parties in the dispute shall receive the amount upon which they prevailed from the escrow funds plus interest within 20 days after the dispute is resolved.

XVI. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

41. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Settlement Agreement, the dispute resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism for resolving disputes arising under this Settlement Agreement. The Parties shall attempt to resolve any disagreements concerning this Settlement Agreement expeditiously and informally.

42. If Respondent objects to any EPA action taken pursuant to this Settlement Agreement, including billings for Future Response Costs, it shall notify EPA in writing of its objection(s) within 30 days of such action, unless the objection(s) has/have been resolved informally. EPA and Respondent shall have 30 days from EPA's receipt of Respondent's written objection(s) to resolve the dispute through formal negotiations (the "Negotiation Period"). The Negotiation Period may be extended at the sole discretion of EPA.

43. Any agreement reached by the parties pursuant to this Section shall be in writing and shall, upon signature by both parties, be incorporated into and become an enforceable part of this Settlement Agreement. If the Parties are unable to reach an agreement within the Negotiation Period, an EPA management official at the Superfund Division Director level or higher will issue a written decision on the dispute to Respondent. EPA's decision shall be incorporated into and become an enforceable part of this Settlement Agreement. Respondent's obligations under this Settlement Agreement shall not be tolled by submission of any objection for dispute resolution under this Section. Following resolution of the dispute, as provided by this Section, Respondent shall fulfill the requirement that was the subject of the dispute in accordance with the agreement reached or with EPA's decision, whichever occurs.

XVII. FORCE MAJEURE

44. Respondent agrees to perform all requirements of this Settlement Agreement within the time limits established under this Settlement Agreement, unless the performance is delayed by a *force majeure*. For purposes of this Settlement Agreement, a *force majeure* is defined as any event arising from causes beyond the control of Respondent, or of any entity controlled by Respondent, including but not limited to its contractors and subcontractors, which delays or prevents performance of any obligation under this Settlement Agreement despite Respondent's best efforts to fulfill the obligation. *Force majeure* does not include financial inability to complete the Work, increased cost of performance, or a failure to attain performance standards/action levels set forth in the Action Memorandum.

45. If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any obligation under this Settlement Agreement, whether or not caused by a *force majeure* event, Respondent shall notify EPA orally within 10 days of when Respondent first knew that the event might cause a delay. Within 20 days thereafter, Respondent shall provide to EPA in writing an explanation

and description of the reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay; all actions taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for implementation of any measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the delay; Respondent's rationale for attributing such delay to a *force majeure* event if they intend to assert such a claim; and a statement as to whether, in the opinion of Respondent, such event may cause or contribute to an endangerment to public health, welfare or the environment. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall preclude Respondent from asserting any claim of *force majeure* for that event for the period of time of such failure to comply and for any additional delay caused by such failure.

46. If EPA agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a *force majeure* event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Settlement Agreement that are affected by the *force majeure* event will be extended by EPA for such time as is necessary to complete those obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected by the *force majeure* event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligation. If EPA does not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a *force majeure* event, EPA will notify Respondent in writing of its decision. If EPA agrees that the delay is attributable to a *force majeure* event, EPA will notify Respondent in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for performance of the obligations affected by the *force majeure* event.

XVIII. STIPULATED PENALTIES

47. Respondent shall be liable to EPA for stipulated penalties in the amounts set forth in Paragraphs 48 and 49 for failure to comply with the requirements of this Settlement Agreement specified below, unless excused under Section XVII (*Force Majeure*). "Compliance" by Respondent shall include completion of the activities under this Settlement Agreement or any Work Plan or other plan approved under this Settlement Agreement identified below in accordance with all applicable requirements of law, this Settlement Agreement, and any plans or other documents approved by EPA pursuant to this Settlement Agreement and within the specified time schedules established by and approved under this Settlement Agreement.

48. Stipulated Penalty Amounts - Work.

a. The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per day for any noncompliance with any deadlines, schedules, or obligations contained in Respondent's Work Plan:

Penalty Per Violation Per Day	Period of Noncompliance
\$ <u>1,000</u>	1st through 14th day
\$ <u>5,000</u>	15th through 30th day
\$ <u>10,000</u>	31st day and beyond

49. <u>Stipulated Penalty Amounts - Reports</u>. The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per day for failure to submit timely or adequate reports or other written documents pursuant to Paragraphs 16, 17, 20, and 21:

Penalty Per Violation Per Day	Period of Noncompliance
\$ <u>1,000</u>	1st through 14th day
\$ <u>2,500</u>	15th through 30th day
\$ <u>5,000</u>	31st day and beyond

50. In the event that EPA assumes performance of a portion or all of the Work pursuant to Paragraph 60 of Section XX, Respondent shall be liable for a stipulated penalty in the amount of \$75,000.

51. All penalties shall begin to accrue on the day after the complete performance is due or the day a violation occurs, and shall continue to accrue through the final day of the correction of the noncompliance or completion of the activity. However, stipulated penalties shall not accrue: 1) with respect to a deficient submission under Section VIII (Work to be Performed), during the period, if any, beginning on the 31st day after EPA's receipt of such submission until the date that EPA notifies Respondent of any deficiency; and 2) with respect to a decision by the EPA management official at the Superfund Division Director level or higher, under Paragraph 43 of Section XVI (Dispute Resolution), during the period, if any, beginning on the 21st day after the Negotiation Period begins until the date that the EPA management official issues a final decision regarding such dispute. Nothing herein shall prevent the simultaneous accrual of separate penalties for separate violations of this Settlement Agreement.

52. Following EPA's determination that Respondent has failed to comply with a requirement of this Settlement Agreement, EPA may give Respondent written notification of the failure and describe the noncompliance. EPA may send Respondent a written demand for payment of the penalties. However, penalties shall accrue as provided in the preceding Paragraph regardless of whether EPA has notified Respondent of a violation.

53. All penalties accruing under this Section shall be due and payable to EPA within 30 days of Respondent's receipt from EPA of a demand for payment of the penalties, unless Respondent invokes the dispute resolution procedures under Section XVI (Dispute Resolution). All payments to EPA under this Section shall be paid by certified or cashier's check(s) made payable to "EPA Hazardous Substances Superfund," shall be mailed to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Superfund Payments, Cincinnati Finance Center, P.O. Box 979076, St. Louis, MO 63197-9000, shall indicate that the payment is for stipulated penalties, and shall reference the EPA Region and Site/Spill ID Number A4NF, the EPA docket number, and the name and address of the party(ies) making payment. Copies of check(s) paid pursuant to this Section, and any accompanying transmittal letter(s), shall be sent to EPA as provided in Paragraph 13, and to:

Paula V. Batchelor Environmental Protection Specialist U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4 61 Forsyth St., S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960

and

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 26 Martin Luther King Dr. Cincinnati, OH 45268

54. The payment of penalties shall not alter in any way Respondent's obligation to complete performance of the Work required under this Settlement Agreement.

55. Penalties shall continue to accrue during any dispute resolution period, but need not be paid until 15 days after the dispute is resolved by agreement or by receipt of EPA's decision.

56. If Respondent fails to pay stipulated penalties when due, EPA may institute proceedings to collect the penalties, as well as Interest. Respondent shall pay Interest on the unpaid balance, which shall begin to accrue on the date of demand made pursuant to Paragraph 52. Nothing in this Settlement Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting, altering, or in any way limiting the ability of EPA to seek any other remedies or sanctions available by virtue of Respondents' violation of this Settlement Agreement or of the statutes and regulations upon which it is based, including, but not limited to, penalties pursuant to Sections 106(b) and 122(l) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606(b) and 9622(l), and punitive damages pursuant to Section 107(c)(3) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(c)(3). Provided, however, that EPA shall not seek civil penalties pursuant to Section 106(b) or 122(l) of CERCLA or punitive damages pursuant to Section 107(c)(3) of CERCLA for any violation for which a stipulated penalty is provided herein, except in the case of a willful violation of this Settlement Agreement, or in the event that EPA assumes performance of a portion or all of the Work pursuant to Section XX, Paragraph 60. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, EPA may, in its unreviewable discretion, waive any portion of stipulated penalties that have accrued pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

XIX. COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY EPA

57. In consideration of the actions that will be performed and the payments that will be made by Respondent under the terms of this Settlement Agreement, and except as otherwise specifically provided in this Settlement Agreement, EPA covenants not to sue or to take administrative action against Respondent pursuant to Sections 106 and 107(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606 and 9607(a), for the Work, Past Response Costs, and Future Response Costs. This covenant not to sue shall take effect upon receipt by EPA of the Past Response Costs due under Section XV of this Settlement Agreement and any Interest or Stipulated Penalties due for failure to pay Past Response Costs as required by Sections XV and XVIII of this Settlement

Agreement. This covenant not to sue is conditioned upon the complete and satisfactory performance by Respondent of its obligations under this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, payment of Future Response Costs pursuant to Section XV. This covenant not to sue extends only to Respondent and does not extend to any other person.

XX. RESERVATIONS OF RIGHTS BY EPA

58. Except as specifically provided in this Settlement Agreement, nothing herein shall limit the power and authority of EPA or the United States to take, direct, or order all actions necessary to protect public health, welfare, or the environment or to prevent, abate, or minimize an actual or threatened release of hazardous substances, pollutants or contaminants, or hazardous or solid waste on, at, or from the Site. Further, nothing herein shall prevent EPA from seeking legal or equitable relief to enforce the terms of this Settlement Agreement, from taking other legal or equitable action as it deems appropriate and necessary, or from requiring Respondent in the future to perform additional activities pursuant to CERCLA or any other applicable law.

59. The covenant not to sue set forth in Section XIX above does not pertain to any matters other than those expressly identified therein. EPA reserves, and this Settlement Agreement is without prejudice to, all rights against Respondent with respect to all other matters, including, but not limited to:

a. claims based on a failure by Respondent to meet a requirement of this Settlement Agreement;

b. liability for costs not included within the definitions of Past Response Costs or Future Response Costs;

c. liability for performance of response action other than the Work;

d. criminal liability;

e. liability for damages for injury to, destruction of, or loss of natural resources, and for the costs of any natural resource damage assessments;

f. liability arising from the past, present, or future disposal, release or threat of release of Waste Materials outside of the Site; and

g. liability for costs incurred or to be incurred by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry related to the Site.

60. <u>Work Takeover</u>. In the event EPA determines that Respondent has ceased implementation of any portion of the Work, is seriously or repeatedly deficient or late in its performance of the Work, or is implementing the Work in a manner which may cause an endangerment to human health or the environment, EPA may assume the performance of all or

any portion of the Work as EPA determines necessary after written notice and a 10-day opportunity to cure. Respondent may invoke the procedures set forth in Section XVI (Dispute Resolution) to dispute EPA's determination that takeover of the Work is warranted under this Paragraph. Costs incurred by the United States in performing the Work pursuant to this Paragraph shall be considered Future Response Costs that Respondents shall pay pursuant to Section XV (Payment of Response Costs). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Settlement Agreement, EPA retains all authority and reserves all rights to take any and all response actions authorized by law.

XXI. COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY RESPONDENT

61. Respondent covenants not to sue and agrees not to assert any claims or causes of action against the United States, or its contractors or employees, with respect to the Work, Past Response Costs, Future Response Costs, or this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to:

a. any direct or indirect claim for reimbursement from the Hazardous Substance Superfund established by 26 U.S.C. § 9507, based on Sections 106(b)(2), 107, 111, 112, or 113 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606(b)(2), 9607, 9611, 9612, or 9613, or any other provision of law;

b. any claim arising out of response actions at or in connection with the Site, including any claim under the United States Constitution, the Kentucky Constitution, the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1491, the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, as amended, or at common law; or

c. any claim against the United States pursuant to Sections 107 and 113 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9607 and 9613, relating to the Site.

Except as expressly provided in Paragraph 63 (Non-Exempt De Micromis Waiver), these covenants not to sue shall not apply in the event the United States brings a cause of action or issues an order pursuant to the reservations set forth in Paragraphs 59(b), (c), and (e) - (g), but only to the extent that Respondent's claims arise from the same response action, response costs, or damages that the United States is seeking pursuant to the applicable reservation.

62. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute approval or preauthorization of a claim within the meaning of Section 111 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9611, or 40 C.F.R. § 300.700(d).

63. Respondent agrees not to assert any claims and to waive all claims or causes of action that it may have for all matters relating to the Site, including for contribution, against any person where the person's liability to Respondent with respect to the Site is based solely on having arranged for disposal or treatment, or for transport for disposal or treatment, of hazardous substances at the Site, or having accepted for transport for disposal or treatment of hazardous substances at the Site, if all or part of the disposal, treatment, or transport occurred before April 1,

2001, and the total amount of material containing hazardous substances contributed by such person to the Site was less than 110 gallons of liquid materials or 200 pounds of solid materials.

64. The waiver in Paragraph 63 shall not apply with respect to any defense, claim, or cause of action that Respondent may have against any person meeting the above criteria if such person asserts a claim or cause of action relating to the Site against Respondent. This waiver also shall not apply to any claim or cause of action against any person meeting the above criteria if EPA determines:

a. that such person has failed to comply with any EPA requests for information or administrative subpoenas issued pursuant to Section 104(e) or 122(e) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604(e) or 9622(e), or Section 3007 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act (also known as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act or "RCRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 6972, or has impeded or is impeding, through action or inaction, the performance of a response action or natural resource restoration with respect to the Site, or has been convicted of a criminal violation for the conduct to which this waiver would apply and that conviction has not been vitiated on appeal or otherwise; or

b. that the materials containing hazardous substances contributed to the Site by such person have contributed significantly, or could contribute significantly, either individually or in the aggregate, to the cost of response action or natural resource restoration at the Site.

XXII. OTHER CLAIMS

65. By issuance of this Settlement Agreement, the United States and EPA assume no liability for injuries or damages to persons or property resulting from any acts or omissions of Respondent. The United States or EPA shall not be deemed a party to any contract entered into by Respondent or its directors, officers, employees, agents, successors, representatives, assigns, contractors, or consultants in carrying out actions pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

66. Except as expressly provided in Section XXI, Paragraph 63 (Non-exempt De Micromis Waiver) and Section XIX (Covenant Not to Sue by EPA), nothing in this Settlement Agreement constitutes a satisfaction of or release from any claim or cause of action against Respondent or any person not a party to this Settlement Agreement, for any liability such person may have under CERCLA, other statutes, or common law, including but not limited to any claims of the United States for costs, damages and interest under Sections 106 and 107 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606 and 9607.

67. No action or decision by EPA pursuant to this Settlement Agreement shall give rise to any right to judicial review, except as set forth in Section 113(h) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(h).

XXIII. CONTRIBUTION

68. a. The Parties agree that this Settlement Agreement constitutes an administrative settlement for purposes of Section 113(f)(2) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(2), and that Respondent is entitled, as of the Effective Date, to protection from contribution actions or claims as provided by Sections 113(f)(2) and 122(h)(4) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(2) and 9622(h)(4), for "matters addressed" in this Settlement Agreement. The "matters addressed" in this Settlement Agreement. The "matters addressed" in this Settlement Agreement. The "matters addressed" in this Settlement Agreement.

b. The Parties agree that this Settlement Agreement constitutes an administrative settlement for purposes of Section 113(f)(3)(B) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(3)(B), pursuant to which Respondent has, as of the Effective Date, resolved its liability to the United States for the Work, Past Response Costs, and Future Response Costs.

c. Except as provided in Section XXI, Paragraph 63 of this Settlement Agreement (Non-exempt De Micromis Waiver), nothing in this Settlement Agreement precludes the United States or Respondent from asserting any claims, causes of action, or demands for indemnification, contribution, or cost recovery against any persons not parties to this Settlement Agreement. Nothing herein diminishes the right of the United States, pursuant to Sections 113(f)(2) and (3) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(2)-(3), to pursue any such persons to obtain additional response costs or response action and to enter into settlements that give rise to contribution protection pursuant to Section 113(f)(2).

XXIV. INDEMNIFICATION

69. Respondent shall indemnify, save and hold harmless the United States, its officials, agents, contractors, subcontractors, employees and representatives from any and all claims or causes of action arising from, or on account of, negligent or other wrongful acts or omissions of Respondent, its officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors, or subcontractors, in carrying out actions pursuant to this Settlement Agreement. In addition, Respondent agrees to pay the United States all costs incurred by the United States, including but not limited to attorneys' fees and other expenses of litigation and settlement, arising from or on account of claims made against the United States based on negligent or other wrongful acts or omissions of Respondent, its officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors and any persons acting on its behalf or under its control, in carrying out activities pursuant to this Settlement. The United States shall not be held out as a party to any contract entered into by or on behalf of Respondent in carrying out activities pursuant to this Settlement. Neither Respondent nor any such contractor shall be considered an agent of the United States.

70. The United States shall give Respondent notice of any claim for which the United States plans to seek indemnification pursuant to this Section and shall consult with Respondent prior to settling such claim.

71. Respondent waives all claims against the United States for damages or reimbursement or for set-off of any payments made or to be made to the United States, arising from or on account of any contract, agreement, or arrangement between any one or more of Respondent and any person for performance of Work on or relating to the Site, including, but not limited to, claims on account of construction delays. In addition, Respondent shall indemnify and hold harmless the United States with respect to any and all claims for damages or reimbursement arising from or on account of any contract, agreement, or arrangement between any one or more of Respondent and any person for performance of Work on or relating to the Site, including, but not limited to, claims on account of construction delays.

XXV. INSURANCE

72. At least seven (7) days prior to commencing any on-site work under this Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall secure, and shall maintain for the duration of this Settlement Agreement, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile insurance with limits of one (1) million dollars, combined single limit, naming EPA as an additional insured. Within the same time period, Respondent shall provide EPA with certificates of such insurance and a copy of each insurance policy. In addition, for the duration of the Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall satisfy, or shall ensure that its contractors or subcontractors satisfy, all applicable laws and regulations regarding the provision of worker's compensation insurance for all persons performing the Work on behalf of Respondent in furtherance of this Settlement Agreement. If Respondent demonstrates by evidence satisfactory to EPA that any contractor or subcontractor maintains insurance equivalent to that described above, or insurance covering some or all of the same risks but in an equal or lesser amount, then Respondent need provide only that portion of the insurance described above which is not maintained by such contractor or subcontractor.

XXVI. FINANCIAL ASSURANCE

73. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall establish and maintain financial security in the amount of \$200,000 in one or more of the following forms:

- a. A surety bond guaranteeing performance of the Work;
- b. One or more irrevocable letters of credit equaling the total estimated cost of the

Work;

- c. A trust fund;
- d. A policy of insurance which ensures the payment and/or performance of the

Work;

e. A guarantee to perform the Work by one or more parent corporations or subsidiaries, or by one or more unrelated corporations that have a substantial business relationship with at least one of Respondent; or f. A demonstration that Respondent satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 264.143(f).

74. If Respondent seeks to demonstrate the ability to complete the Work through a guarantee by a third party pursuant to Paragraph 73(a) of this Section, Respondent shall demonstrate that the guarantor satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 264.143(f). If Respondent seeks to demonstrate its ability to complete the Work by means of the financial test or the corporate guarantee pursuant to Paragraph 73(e) or (f) of this Section, it shall resubmit sworn statements conveying the information required by 40 C.F.R. Part 264.143(f) annually, on the anniversary of the Effective Date. In the event that EPA determines at any time that the financial assurances provided pursuant to this Section are inadequate, Respondent shall, within 30 days of receipt of notice of EPA's determination, obtain and present to EPA for approval one of the other forms of financial assurance listed in Paragraph 73 of this Section. Respondent's inability to demonstrate financial ability to complete the Work shall not excuse performance of any activities required under this Settlement Agreement.

75. If, after the Effective Date, Respondent can show that the estimated cost to complete the remaining Work has diminished below the amount set forth in Paragraph 73 of this Section, Respondent may, on any anniversary date of the Effective Date, or at any other time agreed to by the Parties, reduce the amount of the financial security provided under this Section to the estimated cost of the remaining Work to be performed. Respondent shall submit a proposal for such reduction to EPA, in accordance with the requirements of this Section, and may reduce the amount of the security upon approval by EPA. In the event of a dispute, Respondent may reduce the amount of the security in accordance with the written decision resolving the dispute.

76. Respondent may change the form of financial assurance provided under this Section at any time, upon notice to and approval by EPA, provided that the new form of assurance meets the requirements of this Section. In the event of a dispute, Respondent may change the form of the financial assurance only in accordance with the written decision resolving the dispute.

XXVII. MODIFICATIONS

77. The OSC may make modifications to any plan or schedule or the Work Plan in writing or by oral direction. Any oral modification will be memorialized in writing by EPA promptly, but shall have as its effective date the date of the OSC's oral direction. Any other requirements of this Settlement Agreement may be modified in writing by mutual agreement of the Parties.

78. If Respondent seeks permission to deviate from any approved Work Plan or schedule, Respondent's Project Coordinator shall submit a written request to EPA for approval outlining the proposed modification and its basis. Respondent may not proceed with the requested deviation until receiving oral or written approval from the OSC pursuant to Paragraph 77.

79. No informal advice, guidance, suggestion, or comment by the OSC or other EPA representatives regarding reports, plans, specifications, schedules, or any other writing submitted

by Respondent shall relieve Respondent of its obligation to obtain any formal approval required by this Settlement Agreement, or to comply with all requirements of this Settlement Agreement, unless it is formally modified.

XXVIII. NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF WORK

80. When EPA determines, after EPA's review of the Final Report, that all Work has been fully performed in accordance with this Settlement Agreement, with the exception of any continuing obligations required by this Settlement Agreement, including post-removal site controls, payment of Future Response Costs, or record retention, EPA will provide written notice to Respondent. If EPA determines that any such Work has not been completed in accordance with this Settlement Agreement, EPA will notify Respondent, provide a list of the deficiencies, and require that Respondent modify the Work Plan if appropriate in order to correct such deficiencies. Respondent shall implement the modified and approved Work Plan and shall submit a modified Final Report in accordance with the EPA notice. Failure by Respondent to implement the approved modified Work Plan shall be a violation of this Settlement Agreement.

XXIX. INTEGRATION/APPENDICES

81. This Settlement Agreement and its appendices constitute the final, complete and exclusive agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied in this Settlement Agreement. The Parties acknowledge that there are no representations, agreements or understandings relating to the settlement other than those expressly contained in this Settlement Agreement. The following appendices are attached to and incorporated into this Settlement Agreement:

Appendix A is the Action Memorandum. Appendix B is the Map of the Site. Appendix C is the Work Plan.

XXX. EFFECTIVE DATE

82. This Settlement Agreement shall be effective on the date it is signed by the Regional Administrator or his delegatee.

In the matter of the Goodloe Elementary School Site, Docket No. CERCLA-04-2008-3757:

The undersigned representative(s) of Respondent certify(ies) that it (they) is (are) fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Settlement Agreement and to bind the party(ies) it (they) represent(s) to this document.

Agreed this 16 day of Am. 2008 For Respondent ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION By: John Keins Ahers Titles President

In the matter of the Goodloe Elementary School Site, Docket No. CERCLA-04-2008-3757:

It is so ORDERED and Agreed this 28th day of Sanuary .2008. 28/08 1, DATE:_ BY: hust Mane A. Shane Hitchcock, Chief Emergency Response & Removal Branch Superfund Division Region 4 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

EFFECTIVE DATE: 1/28/08

APPENDIX A



UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGION 4 ATLANTA FEDERAL CENTER 61 FORSYTH STREET ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30303-8960

Pram 1 Ma

ENFORCEMENT ACTION MEMORANDUM

SUBJECT:Request for a Removal Action at the Goodloe Elementary School Site
Owensboro, Daviess County, KentuckyFROM:Kenneth B. Rhame
On-Scene CoordinatorTHRU:Shane Hitchcock, Chief
Emergency Response & Removal BranchTO:Franklin E. Hill, Director
Superfund Division

I. PURPOSE

The purpose of this Enforcement Action Memorandum is to request and document approval of the proposed enforcement-lead removal action described herein for the Goodloe Elementary School Site located in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky (the Site). The release of hazardous substances at the Site poses a threat to public health and the environment pursuant to Section 104(a) of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) that meets the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan (NCP) section 300.415(b)(2) criteria for removal actions. This removal is anticipated to be enforcement lead pursuant to an Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent (Settlement Agreement).

There are no significant or precedent-setting issues associated with the Site, and the Site is not currently on the National Priority List (NPL).

II. SITE CONDITIONS AND BACKGROUND

The CERCLIS ID number for this Site is KYD980838395. Site ID Number: A4NF

Beginning in 1889, Owensboro Gas Light Company (later Owensboro Gas Company) owned and operated a coal gasification plant at the Goodloe Elementary School Site. In 1945, Owensboro Gas Company merged with Western Kentucky Gas Company. In 1950 Western Kentucky Gas Company sold the Site property to the Owensboro Board of Education. The Site is now owned by the Fourth Street Baptist Church. Atmos Energy Corporation appears to be the successor to Western Kentucky Gas Company.

A school had been on adjacent property to the coal gasification plant since at least 1882, and had been known by various names (Negro School, Colored School, Western Colored School, and Western School). The school became the Goodloe Elementary School in 1962. The Goodloe Elementary School closed in 1981 and the property is currently owned by the Fourth Street Baptist Church. The area surrounding the Goodloe Elementary School Site is primarily residential and includes single family dwellings, the Fourth Street Baptist Church, vacant lots and playgrounds. The neighborhood may include sensitive populations such as children up to seven years old or pregnant women. The removal is needed to eliminate the threat of benzo(a)pyrene contamination equal to or exceeding 6,200 parts per billion (ppb) in surface soils that have been impacted by the former coal gasification plant. The scope of the removal is limited to the property is to be transferred to Atmos Energy in an agreement reached between Atmos Energy and the Fourth Street Baptist Church so that the removal action can proceed and proper deed restrictions can be put in place.

A. <u>Site Description</u>

1. Removal Site Evaluation

In December of 2006, the Kentucky Department for Environmental Protection (KDEP) referred the Goodloe Elementary School Site to the Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) Emergency Response and Removal Branch (ERRB). A Site Investigation was previously conducted by EPA and the Kentucky Division of Waste Management (KDWM) in 1984, followed by a Site Investigation Prioritization (SIP) in 1993. As early as 1984, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) contamination was found in the west lot at the Site. At the time, the Owensboro School Board installed a fence around the west lot to restrict access. The 1984 Site Investigation concluded that no environmental or health problems existed within the Goodloe School Building or Gymnasium, but that detectable levels of PAHs were found in the west lot. A health assessment was completed in May 1984 which concluded that although PAH contamination existed within the west lot, there was insufficient evidence of a health hazard to require restriction of the west lot. As of 1993, the Green River Comprehensive Care Goodloe Center was using the western lot for employee parking. The 1993 SIP report concluded that the Site did not warrant further action under CERCLA, but made the following recommendations:

(1) employees at the facility should avoid direct contact with the soil in the west lot;
(2) a no trespassing sign should be placed at the 3^{rd} Street entrance to the west lot; and

(3) all persons performing grounds keeping services at the west lot should use breathing filters if dirt and particulates are stirred into the air.

The main contaminant of concern at the Site is benzo(a)pyrene. Due to the lowering of PAH action levels by health professionals since the original site investigation, EPA and KDEP performed a limited site assessment in September 2006. The 2006 site assessment found benzo(a)pyrene to be a contaminant of concern at the Site. Nine surface soil samples covering approximately two acres were collected and analyzed during the 2006 site assessment. Of the nine soil samples, one soil sample contained benzo(a)pyrene at a concentration of 19,000 parts per billion (ppb), which is more than three times the recommended removal action level (RAL) of 6,200 ppb. The site assessment also found indications that the fence around the west lot was being breached by neighborhood children in order to access the area for use as a play area. Due to the limited nature of the site assessment and the property's historical use, it is suspected that there is more significant contamination that has not yet been identified. Additional sampling will be conducted by the potentially responsible party (PRP) during the removal action.

2. Physical Location

The Site is located at the corner of 3rd and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky. The geographic coordinates are latitude 37°46'24.54" North and longitude 87°07'09.83" West. It consists of a fenced 0.8 acre vacant lot and the adjacent property that was once the former Goodloe Elementary School. The facility is located in a mixed residential and commercial area.

3. Site Characteristics

Topographically, the Site is relatively flat, with elevations around 400 feet above mean sea level. There are residential properties bordering the site to the southwest, southeast and west (vacant lots zoned residential). A church borders the site to the south and the former Goodloe Elementary School and Gymnasium borders the site to the east. The site is a mixture of asphalt parking areas and grass covered fields. Atmos Energy Corporation has a pipeline that runs through (below ground) the Site and maintains a small fenced area next to the Fourth Street Baptist Church that has a regulator rising above ground.

The area surrounding the Site is primarily residential and includes single family dwellings, the Fourth Street Baptist Church, vacant lots and playgrounds. The neighborhood may include sensitive populations such as children up to seven years of age or pregnant women.

There has been no congressional or media interest regarding the Goodloe Elementary School Site; however, there is significant state and local government interest in this removal action. To address community concerns, EPA will setup a field office to facilitate any future public interests, disseminate project information, and coordinate with the state and local governments.

4. Release or threatened release into the environment of a hazardous substance, or pollutant or contaminant

The presence of benzo(a)pyrene at concentrations above the RAL (6,200 ppb) in surface soils on the Site constitutes a release of hazardous substances as defined by CERCLA 101(14). Along with the analytical results, there appeared to be some visual discoloration/contamination in geo-probe cores assumed to be from the former coal gasification plant operations. Although the Site is fenced, it is not secure. There is evidence of children accessing the vacant lot where the elevated levels of benzo(a)pyrene were documented and using the area as a playground.

5. NPL Status

The Site is not on the National Priority List (NPL), nor is it likely to be listed in the future.

6. Maps, pictures and other graphic representations

All removal file information, including maps and aerial photos of the Site, will be maintained by the OSC and released to the EPA record center for inclusion in the Site file.

B. <u>Other Actions to Date</u>

1. Previous Actions

A Site Investigation was conducted by U.S. EPA and KDWM in 1984, followed by a Site Investigation Prioritization (SIP) in 1993. The 1984 Site Investigation concluded that no environmental or health problems existed within the Goodloe School Building or Gymnasium, but that detectable levels of PAHs were found in the west lot. A health assessment was completed in May 1984 which concluded that although PAH contamination existed within the west lot, there was insufficient evidence of a health hazard to require restriction of the west lot. The 1993 SIP report concluded that the Site did not warrant further action under CERCLA, but made the following recommendations:

(1) employees at the facility should avoid direct contact with the soil in the west lot;

(2) a no trespassing sign should be placed at the 3rd Street entrance to the west lot; and

(3) all persons performing grounds keeping services at the west lot should use breathing filters if dirt and particulates are stirred into the air. The main contaminant of concern at the Site is benzo(a)pyrene.

Due to the lowering of PAH action levels by health professionals since the original site investigation, EPA and KDEP performed a limited site assessment in September 2006.

2. Current Actions

EPA and the Potentially Responsible Party (PRP) plan on negotiating an Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent for the removal action. The PRP has met with EPA, KDEP, and the Site owner to discuss federal and state expectations and access needs. The scope of the removal action will be limited to property currently owned by the Fourth Street Baptist Church. However, the ownership of this property is to be transferred to Atmos Energy in an agreement reached between Atmos Energy and the Fourth Street Baptist Church so that the removal action can proceed and proper deed restrictions can be put in place.

C. State and Local Authorities' Role

1. State and Local Actions to Date

The Kentucky Department for Environmental Protection referred the Site to EPA in December of 2006. The State has deferred the lead role to ERRB, but EPA anticipates that they will continue monitoring the Site's progress and remain actively involved with PRP oversight.

2. Potential for Continued State and Local Response

It is not anticipated that the KDEP will perform any response activities at the Site, although KDEP will take the lead on securing any future use restrictions deemed necessary at the Site. ERRB will continue to coordinate with the state and local agencies in order to keep the community informed of future removal Site activities.

III. THREATS TO PUBLIC HEALTH OR WELFARE OR THE ENVIRONMENT, AND STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITIES

The conditions remaining at the Goodloe Elementary School Site present a substantial threat to the public health or welfare, and the environment, and meet the criteria for a time-critical removal action as provided for in the National Contingency Plan (NCP), Section 300.415(b)(2). These criteria include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Section 300.415(b)(2)(i) Actual or potential exposure to nearby human populations, animals, or the food chain from hazardous substances or pollutants or contaminants:

The presence of benzo(a)pyrene, a probable human carcinogen, in surface soils in concentrations more than three times the recommended removal action level, and the neighborhood's current use of the property as a play area for children, indicates a potential for human exposure.

- Section 300.415(b)(2)(iv) High levels of hazardous substances in soils largely at or near the surface, that may migrate:

There are concentrations of benzo(a)pyrene in surface soils in a location that is surrounded by residential properties. Contaminants could migrate as a result of performing normal landscaping activities such as lawn mowing and/or leaf blowing.

- Section 300.415(b)(2)(v) Weather conditions that may cause hazardous substances or pollutants or contaminants to migrate or be released:

Weather conditions such as wind, rainfall runoff and erosion may contribute to the dispersion of benzo(a)pyrene contaminated materials across the surrounding neighborhood.

- Section 300.415(b)(2)(vii) The (lack of) availability of other appropriate federal or state mechanisms to respond to the release:

No other local, state, or federal agency is in the position or currently has the resources to independently oversee an effective response action to address the ongoing threats presented at the Site. EPA will conduct its actions in cooperation with state and local authorities to the extent practicable. The Commonwealth of Kentucky has referred the Site to the EPA.

IV. ENDANGERMENT DETERMINATION

Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are hydrocarbon compounds with multiple benzene rings. PAHs are typical components of asphalts, fuels, oils, and greases. They are also called Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. PAHs are group of chemicals formed during the incomplete combustion of coal, oil, gas or other organic substances. The specific PAH associated with this Site is benzo(a)pyrene, which is a "hazardous substance" as defined by Section 101(14) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14). Many of these organic compounds are probable human carcinogens.

Given the Site conditions, the nature of the known and suspected hazardous substances on Site, and the potential exposure pathways described in Sections II and III above, actual or threatened releases of hazardous substances from this Site, if not addressed by implementing the response actions selected in this Action Memorandum, may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to public health or welfare, or the environment.

V. PROPOSED ACTION

A. <u>Proposed Actions</u>

Proposed actions to complete the removal activities at the Site include sampling, capping, excavation, off-site transportation, and disposal of the hazardous substances or pollutants or contaminants located on-site.

1. Proposed Action Description

Proposed Actions required to implement this Action Memorandum include:

a) Develop and implement a Site Health and Safety Plan, including an air monitoring and Site Emergency Contingency Plan;

b) Develop and implement a Site Security Plan;

c) Conduct access agreement activities in order to obtain all necessary site access agreements;

d) Develop and implement an extent of contamination and post removal sampling plan to verify cleanup objectives have been achieved;

e) Collect and analyze additional surface soil samples for delineation and confirmation purposes;

f) If necessary record deed notices to prevent future exposures;

g) Cap the area containing concentrations of benzo(a)pyrene above the removal action level with paving material and properly dispose of any removed soils in accordance with U.S. EPA's Off-Site Rule (40 CFR § 300.440);

h) If isolated contamination is present at concentrations at or above the removal action level of 6,200 parts per billion (ppb) outside the planned "cap" area, then surface soils will be removed to a depth of 2 foot depth, if concentrations of benzo(a)pyrene are still at concentrations at or above the removal action level at the 2 foot depth, place warning marker material at the bottom of the excavation, backfill excavated areas with clean material and topsoil;

i) Restore areas to preexisting condition to the extent practicable; and

j) Perform public outreach if necessary.

B. <u>Other Actions to Date</u>

The removal action will be conducted in a manner not inconsistent with the NCP. The OSC has initiated planning for provision of post-removal Site control consistent with the provisions of Section 300.415(l) of the NCP. Elimination of surface threats is, however, expected to minimize the need for post-removal Site control in many areas.

All hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants removed off-site pursuant to this removal action for treatment, storage, and disposal shall be treated, stored, or disposed of at a facility in compliance, as determined by EPA, with the EPA Off-Site Rule, 40 C.F.R. § 300.440.

The response actions described in this memorandum directly address actual or threatened releases of hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants at the Goodloe Elementary School Site which may pose an immediate and substantial endangerment to public health welfare, or the environment. These response actions do not impose a burden on affected property disproportionate to the extent to which that property contributes to the conditions being addressed.

2. Contribution to Remedial Performance

The proposed removal action will address the threats discussed in Section III, which meet the NCP Section 300.415(b)(2) removal criteria. Although future action under the Remedial Program is unlikely, the removal action contemplated in this Action Memorandum would be consistent with any future remedial action.

3. Description of Alternative Technologies

At this time it is difficult to anticipate what disposal and/or treatment alternatives will be applicable to the waste. Contaminated soil from the Site will be capped or may be excavated and treated and/or disposed off-site. Alternatively, contaminated soils in some areas may be capped to eliminate the direct exposure pathway. There are no alternative technologies under consideration at this time.

4. Engineering Evaluation/Cost Analysis (EE/CA)

This proposed action is a time-critical removal and does not require an EE/CA.

5. Applicable or Relevant and Appropriate Requirements (ARARs)

On-site removal actions conducted under CERCLA are required to attain ARARs to the extent practicable, considering the exigencies of the situation. Off-site removal activities need only comply with all applicable Federal and State laws, unless there is an emergency. This cleanup is being conducted as a time-critical removal action. A letter was sent to Mr. Fazi Sherkat of the Kentucky Department for Environmental Protection on March 15, 2007, asking the State to identify ARARs. All wastes transferred off-site will comply with U.S. EPA's Off-Site Rule (40 CFR 300.440).

6. Project Schedule

The EPA is negotiating with the PRP to undertake the removal action outlined in this Memorandum. It is anticipated that the PRP will sign a Settlement Agreement by the end of October 2007. The project schedule will be incorporated into the work plan submitted to EPA for approval under the Settlement Agreement.

VI. EXPECTED CHANGE IN THE SITUATION SHOULD ACTION BE DELAYED OR NOT TAKEN

Increased risk to public health and the environment will result if action is delayed or does not occur. There would be a continued risk of potential exposure to probable human carcinogens to neighborhood children and sensitive populations such as children up to seven years old or pregnant women at the Goodloe Elementary School Site.

VII. OUTSTANDING POLICY ISSUES

There are no outstanding policy issues.

VIII. ENFORCEMENT

EPA issued a Notice Letter and Offer to Negotiate for Removal Action to Atmos Energy on June 7, 2007. EPA anticipates that Atmos will sign a Settlement Agreement to implement the removal action at the Site and will agree to pay EPA's oversight costs.

IX. RECOMMENDATION

This decision document represents the selected removal action for the Goodloe Elementary School Site located in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky. These response actions have been developed in accordance with CERCLA, as amended, and are not inconsistent with the NCP. This decision is based upon the Administrative Record for the Site. Conditions at the Site meet the NCP Section 300.415(b)(2) criteria for a removal action, and I recommend your approval of the proposed removal action. You may indicate your decision by signing below.

DATE: 1/9/08 hui q APPROVE: Franklin E. Hill, Director

Franklin E. Hill, Ditegtor Superfund Division

DISAPPROVE:

____ DATE: _____

Franklin E. Hill, Director Superfund Division

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGION 4

IN THE MATTER OF: Goodloe Elementary School Site Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky

Atmos Energy Corporation,

Respondent.

ADMINISTRATIVE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND ORDER ON CONSENT FOR REMOVAL ACTION

U.S. EPA Region 4 Docket No. CERCLA-04-2008-3757

Proceeding Under Sections 104, 106(a), 107 and 122 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604, 9606(a), 9607 and 9622

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	JURISDICTION AND GENERAL PROVISIONS
II.	Parties Bound
III.	DEFINITIONS
IV.	Findings of Fact
V.	CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DETERMINATIONS
VI.	SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND ORDER
VII.	DESIGNATION OF CONTRACTOR, PROJECT COORDINATOR, AND ON-SCENE
	COORDINATOR
VIII.	Work to be Performed9
IX.	SITE ACCESS
X.	ACCESS TO INFORMATION
XI.	RECORD RETENTION
XII.	COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER LAWS 14
XIII.	EMERGENCY RESPONSE AND NOTIFICATION OF RELEASES
XIV.	AUTHORITY OF ON-SCENE COORDINATOR
XV.	PAYMENT OF RESPONSE COSTS
XVI.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION
XVII.	Force Majeure
XVIII.	STIPULATED PENALTIES 19
XIX.	COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY EPA
XX.	RESERVATIONS OF RIGHTS BY EPA
XXI.	COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY RESPONDENT
XXII.	OTHER CLAIMS
XXIII.	CONTRIBUTION
XXIV.	INDEMNIFICATION
XXV.	INSURANCE
XXVI.	FINANCIAL ASSURANCE
XXVII.	MODIFICATIONS
XXVIII.	NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF WORK
XXIX.	INTEGRATION/APPENDICES
XXX.	EFFECTIVE DATE

APPENDIX A IS THE ACTION MEMORANDUM. APPENDIX B IS THE MAP OF THE SITE. APPENDIX C IS THE WORK PLAN.

2

I. JURISDICTION AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. This Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent ("Settlement Agreement") is entered into voluntarily by the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and Atmos Energy Corporation ("Respondent"). This Settlement Agreement provides for the performance of a removal action by Respondent and the reimbursement of certain response costs incurred by the United States at or in connection with the property located at 3rd and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky, the "Goodloe Elementary School Site" or the "Site."

2. This Settlement Agreement is issued under the authority vested in the President of the United States by Sections 104, 106(a), 107 and 122 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604, 9606(a), 9607 and 9622, as amended ("CERCLA").

3. EPA has notified the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the "Commonwealth") of this action pursuant to Section 106(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9606(a).

4. EPA and Respondent recognize that this Settlement Agreement has been negotiated in good faith and that the actions undertaken by Respondent in accordance with this Settlement Agreement do not constitute an admission of any liability. Respondent does not admit, and retains the right to controvert in any subsequent proceedings other than proceedings to implement or enforce this Settlement Agreement, the validity of the findings of facts, conclusions of law, and determinations in Sections IV and V of this Settlement Agreement. Respondent agrees to comply with and be bound by the terms of this Settlement Agreement and further agrees that it will not contest the basis or validity of this Settlement Agreement or its terms.

II. PARTIES BOUND

5. This Settlement Agreement applies to and is binding upon EPA and upon Respondent and its successors and assigns. Any change in ownership or corporate status of Respondent including, but not limited to, any transfer of assets or real or personal property shall not alter Respondent's responsibilities under this Settlement Agreement.

6. Respondent is jointly and severally liable for carrying out all activities required by this Settlement Agreement.

7. Respondent shall ensure that its contractors, subcontractors, and representatives receive a copy of this Settlement Agreement and comply with this Settlement Agreement. Respondent shall be responsible for any noncompliance with this Settlement Agreement.

3

III. DEFINITIONS

8. Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, terms used in this Settlement Agreement which are defined in CERCLA or in regulations promulgated under CERCLA shall have the meaning assigned to them in CERCLA or in such regulations. Whenever terms listed below are used in this Settlement Agreement or in the appendices attached hereto and incorporated hereunder, the following definitions shall apply:

a. "Action Memorandum" shall mean the EPA Enforcement Action Memorandum relating to the Site signed by the Regional Administrator, EPA Region 4, or his/her delegate, and all attachments thereto. The "Action Memorandum" is attached as Appendix A.

b. "CERCLA" shall mean the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601, *et seq.*

c. "Day" shall mean a calendar day. In computing any period of time under this Settlement Agreement, where the last day would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal holiday, the period shall run until the close of business of the next working day.

d. "Effective Date" shall be the effective date of this Settlement Agreement as provided in Section XXX.

e. "EPA" shall mean the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any successor departments or agencies of the United States.

f. "EPPC" shall mean the Kentucky Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet and any successor departments or agencies of the State.

g. "Future Response Costs" shall mean all costs, beginning on the Effective Date, including, but not limited to, direct and indirect costs, that the United States incurs in reviewing or developing plans, reports and other items pursuant to this Settlement Agreement, verifying the Work, or otherwise implementing, overseeing, or enforcing this Settlement Agreement, including but not limited to, payroll costs, contractor costs, travel costs, laboratory costs, the costs incurred pursuant to Paragraph 24 (costs and attorneys' fees and any monies paid to secure access, including the amount of just compensation), and Paragraph 34 (emergency response), and Paragraph 60 (work takeover). Future Response Costs shall also include all Interim Response Costs that have accrued pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a) during the period from December 6, 2007, to the Effective Date.

h. "Interest" shall mean interest at the rate specified for interest on investments of the EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund established by 26 U.S.C. § 9507, compounded annually on October 1 of each year, in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a). The applicable rate

4

of interest shall be the rate in effect at the time the interest accrues. The rate of interest is subject to change on October 1 of each year.

i. "Interim Response Costs" shall mean all costs, including direct and indirect costs, a) paid by the United States in connection with the Site between December 6, 2007, and the Effective Date, or b) incurred prior to the Effective Date, but paid after that date.

j. "National Contingency Plan" or "NCP" shall mean the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan promulgated pursuant to Section 105 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9605, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 300, and any amendments thereto.

k. "Paragraph" shall mean a portion of this Settlement Agreement identified by an Arabic numeral.

I. "Parties" shall mean EPA and Respondent.

m. "Past Response Costs" shall mean all costs, including, but not limited to, direct and indirect costs, that the United States paid at or in connection with the Site through December 6, 2007.

n. "RCRA" shall mean the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901, *et seq.* (also known as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act).

o. "Respondent" shall mean Atmos Energy Corporation.

p. "Section" shall mean a portion of this Settlement Agreement identified by a Roman numeral.

q. "Settlement Agreement" shall mean this Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent and all appendices attached hereto (listed in Section XXIX). In the event of a conflict between this Settlement Agreement and any appendix, this Settlement Agreement shall control.

r. "Site" shall mean the Goodloe Elementary School Superfund Site, encompassing approximately three (3) acres, located at 3rd and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky, and depicted generally on the map attached as Appendix B.

s. "Commonwealth" shall mean the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

t. "Waste Material" shall mean 1) any "hazardous substance" under Section 101(14) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14); 2) any pollutant or contaminant under Section 101(33) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(33); and 3) any "solid waste" under Section 1004(27) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6903(27).

u. "Work" shall mean all activities Respondent is required to perform under this Settlement Agreement.

v. "Work Plan" shall mean the Removal Action Work Plan and schedule for implementation of the removal action, as set forth in Appendix C to this Settlement Agreement, which has been reviewed and approved by EPA and the Commonwealth, and any modifications made thereto in accordance with this Settlement Agreement.

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT

9. For purposes of this Settlement Agreement, EPA finds that:

a. The Site is located at the corner of 3rd and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky, and currently consists of the former Goodloe Elementary School property, including a 0.8-acre vacant lot. The surrounding land use is mixed residential and commercial. A coal gasification plant operated at the Site from approximately 1889 until the mid-1930s. A school (known by various names, including the Negro School, Colored School Western Colored School, and Western School) was located adjacent to the former gas plant as early as 1882. The school and the former gas plant became the Goodloe Elementary School in 1962. The Site is now owned by Respondent.

b. Owensboro Gas Light Company (later Owensboro Gas Company) was the original owner and operator of the coal gasification plant at the Site. It merged with Western Kentucky Gas Company in 1945. Respondent is the successor to Western Kentucky Gas Company.

c. A Site Investigation was conducted jointly by EPA and the Commonwealth in 1984, followed by a Site Investigation Prioritization in October 1993. The 1984 Site Investigation concluded that detectable levels of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) were found in the west lot. However, a health assessment conducted in May 1984 concluded that although PAH contamination existed in the west lot, there was insufficient evidence of a health hazard such that no restrictions of the west lot were required.

d. The 1993 Site Investigation Prioritization concluded that the Site did not warrant further action under CERCLA, but made the following recommendations: (1) direct contact with the soil in the west lot should be avoided; (2) a no trespassing sign should be placed at the 3rd Street entrance to the lot; and (3) persons performing grounds keeping services on the west lot should be provided with breathing filters.

e. Additional sampling was conducted at the Site in September 2006 by the EPPC, Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Waste Management. Benzo(a)pyrene was detected at the Site at levels as high as 19,000 parts per billion (ppb). f. Benzo(a)pyrene is a probable human carcinogen. Exposed soil could become airborne, impacting nearby properties.

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DETERMINATIONS

10. Based on the Findings of Fact set forth above, and the Administrative Record supporting this removal action, EPA has determined that:

a. The Goodloe Elementary School Site is a "facility" as defined by Section 101(9) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(9).

b. The contamination found at the Site, as identified in the Findings of Fact above, includes "hazardous substances" as defined by Section 101(14) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14).

c. Respondent is a "person" as defined by Section 101(21) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(21).

d. Respondent is a responsible party under Section 107(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a), and is jointly and severally liable for performance of the response action and for response costs incurred and to be incurred at the Site. Respondent is the successor to the "owners" and/or "operators" of the facility at the time of disposal of hazardous substances at the facility, as defined by Section 101(20) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(20), and within the meaning of Section 107(a)(2) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(2).

e. The conditions described in Paragraph 9(c)-(e) of the Findings of Fact above constitute an actual or threatened "release" of a hazardous substance from the facility as defined by Section 101(22) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(22).

f. The removal action required by this Settlement Agreement is necessary to protect the public health, welfare, or the environment and, if carried out in compliance with the terms of this Settlement Agreement, will be considered consistent with the NCP, as provided in Section 300.700(c)(3)(ii) of the NCP.

VI. SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND ORDER

Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Determinations, and the Administrative Record for this Site, it is hereby Ordered and Agreed that Respondent shall comply with all provisions of this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, all attachments to this Settlement Agreement and all documents incorporated by reference into this Settlement Agreement.

VII. DESIGNATION OF CONTRACTOR, PROJECT COORDINATOR, AND ON-SCENE COORDINATOR

11. Respondent has notified EPA that Linebach Funkhouser, Inc. shall serve as Respondent's primary contractor at the Site, and EPA has approved the use of such contractor. Respondent shall notify EPA of the name(s) and qualification(s) of any other contractor(s) or subcontractor(s) retained to perform the Work at least 10 days prior to commencement of such Work. EPA retains the right to disapprove of any or all of the contractors and/or subcontractors retained by Respondent. If EPA disapproves of a selected contractor, Respondent shall retain a different contractor and shall notify EPA of that contractor's name and qualifications within 10 days of EPA's disapproval.

12. Within 30 days after the Effective Date, Respondent shall designate a Project Coordinator who shall be responsible for administration of all actions by Respondent required by this Settlement Agreement and shall submit to EPA the designated Project Coordinator's name, address, telephone number, and qualifications. To the greatest extent possible, the Project Coordinator shall be present on Site or readily available during Site work. EPA retains the right to disapprove of the designated Project Coordinator. If EPA disapproves of the designated Project Coordinator, Respondent shall retain a different Project Coordinator and shall notify EPA of that person's name, address, telephone number, and qualifications within 10 days following EPA's disapproval. Receipt by Respondent's Project Coordinator of any notice or communication from EPA relating to this Settlement Agreement shall constitute receipt by Respondent.

13. EPA has designated Art Smith of the Emergency Response and Removal Branch, Region 4, as its On-Scene Coordinator ("OSC"). Except as otherwise provided in this Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall direct all submissions required by this Settlement Agreement to the OSC via e-mail at the following address:

Art Smith U.S. EPA On-Scene Coordinator Romano L. Mazzoli Federal Building, Rm. 172A 600 Dr. MLK Jr. Place Louisville, KY 40202 Office: (502) 582-5161 Cell: (502) 905-7559 Fax: (502) 582-5268 smith.art@epa.gov

14. EPA and Respondent shall have the right, subject to Paragraph 12, to change their respective designated OSC or Project Coordinator. Respondent shall notify EPA 10 days before such a change is made. The initial notification may be made orally, but shall be promptly followed by a written notice.

VIII. WORK TO BE PERFORMED

15. Respondent shall perform, at a minimum, all actions necessary to implement the Action Memorandum (set forth in Appendix A) as set forth in the EPA- and EPPC-approved Work Plan (set forth in Appendix C). The actions to be implemented as set forth in the Work Plan include the following: (1) developing and implementing an air monitoring and emergency contingency plan; (2) developing and implementing a Site Security Plan; (3) developing and implementing an extent of contamination and post-excavation sampling plan; (4) collecting and analyzing surface and subsurface soil samples for delineation, disposal, and confirmation purposes; (5) capping the area containing benzo(a)pyrene above the 6,200 ppb removal action level with paving or other suitable materials and properly disposing of any removed soils; (6) excavating any isolated contamination at levels above 6,200 ppb outside the planned cap area to a depth of two feet and, if contamination remains at or above the removal action level of 6,200 ppb, placing warning marker material at the bottom of the excavated area and backfilling with clean fill; and (7) performing public outreach as necessary.

16. Work Plan and Implementation.

a. Respondent has prepared a Quality Assurance Project Plan ("QAPP") in accordance with "EPA Requirements for Quality Assurance Project Plans (QA/R-5)" (EPA/240/B-01/003, March 2001), and "EPA Guidance for Quality Assurance Project Plans (QA/G-5)" (EPA/600/R-98/018, February 1998), which has been reviewed and approved by EPA.

b. Respondent shall not commence any Work except in conformance with the terms of this Settlement Agreement and the EPA-approved Work Plan. The Work Plan, the schedule, and any subsequent modifications shall be incorporated into and become fully enforceable under this Settlement Agreement.

17. <u>Health and Safety Plan</u>. Respondent has submitted a Health and Safety Plan, which has been reviewed by EPA, that ensures the protection of the public health and safety during performance of on-site work under this Settlement Agreement. This plan was prepared in accordance with EPA's Standard Operating Safety Guide (PUB 9285.1-03, PB 92-963414, June 1992). In addition, the plan complies with all currently applicable Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA") regulations found at 29 C.F.R. Part 1910, and includes contingency planning. Respondent shall implement the plan during the pendency of the removal action.

18. Quality Assurance and Sampling.

a. All sampling and analyses performed pursuant to this Settlement Agreement shall conform to EPA direction, approval, and guidance regarding sampling, quality assurance/quality control ("QA/QC"), data validation, and chain of custody procedures as set forth in the Work Plan and QAPP. Respondent shall ensure that the laboratory used to perform the analyses participates in a QA/QC program that complies with the appropriate EPA guidance. Respondent shall follow, as appropriate, "Quality Assurance/Quality Control Guidance for Removal Activities: Sampling QA/QC Plan and Data Validation Procedures" (OSWER Directive No. 9360.4-01, April 1, 1990), as guidance for QA/QC and sampling. Respondent shall only use laboratories that have a documented Quality System that complies with ANSI/ASQC E-4 1994, "Specifications and Guidelines for Quality Systems for Environmental Data Collection and Environmental Technology Programs" (American National Standard, January 5, 1995), and "EPA Requirements for Quality Management Plans (QA/R-2) (EPA/240/B-01/002, March 2001)," or equivalent documentation as determined by EPA. EPA may consider laboratories accredited under the National Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program ("NELAP") as meeting the Quality System requirements.

b. Upon request by EPA, Respondent shall have such a laboratory analyze samples submitted by EPA for QA monitoring. Respondent shall provide to EPA the QA/QC procedures followed by all sampling teams and laboratories performing data collection and/or analysis.

c. Upon request by EPA, Respondent shall allow EPA or its authorized representatives to take split and/or duplicate samples. Respondent shall notify EPA not less than 10 days in advance of any sample collection activity, unless shorter notice is agreed to by EPA. EPA shall have the right to take any additional samples that EPA deems necessary. Upon request, EPA shall allow Respondent to take split or duplicate samples of any samples it takes as part of its oversight of Respondent's implementation of the Work.

19. <u>Post-Removal Site Control</u>. The Work Plan includes a proposal for post-removal site control consistent with Section 300.415(*l*) of the NCP and OSWER Directive No. 9360.2-02. Respondent shall implement such controls and shall provide EPA with documentation of all post-removal site control arrangements.

20. Reporting.

a. Respondent shall submit weekly activity summaries to EPA concerning actions undertaken pursuant to this Settlement Agreement from the Effective Date of this Settlement Agreement until termination of this Settlement Agreement, unless otherwise directed in writing by the OSC. These activity summaries shall describe all significant developments during the preceding period, including the actions performed and any problems encountered, analytical data received during the reporting period, and the developments anticipated during the next reporting period, including a schedule of actions to be performed, anticipated problems, and planned resolutions of past or anticipated problems.

b. Respondent shall submit three (3) copies of all plans, reports or other submissions required by this Settlement Agreement or the Work Plan. Respondent shall submit such documents in electronic form.

21. <u>Final Report</u>. Within 60 days after completion of all Work required by this Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall submit for EPA review and approval a final report summarizing the

actions taken to comply with this Settlement Agreement. The final report shall conform, at a minimum, with the requirements set forth in Section 300.165 of the NCP entitled "OSC Reports." The final report shall include a summary of the Work performed, including the ultimate size and specifications for the cap, a listing of quantities and types of materials removed off-site or handled on-site, a discussion of removal and disposal options considered for those materials, a listing of the ultimate destination(s) of those materials, a presentation of the analytical results of all sampling and analyses performed, and accompanying appendices containing all relevant documentation generated during the removal action (*e.g.*, manifests, invoices, bills, contracts, and permits). The final report shall also include the following certification signed by a person who supervised or directed the preparation of that report:

"Under penalty of law, I certify that to the best of my knowledge, after appropriate inquiries of all relevant persons involved in the preparation of the report, the information submitted is true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations."

22. Off-Site Shipments.

a. Respondent shall, prior to any off-site shipment of Waste Material from the Site to an out-of-state waste management facility, provide written notification of such shipment of Waste Material to the appropriate state environmental official in the receiving facility's state and to the On-Scene Coordinator. However, this notification requirement shall not apply to any off-site shipments when the total volume of all such shipments will not exceed 10 cubic yards.

i. Respondent shall include in the written notification the following information: 1) the name and location of the facility to which the Waste Material is to be shipped; 2) the type and quantity of the Waste Material to be shipped; 3) the expected schedule for the shipment of the Waste Material; and 4) the method of transportation. Respondent shall notify the state in which the planned receiving facility is located of major changes in the shipment plan, such as a decision to ship the Waste Material to another facility within the same state, or to a facility in another state.

ii. The identity of the receiving facility and state will be determined by Respondent following the award of the contract for the removal action. Respondent shall provide the information required by Paragraph 22(a) and 22(b) as soon as practicable after the award of the contract and before the Waste Material is actually shipped.

b. Before shipping any hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants from the Site to an off-site location, Respondent shall obtain EPA's certification that the proposed receiving facility is operating in compliance with the requirements of CERCLA Section 121(d)(3), 42 U.S.C. § 9621(d)(3), and 40 C.F.R. § 300.440. Respondent shall only send hazardous substances, pollutants, or contaminants from the Site to an off-site facility that complies with the requirements of the statutory provision and regulation cited in the preceding sentence.

IX. SITE ACCESS

23. If the Site, or any other property where access and/or land/water use restrictions are needed to implement this Settlement Agreement, is owned or controlled by Respondent, Respondent shall, commencing on the Effective Date:

a. Provide EPA and its representatives, including contractors, with access at all reasonable times to the Site, or such other property, for the purpose of conducting any activity related to this Settlement Agreement.

b. Refrain from using the Site, or such other property, in any manner that would interfere with or adversely affect the implementation, integrity, or protectiveness of the Work to be performed pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

c. If warranted by post-removal Site conditions, secure deed notices or other restrictions to prevent future exposures.

24. Where any action under this Settlement Agreement is to be performed in areas owned by or in possession of someone other than Respondent, Respondent shall use its best efforts to secure from such persons:

a. all necessary access agreements within seven (7) days after the Effective Date, or as otherwise specified in writing by the OSC. Respondent shall immediately notify EPA if after using its best efforts it is unable to obtain such agreements. For purposes of this Paragraph, "best efforts" includes the payment of reasonable sums of money in consideration of access. Respondent shall describe in writing its efforts to obtain access. EPA may then assist Respondent in gaining access, to the extent necessary to effectuate the response actions described herein, using such means as EPA deems appropriate. Respondent shall reimburse EPA for all costs and attorneys' fees incurred by the United States in obtaining such access, in accordance with the procedures in Section XV (Payment of Response Costs).

b. an agreement to refrain from using the Site, or such other property, in any manner that would interfere with or adversely affect the implementation, integrity, or protectiveness of the Work to be performed pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

c. if warranted by post-removal Site conditions, deed notices or other restrictions to prevent future exposures.

25. Notwithstanding any provision of this Settlement Agreement, EPA retains all of its access authorities and rights, as well as all of its rights to require land/water use restrictions, including enforcement authorities related thereto, under CERCLA, RCRA, and any other applicable statutes or regulations.

X. ACCESS TO INFORMATION

26. Respondent shall provide to EPA, upon request, copies of all documents and information within its possession or control or that of its contractors or agents relating to activities at the Site or to the implementation of this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, sampling, analysis, chain of custody records, manifests, trucking logs, receipts, reports, sample traffic routing, correspondence, or other documents or information related to the Work. Respondent shall also make available to EPA, for purposes of investigation, information gathering, or testimony, its employees, agents, or representatives with knowledge of relevant facts concerning the performance of the Work.

27. Respondent may assert business confidentiality claims covering part or all of the documents or information submitted to EPA under this Settlement Agreement to the extent permitted by and in accordance with Section 104(e)(7) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9604(e)(7), and 40 C.F.R. § 2.203(b). Documents or information determined to be confidential by EPA will be afforded the protection specified in 40 C.F.R. Part 2, Subpart B. If no claim of confidentiality accompanies documents or information when they are submitted to EPA, or if EPA has notified Respondent that the documents or information are not confidential under the standards of Section 104(e)(7) of CERCLA or 40 C.F.R. Part 2, Subpart B, the public may be given access to such documents or information without further notice to Respondent.

28. Respondent may assert that certain documents, records and other information are privileged under the attorney-client privilege or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Respondent asserts such a privilege in lieu of providing documents, it shall provide EPA with the following: 1) the title of the document, record, or information; 2) the date of the document, record, or information; 3) the name and title of the author of the document, record, or information; 4) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; 5) a description of the contents of the document, record, or information; and 6) the privilege asserted by Respondent. However, no documents, reports or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Settlement Agreement shall be withheld on the grounds that they are privileged.

29. No claim of confidentiality shall be made with respect to any data, including, but not limited to, all sampling, analytical, monitoring, hydrogeologic, scientific, chemical, or engineering data, or any other documents or information evidencing conditions at or around the Site.

XI. RECORD RETENTION

30. Until 10 years after Respondent's receipt of EPA's notification pursuant to Section XXVIII (Notice of Completion of Work), Respondent shall preserve and retain all non-identical copies of records and documents (including records or documents in electronic form) now in its possession or control or which come into its possession or control that relate in any manner to the performance of the Work or the liability of any person under CERCLA with respect to the Site, regardless of any corporate retention policy to the contrary. Until 10 years after Respondent's receipt of EPA's notification pursuant to Section XXVIII (Notice of Completion of Work),

Respondent shall also instruct their contractors and agents to preserve all documents, records, and information of whatever kind, nature or description relating to performance of the Work.

31. At the conclusion of this document retention period, Respondent shall notify EPA at least 90 days prior to the destruction of any such records or documents, and, upon request by EPA, Respondent shall deliver any such records or documents to EPA. Respondent may assert that certain documents, records and other information are privileged under the attorney-client privilege or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Respondent asserts such a privilege, it shall provide EPA with the following: 1) the title of the document, record, or information; 2) the date of the document, record, or information; 3) the name and title of the author of the document, record, or information; 4) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; 5) a description of the subject of the document, record, or information; and 6) the privilege asserted by Respondent. However, no documents, reports or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Settlement Agreement shall be withheld on the grounds that they are privileged.

32. Respondent hereby certifies individually that to the best of its knowledge and belief, after thorough inquiry, it has not altered, mutilated, discarded, destroyed or otherwise disposed of any records, documents or other information (other than identical copies) relating to its potential liability regarding the Site since notification of potential liability by EPA or the State or the filing of suit against it regarding the Site and that it has fully complied with any and all EPA requests for information pursuant to Sections 104(e) and 122(e) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604(e) and 9622(e), and Section 3007 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6927.

XII. COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER LAWS

33. Respondent shall perform all actions required pursuant to this Settlement Agreement in accordance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws and regulations except as provided in Section 121(e) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 6921(e), and 40 C.F.R. §§ 300.400(e) and 300.415(j). In accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 300.415(j), all on-site actions required pursuant to this Settlement Agreement shall, to the extent practicable, as determined by EPA, considering the exigencies of the situation, attain applicable or relevant and appropriate requirements ("ARARs") under federal environmental or state environmental or facility siting laws. Respondent shall identify ARARs in conjunction with the implementation of the Work.

XIII. EMERGENCY RESPONSE AND NOTIFICATION OF RELEASES

34. In the event of any action or occurrence during performance of the Work which causes or threatens a release of Waste Material from the Site that constitutes an emergency situation or may present an immediate threat to public health or welfare or the environment, Respondent shall immediately take all appropriate action. Respondent shall take these actions in accordance with all applicable provisions of this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, the Health and Safety Plan, in order to prevent, abate or minimize such release or endangerment caused or threatened by the release. Respondent shall also immediately notify the OSC or, in the event of his/her unavailability, the Regional Duty Officer at 404-562-8700, of the incident or Site conditions. In the event that Respondent fails to take appropriate response action as required by this Paragraph, and EPA takes such action instead, Respondent shall reimburse EPA all costs of the response action not inconsistent with the NCP pursuant to Section XV (Payment of Response Costs).

35. In addition, in the event of any release of a hazardous substance from the Site, Respondent shall immediately notify the Emergency Response and Removal Branch, Regional Duty Officer, at 404-562-8700, and the National Response Center at (800) 424-8802. Respondent shall submit a written report to EPA within seven (7) days after each release, setting forth the events that occurred and the measures taken or to be taken to mitigate any release or endangerment caused or threatened by the release and to prevent the reoccurrence of such a release. This reporting requirement is in addition to, and not in lieu of, reporting under Section 103(c) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9603(c), and Section 304 of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-To-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. § 11004, *et seq*.

XIV. AUTHORITY OF ON-SCENE COORDINATOR

36. The OSC shall be responsible for overseeing Respondent's implementation of this Settlement Agreement. The OSC shall have the authority vested in an OSC by the NCP, including the authority to halt, conduct, or direct any Work required by this Settlement Agreement, or to direct any other removal action undertaken at the Site. Absence of the OSC from the Site shall not be cause for stoppage of work unless specifically directed by the OSC.

XV. PAYMENT OF RESPONSE COSTS

37. Payment for Past Response Costs.

a. Within 30 days after the Effective Date, Respondent shall pay to EPA \$159,417.65 for Past Response Costs. Payment shall be made to EPA by Electronic Funds Transfer ("EFT") in accordance with current EFT procedures to be provided to Respondent by EPA Region 4, and shall be accompanied by a statement identifying the name and address of the party(ies) making payment, the Site name, the EPA Region and Site/Spill ID Number A4NF, and the EPA docket number for this action.

b. At the time of payment, Respondent shall send notice that such payment has been made to:

Art Smith U.S. EPA On-Scene Coordinator Romano L. Mazzoli Federal Building, Rm. 172A 600 Dr. MLK Jr. Place Louisville, KY 40202 smith.art@epa.gov with a copy to:

Paula V. Batchelor Environmental Protection Specialist U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4 61 Forsyth St., S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960

and

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 26 Martin Luther King Dr. Cincinnati, OH 45268

c. The total amount to be paid by Respondent pursuant to Paragraph 37(a) shall be deposited in the EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund.

38. Payments for Future Response Costs.

a. Respondent shall pay EPA all Future Response Costs not inconsistent with the NCP. On a periodic basis, EPA will send Respondent a bill requiring payment that includes a SCORPIOS Report, which includes direct and indirect costs incurred by EPA and its contractors. Upon request, EPA shall provide Respondent with EPA's cost documentation package and available work performed documentation. Such request must be made within 15 days of receipt of a bill. Respondent shall make all payments within 30 days of receipt of each bill requiring payment, except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 40 of this Settlement Agreement, or except where Respondent requests EPA's cost documentation package, in which case payment is due within 30 days of Respondent's receipt of EPA's cost documentation package.

b. Respondent shall make all payments required by this Paragraph by a certified or cashier's check or checks made payable to "EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund," referencing the name and address of the party(ies) making payment and EPA Site/Spill ID number A4NF. Respondent shall send the check(s) to:

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Superfund Payments Cincinnati Finance Center P.O. Box 979076 St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

c. At the time of payment, Respondent shall send notice that payment has been made to:

Art Smith U.S. EPA On-Scene Coordinator Romano L. Mazzoli Federal Building, Rm. 172A 600 Dr. MLK Jr. Place Louisville, KY 40202 smith.art@epa.gov

with a copy to:

Paula V. Batchelor Environmental Protection Specialist U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4 61 Forsyth St., S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960

and

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 26 Martin Luther King Dr. Cincinnati, OH 45268

d. The total amount to be paid by Respondent pursuant to Paragraph 38(a) shall be deposited in the EPA Hazardous Substance Superfund.

39. In the event that the payment for Past Response Costs is not made within 30 days of the Effective Date, or the payments for Future Response Costs are not made within the time specified in Paragraph 38, Respondent shall pay Interest on the unpaid balance. The Interest on Past Response Costs shall begin to accrue on the Effective Date and shall continue to accrue until the date of payment. The Interest on Future Response Costs shall begin to accrue on the date of the bill and shall continue to accrue until the date of payment. Payments of Interest made under this Paragraph shall be in addition to such other remedies or sanctions available to the United States by virtue of Respondent's failure to make timely payments under this Section, including but not limited to, payment of stipulated penalties pursuant to Section XVIII.

40. Respondent may dispute all or part of a bill for Future Response Costs submitted under this Settlement Agreement, if Respondent alleges that EPA has made an accounting error, or if Respondent alleges that a cost item is inconsistent with the NCP. If any dispute over costs is resolved before payment is due, the amount due will be adjusted as necessary. If the dispute is not resolved before payment is due, Respondent shall pay the full amount of the uncontested costs to EPA as specified in Paragraph 38 on or before the due date. Within the same time period, Respondent shall pay the full amount of the contested costs into an interest-bearing escrow account. Respondent shall simultaneously transmit a copy of both checks to the persons listed in Paragraph 38(c) above. Respondent shall ensure that the prevailing party or parties in the dispute shall receive the amount upon which they prevailed from the escrow funds plus interest within 20 days after the dispute is resolved.

XVI. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

41. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Settlement Agreement, the dispute resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism for resolving disputes arising under this Settlement Agreement. The Parties shall attempt to resolve any disagreements concerning this Settlement Agreement expeditiously and informally.

42. If Respondent objects to any EPA action taken pursuant to this Settlement Agreement, including billings for Future Response Costs, it shall notify EPA in writing of its objection(s) within 30 days of such action, unless the objection(s) has/have been resolved informally. EPA and Respondent shall have 30 days from EPA's receipt of Respondent's written objection(s) to resolve the dispute through formal negotiations (the "Negotiation Period"). The Negotiation Period may be extended at the sole discretion of EPA.

43. Any agreement reached by the parties pursuant to this Section shall be in writing and shall, upon signature by both parties, be incorporated into and become an enforceable part of this Settlement Agreement. If the Parties are unable to reach an agreement within the Negotiation Period, an EPA management official at the Superfund Division Director level or higher will issue a written decision on the dispute to Respondent. EPA's decision shall be incorporated into and become an enforceable part of this Settlement Agreement. Respondent's obligations under this Settlement Agreement shall not be tolled by submission of any objection for dispute resolution under this Section. Following resolution of the dispute, as provided by this Section, Respondent shall fulfill the requirement that was the subject of the dispute in accordance with the agreement reached or with EPA's decision, whichever occurs.

XVII. FORCE MAJEURE

44. Respondent agrees to perform all requirements of this Settlement Agreement within the time limits established under this Settlement Agreement, unless the performance is delayed by a *force majeure*. For purposes of this Settlement Agreement, a *force majeure* is defined as any event arising from causes beyond the control of Respondent, or of any entity controlled by Respondent, including but not limited to its contractors and subcontractors, which delays or prevents performance of any obligation under this Settlement Agreement despite Respondent's best efforts to fulfill the obligation. *Force majeure* does not include financial inability to complete the Work, increased cost of performance, or a failure to attain performance standards/action levels set forth in the Action Memorandum.

45. If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any obligation under this Settlement Agreement, whether or not caused by a *force majeure* event, Respondent shall notify EPA orally within 10 days of when Respondent first knew that the event might cause a delay. Within 20 days thereafter, Respondent shall provide to EPA in writing an explanation

and description of the reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay; all actions taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for implementation of any measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the delay; Respondent's rationale for attributing such delay to a *force majeure* event if they intend to assert such a claim; and a statement as to whether, in the opinion of Respondent, such event may cause or contribute to an endangerment to public health, welfare or the environment. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall preclude Respondent from asserting any claim of *force majeure* for that event for the period of time of such failure to comply and for any additional delay caused by such failure.

46. If EPA agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a *force majeure* event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Settlement Agreement that are affected by the *force majeure* event will be extended by EPA for such time as is necessary to complete those obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected by the *force majeure* event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligation. If EPA does not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a *force majeure* event, EPA will notify Respondent in writing of its decision. If EPA agrees that the delay is attributable to a *force majeure* event, EPA will notify Respondent in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for performance of the obligations affected by the *force majeure* event.

XVIII. STIPULATED PENALTIES

47. Respondent shall be liable to EPA for stipulated penalties in the amounts set forth in Paragraphs 48 and 49 for failure to comply with the requirements of this Settlement Agreement specified below, unless excused under Section XVII (*Force Majeure*). "Compliance" by Respondent shall include completion of the activities under this Settlement Agreement or any Work Plan or other plan approved under this Settlement Agreement identified below in accordance with all applicable requirements of law, this Settlement Agreement, and any plans or other documents approved by EPA pursuant to this Settlement Agreement and within the specified time schedules established by and approved under this Settlement Agreement.

48. Stipulated Penalty Amounts - Work.

a. The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per day for any noncompliance with any deadlines, schedules, or obligations contained in Respondent's Work Plan:

Penalty Per Violation Per Day	Period of Noncompliance
\$ <u>1,000</u>	1st through 14th day
\$ <u>5,000</u>	15th through 30th day
\$ <u>10,000</u>	31st day and beyond

49. <u>Stipulated Penalty Amounts - Reports</u>. The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per day for failure to submit timely or adequate reports or other written documents pursuant to Paragraphs 16, 17, 20, and 21:

Penalty Per Violation Per Day	Period of Noncompliance
\$ <u>1,000</u>	1st through 14th day
\$ <u>2,500</u>	15th through 30th day
\$ <u>5,000</u>	31st day and beyond

50. In the event that EPA assumes performance of a portion or all of the Work pursuant to Paragraph 60 of Section XX, Respondent shall be liable for a stipulated penalty in the amount of \$75,000.

51. All penalties shall begin to accrue on the day after the complete performance is due or the day a violation occurs, and shall continue to accrue through the final day of the correction of the noncompliance or completion of the activity. However, stipulated penalties shall not accrue: 1) with respect to a deficient submission under Section VIII (Work to be Performed), during the period, if any, beginning on the 31st day after EPA's receipt of such submission until the date that EPA notifies Respondent of any deficiency; and 2) with respect to a decision by the EPA management official at the Superfund Division Director level or higher, under Paragraph 43 of Section XVI (Dispute Resolution), during the period, if any, beginning on the 21st day after the Negotiation Period begins until the date that the EPA management official issues a final decision regarding such dispute. Nothing herein shall prevent the simultaneous accrual of separate penalties for separate violations of this Settlement Agreement.

52. Following EPA's determination that Respondent has failed to comply with a requirement of this Settlement Agreement, EPA may give Respondent written notification of the failure and describe the noncompliance. EPA may send Respondent a written demand for payment of the penalties. However, penalties shall accrue as provided in the preceding Paragraph regardless of whether EPA has notified Respondent of a violation.

53. All penalties accruing under this Section shall be due and payable to EPA within 30 days of Respondent's receipt from EPA of a demand for payment of the penalties, unless Respondent invokes the dispute resolution procedures under Section XVI (Dispute Resolution). All payments to EPA under this Section shall be paid by certified or cashier's check(s) made payable to "EPA Hazardous Substances Superfund," shall be mailed to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Superfund Payments, Cincinnati Finance Center, P.O. Box 979076, St. Louis, MO 63197-9000, shall indicate that the payment is for stipulated penalties, and shall reference the EPA Region and Site/Spill ID Number A4NF, the EPA docket number, and the name and address of the party(ies) making payment. Copies of check(s) paid pursuant to this Section, and any accompanying transmittal letter(s), shall be sent to EPA as provided in Paragraph 13, and to:

Paula V. Batchelor Environmental Protection Specialist U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4 61 Forsyth St., S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960

and

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 26 Martin Luther King Dr. Cincinnati, OH 45268

54. The payment of penalties shall not alter in any way Respondent's obligation to complete performance of the Work required under this Settlement Agreement.

55. Penalties shall continue to accrue during any dispute resolution period, but need not be paid until 15 days after the dispute is resolved by agreement or by receipt of EPA's decision.

56. If Respondent fails to pay stipulated penalties when due, EPA may institute proceedings to collect the penalties, as well as Interest. Respondent shall pay Interest on the unpaid balance, which shall begin to accrue on the date of demand made pursuant to Paragraph 52. Nothing in this Settlement Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting, altering, or in any way limiting the ability of EPA to seek any other remedies or sanctions available by virtue of Respondents' violation of this Settlement Agreement or of the statutes and regulations upon which it is based, including, but not limited to, penalties pursuant to Sections 106(b) and 122(l) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606(b) and 9622(l), and punitive damages pursuant to Section 107(c)(3) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(c)(3). Provided, however, that EPA shall not seek civil penalties pursuant to Section 106(b) or 122(l) of CERCLA or punitive damages pursuant to Section 107(c)(3) of CERCLA for any violation for which a stipulated penalty is provided herein, except in the case of a willful violation of this Settlement Agreement, or in the event that EPA assumes performance of a portion or all of the Work pursuant to Section XX, Paragraph 60. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, EPA may, in its unreviewable discretion, waive any portion of stipulated penalties that have accrued pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

XIX. COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY EPA

57. In consideration of the actions that will be performed and the payments that will be made by Respondent under the terms of this Settlement Agreement, and except as otherwise specifically provided in this Settlement Agreement, EPA covenants not to sue or to take administrative action against Respondent pursuant to Sections 106 and 107(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606 and 9607(a), for the Work, Past Response Costs, and Future Response Costs. This covenant not to sue shall take effect upon receipt by EPA of the Past Response Costs due under Section XV of this Settlement Agreement and any Interest or Stipulated Penalties due for failure to pay Past Response Costs as required by Sections XV and XVIII of this Settlement

Agreement. This covenant not to sue is conditioned upon the complete and satisfactory performance by Respondent of its obligations under this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to, payment of Future Response Costs pursuant to Section XV. This covenant not to sue extends only to Respondent and does not extend to any other person.

XX. RESERVATIONS OF RIGHTS BY EPA

58. Except as specifically provided in this Settlement Agreement, nothing herein shall limit the power and authority of EPA or the United States to take, direct, or order all actions necessary to protect public health, welfare, or the environment or to prevent, abate, or minimize an actual or threatened release of hazardous substances, pollutants or contaminants, or hazardous or solid waste on, at, or from the Site. Further, nothing herein shall prevent EPA from seeking legal or equitable relief to enforce the terms of this Settlement Agreement, from taking other legal or equitable action as it deems appropriate and necessary, or from requiring Respondent in the future to perform additional activities pursuant to CERCLA or any other applicable law.

59. The covenant not to sue set forth in Section XIX above does not pertain to any matters other than those expressly identified therein. EPA reserves, and this Settlement Agreement is without prejudice to, all rights against Respondent with respect to all other matters, including, but not limited to:

a. claims based on a failure by Respondent to meet a requirement of this Settlement Agreement;

b. liability for costs not included within the definitions of Past Response Costs or Future Response Costs;

c. liability for performance of response action other than the Work;

d. criminal liability;

e. liability for damages for injury to, destruction of, or loss of natural resources, and for the costs of any natural resource damage assessments;

f. liability arising from the past, present, or future disposal, release or threat of release of Waste Materials outside of the Site; and

g. liability for costs incurred or to be incurred by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry related to the Site.

60. <u>Work Takeover</u>. In the event EPA determines that Respondent has ceased implementation of any portion of the Work, is seriously or repeatedly deficient or late in its performance of the Work, or is implementing the Work in a manner which may cause an endangerment to human health or the environment, EPA may assume the performance of all or

any portion of the Work as EPA determines necessary after written notice and a 10-day opportunity to cure. Respondent may invoke the procedures set forth in Section XVI (Dispute Resolution) to dispute EPA's determination that takeover of the Work is warranted under this Paragraph. Costs incurred by the United States in performing the Work pursuant to this Paragraph shall be considered Future Response Costs that Respondents shall pay pursuant to Section XV (Payment of Response Costs). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Settlement Agreement, EPA retains all authority and reserves all rights to take any and all response actions authorized by law.

XXI. COVENANT NOT TO SUE BY RESPONDENT

61. Respondent covenants not to sue and agrees not to assert any claims or causes of action against the United States, or its contractors or employees, with respect to the Work, Past Response Costs, Future Response Costs, or this Settlement Agreement, including, but not limited to:

a. any direct or indirect claim for reimbursement from the Hazardous Substance Superfund established by 26 U.S.C. § 9507, based on Sections 106(b)(2), 107, 111, 112, or 113 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606(b)(2), 9607, 9611, 9612, or 9613, or any other provision of law;

b. any claim arising out of response actions at or in connection with the Site, including any claim under the United States Constitution, the Kentucky Constitution, the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1491, the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412, as amended, or at common law; or

c. any claim against the United States pursuant to Sections 107 and 113 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9607 and 9613, relating to the Site.

Except as expressly provided in Paragraph 63 (Non-Exempt De Micromis Waiver), these covenants not to sue shall not apply in the event the United States brings a cause of action or issues an order pursuant to the reservations set forth in Paragraphs 59(b), (c), and (e) - (g), but only to the extent that Respondent's claims arise from the same response action, response costs, or damages that the United States is seeking pursuant to the applicable reservation.

62. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute approval or preauthorization of a claim within the meaning of Section 111 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9611, or 40 C.F.R. § 300.700(d).

63. Respondent agrees not to assert any claims and to waive all claims or causes of action that it may have for all matters relating to the Site, including for contribution, against any person where the person's liability to Respondent with respect to the Site is based solely on having arranged for disposal or treatment, or for transport for disposal or treatment, of hazardous substances at the Site, or having accepted for transport for disposal or treatment of hazardous substances at the Site, if all or part of the disposal, treatment, or transport occurred before April 1,

2001, and the total amount of material containing hazardous substances contributed by such person to the Site was less than 110 gallons of liquid materials or 200 pounds of solid materials.

64. The waiver in Paragraph 63 shall not apply with respect to any defense, claim, or cause of action that Respondent may have against any person meeting the above criteria if such person asserts a claim or cause of action relating to the Site against Respondent. This waiver also shall not apply to any claim or cause of action against any person meeting the above criteria if EPA determines:

a. that such person has failed to comply with any EPA requests for information or administrative subpoenas issued pursuant to Section 104(e) or 122(e) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9604(e) or 9622(e), or Section 3007 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act (also known as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act or "RCRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 6972, or has impeded or is impeding, through action or inaction, the performance of a response action or natural resource restoration with respect to the Site, or has been convicted of a criminal violation for the conduct to which this waiver would apply and that conviction has not been vitiated on appeal or otherwise; or

b. that the materials containing hazardous substances contributed to the Site by such person have contributed significantly, or could contribute significantly, either individually or in the aggregate, to the cost of response action or natural resource restoration at the Site.

XXII. OTHER CLAIMS

65. By issuance of this Settlement Agreement, the United States and EPA assume no liability for injuries or damages to persons or property resulting from any acts or omissions of Respondent. The United States or EPA shall not be deemed a party to any contract entered into by Respondent or its directors, officers, employees, agents, successors, representatives, assigns, contractors, or consultants in carrying out actions pursuant to this Settlement Agreement.

66. Except as expressly provided in Section XXI, Paragraph 63 (Non-exempt De Micromis Waiver) and Section XIX (Covenant Not to Sue by EPA), nothing in this Settlement Agreement constitutes a satisfaction of or release from any claim or cause of action against Respondent or any person not a party to this Settlement Agreement, for any liability such person may have under CERCLA, other statutes, or common law, including but not limited to any claims of the United States for costs, damages and interest under Sections 106 and 107 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9606 and 9607.

67. No action or decision by EPA pursuant to this Settlement Agreement shall give rise to any right to judicial review, except as set forth in Section 113(h) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(h).

XXIII. CONTRIBUTION

68. a. The Parties agree that this Settlement Agreement constitutes an administrative settlement for purposes of Section 113(f)(2) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(2), and that Respondent is entitled, as of the Effective Date, to protection from contribution actions or claims as provided by Sections 113(f)(2) and 122(h)(4) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9613(f)(2) and 9622(h)(4), for "matters addressed" in this Settlement Agreement. The "matters addressed" in this Settlement Agreement are the Work, Past Response Costs, and Future Response Costs.

b. The Parties agree that this Settlement Agreement constitutes an administrative settlement for purposes of Section 113(f)(3)(B) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(3)(B), pursuant to which Respondent has, as of the Effective Date, resolved its liability to the United States for the Work, Past Response Costs, and Future Response Costs.

c. Except as provided in Section XXI, Paragraph 63 of this Settlement Agreement (Non-exempt De Micromis Waiver), nothing in this Settlement Agreement precludes the United States or Respondent from asserting any claims, causes of action, or demands for indemnification, contribution, or cost recovery against any persons not parties to this Settlement Agreement. Nothing herein diminishes the right of the United States, pursuant to Sections 113(f)(2) and (3) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(2)-(3), to pursue any such persons to obtain additional response costs or response action and to enter into settlements that give rise to contribution protection pursuant to Section 113(f)(2).

XXIV. INDEMNIFICATION

69. Respondent shall indemnify, save and hold harmless the United States, its officials, agents, contractors, subcontractors, employees and representatives from any and all claims or causes of action arising from, or on account of, negligent or other wrongful acts or omissions of Respondent, its officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors, or subcontractors, in carrying out actions pursuant to this Settlement Agreement. In addition, Respondent agrees to pay the United States all costs incurred by the United States, including but not limited to attorneys' fees and other expenses of litigation and settlement, arising from or on account of claims made against the United States based on negligent or other wrongful acts or omissions of Respondent, its officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors and any persons acting on its behalf or under its control, in carrying out activities pursuant to this Settlement. The United States shall not be held out as a party to any contract entered into by or on behalf of Respondent in carrying out activities pursuant to this Settlement. Neither Respondent nor any such contractor shall be considered an agent of the United States.

70. The United States shall give Respondent notice of any claim for which the United States plans to seek indemnification pursuant to this Section and shall consult with Respondent prior to settling such claim.

71. Respondent waives all claims against the United States for damages or reimbursement or for set-off of any payments made or to be made to the United States, arising from or on account of any contract, agreement, or arrangement between any one or more of Respondent and any person for performance of Work on or relating to the Site, including, but not limited to, claims on account of construction delays. In addition, Respondent shall indemnify and hold harmless the United States with respect to any and all claims for damages or reimbursement arising from or on account of any contract, agreement, or arrangement between any one or more of Respondent and any person for performance of Work on or relating to the Site, including, but not limited to, claims on account of construction delays.

XXV. INSURANCE

72. At least seven (7) days prior to commencing any on-site work under this Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall secure, and shall maintain for the duration of this Settlement Agreement, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile insurance with limits of one (1) million dollars, combined single limit, naming EPA as an additional insured. Within the same time period, Respondent shall provide EPA with certificates of such insurance and a copy of each insurance policy. In addition, for the duration of the Settlement Agreement, Respondent shall satisfy, or shall ensure that its contractors or subcontractors satisfy, all applicable laws and regulations regarding the provision of worker's compensation insurance for all persons performing the Work on behalf of Respondent in furtherance of this Settlement Agreement. If Respondent demonstrates by evidence satisfactory to EPA that any contractor or subcontractor maintains insurance equivalent to that described above, or insurance covering some or all of the same risks but in an equal or lesser amount, then Respondent need provide only that portion of the insurance described above which is not maintained by such contractor or subcontractor.

XXVI. FINANCIAL ASSURANCE

73. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Respondent shall establish and maintain financial security in the amount of \$200,000 in one or more of the following forms:

a. A surety bond guaranteeing performance of the Work;

b. One or more irrevocable letters of credit equaling the total estimated cost of the

Work;

c. A trust fund;

d. A policy of insurance which ensures the payment and/or performance of the

Work;

e. A guarantee to perform the Work by one or more parent corporations or subsidiaries, or by one or more unrelated corporations that have a substantial business relationship with at least one of Respondent; or f. A demonstration that Respondent satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 264.143(f).

74. If Respondent seeks to demonstrate the ability to complete the Work through a guarantee by a third party pursuant to Paragraph 73(a) of this Section, Respondent shall demonstrate that the guarantor satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 264.143(f). If Respondent seeks to demonstrate its ability to complete the Work by means of the financial test or the corporate guarantee pursuant to Paragraph 73(e) or (f) of this Section, it shall resubmit sworn statements conveying the information required by 40 C.F.R. Part 264.143(f) annually, on the anniversary of the Effective Date. In the event that EPA determines at any time that the financial assurances provided pursuant to this Section are inadequate, Respondent shall, within 30 days of receipt of notice of EPA's determination, obtain and present to EPA for approval one of the other forms of financial assurance listed in Paragraph 73 of this Section. Respondent's inability to demonstrate financial ability to complete the Work shall not excuse performance of any activities required under this Settlement Agreement.

75. If, after the Effective Date, Respondent can show that the estimated cost to complete the remaining Work has diminished below the amount set forth in Paragraph 73 of this Section, Respondent may, on any anniversary date of the Effective Date, or at any other time agreed to by the Parties, reduce the amount of the financial security provided under this Section to the estimated cost of the remaining Work to be performed. Respondent shall submit a proposal for such reduction to EPA, in accordance with the requirements of this Section, and may reduce the amount of the security upon approval by EPA. In the event of a dispute, Respondent may reduce the amount of the security in accordance with the written decision resolving the dispute.

76. Respondent may change the form of financial assurance provided under this Section at any time, upon notice to and approval by EPA, provided that the new form of assurance meets the requirements of this Section. In the event of a dispute, Respondent may change the form of the financial assurance only in accordance with the written decision resolving the dispute.

XXVII. MODIFICATIONS

77. The OSC may make modifications to any plan or schedule or the Work Plan in writing or by oral direction. Any oral modification will be memorialized in writing by EPA promptly, but shall have as its effective date the date of the OSC's oral direction. Any other requirements of this Settlement Agreement may be modified in writing by mutual agreement of the Parties.

78. If Respondent seeks permission to deviate from any approved Work Plan or schedule, Respondent's Project Coordinator shall submit a written request to EPA for approval outlining the proposed modification and its basis. Respondent may not proceed with the requested deviation until receiving oral or written approval from the OSC pursuant to Paragraph 77.

79. No informal advice, guidance, suggestion, or comment by the OSC or other EPA representatives regarding reports, plans, specifications, schedules, or any other writing submitted

by Respondent shall relieve Respondent of its obligation to obtain any formal approval required by this Settlement Agreement, or to comply with all requirements of this Settlement Agreement, unless it is formally modified.

XXVIII. NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF WORK

80. When EPA determines, after EPA's review of the Final Report, that all Work has been fully performed in accordance with this Settlement Agreement, with the exception of any continuing obligations required by this Settlement Agreement, including post-removal site controls, payment of Future Response Costs, or record retention, EPA will provide written notice to Respondent. If EPA determines that any such Work has not been completed in accordance with this Settlement Agreement, EPA will notify Respondent, provide a list of the deficiencies, and require that Respondent modify the Work Plan if appropriate in order to correct such deficiencies. Respondent shall implement the modified and approved Work Plan and shall submit a modified Final Report in accordance with the EPA notice. Failure by Respondent to implement the approved modified Work Plan shall be a violation of this Settlement Agreement.

XXIX. INTEGRATION/APPENDICES

81. This Settlement Agreement and its appendices constitute the final, complete and exclusive agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied in this Settlement Agreement. The Parties acknowledge that there are no representations, agreements or understandings relating to the settlement other than those expressly contained in this Settlement Agreement. The following appendices are attached to and incorporated into this Settlement Agreement:

Appendix A is the Action Memorandum. Appendix B is the Map of the Site. Appendix C is the Work Plan.

XXX. <u>EFFECTIVE DATE</u>

82. This Settlement Agreement shall be effective on the date it is signed by the Regional Administrator or his delegatee.


January 28, 2008

VIA E-MAIL & U.S. MAIL

John W. Watson Baker & McKenzie LLP One Prudential Plaza, Ste. 3500 130 East Randolph Drive Chicago, Illinois 60601

> Re: In the Matter of Goodloe Elementary School Site Docket No. CERCLA-04-2008-3757 Final Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent for Removal Action

Dear John:

Enclosed please find a fully executed copy of the final Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent for Removal Action (Agreement) at the Goodloe Elementary School Site in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky. The Effective Date of the Agreement is January 28, 2008. Thank you for your cooperation in this matter.

Please call me at 404-562-9685 if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

10 be and Machada

Colleen E. Michuda Associate Regional Counsel

Enclosure



APPENDIX B

APPENDIX C



Linebach • Funkhouser, Inc. environmental compliance & consulting

November 20, 2007

Mr. Kenneth Rhame USEPA Region 4 61 Forsyth Street, S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960

> RE: Revised Removal Action Work Plan Former Manufactured Gas Plant Third and Elm Streets Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky EPA ID #KYD980838395 / AI #51994 LFI Project #163-07

Dear Mr. Rhame:

Linebach Funkhouser, Inc. (LFI), consultant for Atmos Energy Corporation (Atmos Energy), has prepared the following revised Removal Action Work Plan ("RAWP") for the construction of a site cover (i.e. asphalt cap) over benzo(a)pyrene (BaP) impacted soils at the former manufactured gas plant (MGP) at Third and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Kentucky (the "Site"). The revised RAWP has been prepared in response to:

- The United States Environmental Protection Agency's (USEPA's) October 2, 2007 comments on the RAWP originally submitted to USEPA on September 10, 2007.
- USEPA's comments on a revised version of the RAWP dated October 23, 2007.
- Atmos Energy's follow-up communication with Kentucky Department for Environmental Protection (KDEP) personnel. The revised RAWP is being submitted to meet the requirements of KDEP as well as USEPA.

The construction of a site cover, along with corresponding institutional controls, will provide an overall risk-based site management approach for the property sufficient to satisfy Atmos Energy's Removal Action obligations as provided in the Administrative Settlement Agreement and Order on Consent for Removal Action (CERCLA Docket No. _____) between Atmos Energy and USEPA. The location of the Site is indicated on the topographic map in Figure 1. A Site Plan, indicating previous soil sample locations, is included as Figure 2.

1.0 REMOVAL ACTION WORK PLAN

Previous environmental assessment reports indicate that polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) constituents are present in soil at the Site. The envisioned plan for the Site, as agreed to between Atmos Energy and USEPA, is to construct an engineered control (site cover of asphalt pavement) over the affected areas of the former MGP, which is currently vacant and grass-covered. Atmos Energy intends to purchase the portion of the property the company (Atmos Energy) does not currently own, and implement a remedial action (site cover with Restrictive Environmental Covenant) that will satisfy USEPA's removal action level (RAL) of 6.2 milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg) for BaP as well as KDEP's BaP standard of 0.062 mg/kg. The site cover will also be designed to address City of Owensboro requirements.

Second Revision November 20, 2007 September 10, 2007 Page 2 of 9

1.1 Pre-Construction Sampling and Analysis

Following the receipt of USEPA approval of this Work Plan, Atmos Energy will conduct limited sampling at the Site to further delineate the extent of BaP in surficial soils consistent with discussions with USEPA and KDEP. The sampling is also being conducted to confirm concentrations of BaP in soil along the northern corridor of the site, outside the footprint of the planned cap, where a storm water basin may need to be constructed to comply with City of Owensboro (City) requirements.

Based on Atmos' preliminary discussions with an Owensboro-based registered engineer experienced with the City's local storm water / sewer regulations, the City will require the construction of a retention basin to offset the increase in storm water runoff produced by the asphalt cap. Based on the existing projected area of the cap, initial design estimates indicate a basin size of approximately 2,000 to 3,000 cubic feet will be necessary. Basin construction can be completed without excavation by constructing bermed areas along the site perimeter. Any drainage swales constructed at the site for storm water runoff will be engineered to prevent exposure, erosion and contaminant transport.

The extent of the Removal Action area to be covered by the planned engineered control and the sampling locations are proposed on Figure 3. As requested by USEPA, with the exception of the two sampling locations on the east side of the former elementary school gymnasium, sampling will include the collection of shallow surface soils (0 to 0.5 feet, 0.5 to 1.5 feet and 1.5 to 2.0 feet below land surface) for BaP analysis by USEPA SW-846 Method 8270. The two borings on the east side of the former gymnasium will only by sampled at the 0 to 0.5 foot interval. Sampling will also be conducted on the walls and floors of any areas that are excavated for incorporation into the cap. If contamination is still present at depth in soil, at concentrations at or above the removal action level, based on sampling results, a warning marker (such as colored plastic netting) will be placed across the bottom of the excavation. The excavation will then be backfilled with clean material and topsoil. The analytical results will be compared with those of previous sampling events conducted in 1984 and 2006.

Soil sampling procedures will be in general accordance with USEPA Region IV Standard Operating Procedures. A streamlined Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) is attached. Site activities will include the decontamination of sampling equipment with phosphate-free soap and water and rinsing with de-ionized water prior to initiating field activities and between boring locations, storing samples on ice in reinforced coolers for shipment to the laboratory, maintaining chain-of-custody protocol for laboratory analysis to ensure sample integrity; and the proper daily calibration of field equipment. Soils collected for analysis will be placed in jars, filled to the top, tightly sealed, labeled and placed on ice for shipment for laboratory analysis.

Information from the confirmation sampling will be utilized to confirm the final boundaries of the planned engineered control (site cap) and a cap construction/redevelopment plan will be submitted to USEPA based on those results. The plan will include input from the Church on the post-cap end use of the property. The site cap will be sufficient to encapsulate concentrations exceeding the 6.2 mg/kg USEPA RAL for BaP, as well as KDEP's BaP standard of 0.062 mg/kg. Sampling results will be summarized and the engineered control extent map will be provided in a letter report to USEPA. The cap will cover the entire footprint of the former plant, as indicated in Figure 3.

1.2 Implementation of Removal Action

Following submittal of the letter report confirming the engineered control coverage area, and receipt of USEPA, KDEP and City of Owensboro approval of the planned site cover, construction of the engineered control will begin.

As a first step, grass currently covering the Site will be eliminated through use of an herbicide and will be incorporated as backfill through tilling. Standard herbicide-use public notice signage, such as that routinely emplaced by lawn maintenance companies (e.g. ChemLawn, Inc.), will be added to the treated areas. Site security fencing will also be in place during the course of the grass treatment. A fallen tree now lying on the Site will be properly removed and disposed of. No trees are currently planned for removal; however, should the need arise for tree removal, trees will be cut at surface grade and a grinder will be used to eliminate the stump. No soil-encrusted root balls will be removed.

Soils will then be graded to achieve the sub-grade topographic conditions required for the planned resurfacing, in compliance with design specifications required by the City of Owensboro. A waiting period of 30 days between vegetation removal and the construction of the asphalt cap may be required to allow organic materials to decompose. In this instance, the Site will be covered with landscaping material and other control measures, as needed, to prevent the erosion of surficial soils by wind or water. Site security will be maintained to prevent access to the construction area during the 30 day waiting period. Site security controls will be maintained to limit access to the construction area.

1.2.1 Site Security

No soil or affected waste removal from the Site is planned, as affected soils or vegetative matter will be re-used as fill and will underlie the site cover, including historic areas of contamination outside the proposed cap area (i.e. near GS-002 and GS-005). In the case that affected soil is disposed of off-site, the material will be properly characterized to meet landfill disposal requirements, and documentation will be provided regarding the identification of the appropriate receiving landfill, in accordance with applicable legal requirements and USEPA off-site rule (40 CFR § 300.440).

Following the completion of grading activities, the Site will be capped with asphalt. A subgrade layer of dense-grade aggregate (No. 57 lime material meeting the ASTM C33 standard), up to six-inches (6") in thickness, will be placed, followed by an approximately two-inch (2") thick layer of asphalt base and one-inch (1") layer of asphalt finish. The final construction thickness may vary, particularly with regard to the subgrade material, based on the final intended use as either a parking lot or playground area. The final use of the capped area will be included in the redevelopment plan, and specific uses will be negotiated to meet the end-use needs of the Church.

Temporary free-standing chain-link fencing will be installed around affected areas of the Site during construction where no fencing is currently present. The chain-link fencing will be equipped with a lockable gate in areas where ingress/egress access is required. In the event that unauthorized personnel enter the site controlled work area, work in that area will be stopped. Work will not resume until the unauthorized personnel have been removed from the work area. A log of visitors to the site will be maintained.

Second Revision November 20, 2007 September 10, 2007 Page 4 of 9

1.2.2 Air Monitoring

Air monitoring will be conducted during construction activities. A fugitive dust suppression and particulate monitoring program will be established to limit exposure of on-site personnel and the public around the site to affected dust during implementation of the proposed site capping activities. The potential exposure period to affected dust will be limited to the timeframe between when the existing vegetative cover is tilled into the underlying soil, and the asphalt subgrade layer across the soil is complete. During the limited interval when affected soil may be exposed and susceptible to wind transport, the following fugitive dust suppression and particulate monitoring program will be used at the site:

- Reasonable fugitive dust suppression techniques will be employed during site activities that may generate fugitive affected dust.
- Particulate monitoring will be employed during the handling of contaminated soil or when activities on site may generate fugitive dust from exposed contaminated soil. Such activities may include tilling, grading, or placement of the asphalt cap subgrade.
- Particulate monitoring will be conducted using real-time particulate monitors and will monitor particulate matter less than ten microns (PM₁₀) with the following minimum performance standards:

Object to be monitored: Dust
Size range: <0.1 to 10 microns
Sensitivity: 0.001 mg/m³
Range: 0.001 to 10 mg/m³
Overall Accuracy: <u>+</u> 10% as compared to gravimetric analysis of stearic acid or reference dust
Operating Conditions:
Temperature: 0 to 40°C
Humidity: 10 to 99% Relative Humidity
Power: Battery operated with a maximum capacity of eight hours continuous operation

- Particulate levels will be monitored immediately downwind at the work site and integrated over a period not to exceed 15 minutes. Consequently, instrumentation shall require necessary averaging hardware to accomplish this task; the MIE DataRam DR-4000 or similar is appropriate.
- In order to ensure the validity of the fugitive dust measurements performed, Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) measures will be implemented including periodic instrument calibration, operator training, daily instrument performance (span) checks and a record-keeping system.
- The action level will be 1 mg/m³ over the integrated period not to exceed 15 minutes. The action level is based on the *Health-Based Guidelines for Air Management, Public Participation, and Risk Communication During the Excavation of Former Manufactured Gas Plants*, developed by the Wisconsin Bureau of Environmental and Occupational Health, Department of Health and Family Services (August 24, 2004). While conservative, this short-term interval will provide a real-time assessment of on-site air quality to assure both

Second Revision November 20, 2007 September 10, 2007 Page 5 of 9

health and safety. Two particulate monitors will be employed; one at an upwind location and one downwind. If particulate levels are detected in excess of 1 mg/m³ at the downwind location, the upwind background level will be measured immediately. If during the timeframe that potentially affected soil is exposed, the working site particulate measurement is greater than 1 mg/m³ above the background level, dust suppression techniques will be implemented to reduce the generation of fugitive dust and corrective action taken to protect site workers and reduce the potential for contaminant migration. Corrective measures may include increasing the level of personal protection for on-site personnel and implementing additional dust suppression.

- The following techniques have been shown to be effective for the controlling the generation and migration of dust during construction activities, and will be incorporated for site work:
 - > Wetting equipment and exposed soil.
 - > Spraying water on blades during scraping and grading.
 - > Hauling materials in properly tarped containers.
 - \blacktriangleright Restricting vehicle speed to 10 mph across exposed areas.
 - > Covering exposed soil areas after construction activity ceases.
 - \triangleright Reducing the exposed area size.

Experience has shown that in utilizing the above-mentioned dust suppression techniques, within reason as not to create excess water which would result in unacceptable wet conditions, the chance of exceeding the 1 mg/m³ action level is remote. Using atomizing sprays will prevent overly wet conditions, conserve water and provide an effective means of suppressing the fugitive dust.

If the dust suppression techniques being utilized at the site do not lower particulates to an acceptable level (that is, below 1 mg/m³ and no visible dust off-site), work will be suspended until appropriate corrective measures are approved to remedy the situation. Also, the evaluation of weather conditions will be necessary for proper fugitive dust control, when extreme wind conditions make dust control ineffective. As a last resort, removal actions may need to be suspended.

2.0 SITE HEALTH AND SAFETY PLAN

Workers involved in grading the Site or other activities that will involve direct contact with the ground may have limited short-term exposure to impacted soil and will be required to conduct work activities in accordance with the procedures outlined in a Site Health and Safety Plan (HSP). The HSP will follow USEPA guidance and U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) requirements, as required in Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) in 29 CFR 1910 and 1926. The air monitoring portion of the HSP will describe the methods and approach to dust monitoring during construction activities to ensure that site workers and the surrounding community are not exposed to unacceptable levels of airborne particulates from the Site. A copy of the HSP, including air monitoring procedures, is attached.

3.0 REMOVAL ACTION COMPLETION REPORT

Within sixty (60) days after following completion of the site cover construction, Atmos Energy will submit a Removal Action Completion Report to USEPA and KDEP for review and approval. The report will document the work conducted, include results of sampling, and provide as-built drawings showing the extent and construction details of the asphalt cap and stormwater retention

basin. Appendices containing all relevant documentation generated during the Removal Action (e.g. daily field logs, permits, analytical data, etc.) will also be included.

4.0 POST-REMOVAL SITE CONTROL

The purpose of site cover monitoring and maintenance will be to verify the integrity of site cover materials (asphalt pavement and stormwater retention basin material) and to properly manage potentially impacted materials encountered during future maintenance or construction activities (if any). Ongoing monitoring and maintenance will provide continued protection of human health and the environment by minimizing the potential for the creation of complete exposure pathways. A restrictive environmental covenant (REC) will be completed as an institutional control over the property in compliance with KDEP requirements. Atmos Energy is aware that KDEP will be the lead agency on the implementation and enforcement of the restrictive covenant.

Annual site inspections will be made to verify the integrity of all site cover materials. Site inspections will be documented on an inspection checklist. The checklist form will document general site conditions as well as observed deficiencies and will be submitted to KDEP. In the event that deficiencies are identified, corrective measures will be implemented. These measures will include, among others, the regular sealing of any cracks in the asphalt pavement and maintenance of the surface of the asphalt. A sample checklist is attached. In the event that future utility line repairs or installation work is needed that would extend through site cover materials into affected soil in any of the restricted-use areas of the Site, the work shall be conducted in conformance with the standards set forth below:

- The contractor performing the work shall be informed of the content of the Health and Safety Plan by Atmos Energy;
- Contractors must comply with applicable OSHA regulations;
- Any affected soil that is excavated shall be separated and segregated from non-affected soil to the extent practicable. To the extent practicable, excavated affected soil shall be placed into plastic sheeting on an impervious surface and covered, or placed into a covered roll-off box; and,
- Upon completion of work, excavated affected soil from beneath the covered areas may be placed back into the original excavation from which the soil came, and the excavation restored as long as the restoration is in a manner consistent with the original site cover condition. If off-site disposal of excess affected soils is necessary, the soils shall be characterized for proper disposal at an accredited facility in accordance with the applicable regulations and the requirements of the receiving facility.

5.0 COMMUNITY RELATIONS

The former MGP is no longer in operation and is currently a vacant field. The adjacent school is also no longer in operation. Based on the anticipated improvement of the Site as a parking lot/recreation area for the adjacent church, no adverse community relations issues are anticipated. Community outreach efforts will include the designation of a community relations contact to be assigned to work with EPA's community relations person. Atmos Energy's community relations contact for this project will be:

Second Revision November 20, 2007 September 10, 2007 Page 7 of 9

Mr. Kevin Dobbs Atmos Energy Corporation Vice-President of Operations, North Region Kentucky/Mid-States Division 2401 New Hartford Road Owensboro, KY 42303 270-685-8075 Office 270-929-4791 Cell Kevin.dobbs@atmosenergy.com

The primary contact for all general questions and concerns regarding the Work Plan is:

Mr. Douglas C. Walther Associate General Counsel Atmos Energy Corporation 5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1800 Dallas, TX 75240-2601 (972) 855-3102 Douglas.walther@atmosenergy.com

Atmos Energy's contact for specific technical questions pertaining to the Work Plan is:

Mr. Emie Napier Vice-President of Technical Services Kentucky/Mid-States Division Atmos Energy Corporation 810 Crescent Center Drive, Suite 600 Franklin, TN 37067-6226 615-771-8401 Ernie.napier@atmosenergy.com

Atmos Energy has had discussions regarding the planned re-use of the Site with representatives of the adjacent church and will continue to engage in regular communication with church representatives regarding coordination of the work and final design of the cap. KDEP is aware of the general scope of planned activities and has been included in previous correspondence with Atmos Energy and USEPA. Atmos Energy has also made preliminary contact with City of Owensboro officials. Atmos Energy will notify KDEP and City of Owensboro officials of the planned site work and schedule and is prepared to participate in public meetings and meet public notice requirements, if any, as required and directed by local and State officials. Key contact names and addresses are as follows:

Mr. Ken Rhame On-Scene Coordinator Environmental Protection Agency, Region 4 61 Forsyth Street, S.W. Atlanta, GA 30303-8960 919-475-7397 Ms. Susan Mallette Project Manager Kentucky Department for Environmental Protection 14 Reilly Road Frankfort, KY 40601 502-564-6716

Second Revision November 20, 2007 September 10, 2007 Page 8 of 9

Mr. Brian Howard Senior Planner Owensboro Metropolitan Planning Commission 200 East Third Street Owensboro, KY 42302 270-687-8652

Mr. Joe Scheppers City of Owensboro Owensboro City Hall 101 East Fourth Street Owensboro, KY 42303 270-687-4444

Owensboro Messenger Inquirer (City Newspaper) 1401 Fredrica Street Owensboro, KY 42301 270-926-0123 Pastor Houston Hogg Fourth Street Baptist Church 821 West Fourth Street Owensboro, KY 42301 270-684-5788

6.0 SCHEDULE

Following submittal of the letter report confirming the engineered control coverage area, and receipt of USEPA, KDEP and City of Owensboro approval, construction of the engineered control will begin. Atmos Energy will provide notification to USEPA thirty (30) days prior to the initiation of construction field work to allow the coordination of field oversight activities. Atmos Energy expects that pre-construction sampling will be completed within 30 days of approval of this Work Plan and that the construction of the cap will be completed within 90 days after Atmos Energy receives the approval of the final cap design from USEPA. The anticipated implementation schedule for the project is indicated on the following table:

Project Deliverable	Components	Schedule
Confirmation of Engineered	Soil Sampling Results	To be initiated within 30 days
Control Coverage Area		of EPA approval of the Work Plan.
	Confirmation Letter Report of	
	Engineered Control Coverage Area	Within 30 days of the receipt of analytical results of the confirmation sampling.
Implementation of Removal Action	Removal Action Start	To be initiated within 30 days of USEPA, KDEP and City of Owensboro approval of the Engineered Control Area
		Coverage Confirmation Letter Report

Second Revision November 20, 2007 September 10, 2007 Page 9 of 9

Removal Action	Summary of work conducted,	Within 60 days of completion	
Completion Report	including as-built drawings.	of the site cover construction.	

7.0 REFERENCES

Burrus, Barry. Site Investigation Report, Owensboro Coal Casification Plants, Kentucky Division of Waste Management, 1984.

Hill, William M., Site Investigation Prioritization, Goodloe School Site, Federal Superfund Section, 1993.

Mallette, Susan, Sampling and Analysis Plan, Goodloe Elementary School, Kentucky Division of Waste Management, August 2006.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. 20012. Environmental Investigating Standard Operating Procedures and Quality Assurance Manual, USEPA Region IV, Science and Ecosystem Support Division, January 2002.

United States Geological Survey, Owensboro East, KY, 7.5 minute series topographic quadrangle, 1992.

LFI appreciates USEPA's review, comments and technical input on this project. If you have any questions, please contact the undersigned at (502) 895-5009.

Sincerely,

Brendas P. Merke

Brendan P. Merk, P.G. Project Hydrogeologist Kentucky Professional Geologist #2361

Cc: Jay Carnahan, Atmos Energy Douglas C. Walther, Atmos Energy Stuart Schulz, Atmos Energy

Figures

- 1. Topographic Map
- 2. Site Plan
- 3. Site Plan Showing Benzo(A)Pyrene Concentrations and Proposed Sampling Locations

Attachments

- A. Site Cover Inspection Checklist
- B. Health and Safety Plan
- C. Streamlined Quality Assurance Project Plan

Roy . Juliance

Roy V. Funkhouser, P.G. Principal Kentucky Professional Geologist #1621







Attachment A

Site Cover Inspection Checklist

,

Site Cover Annual Inspection Checklist Atmos Energy Corporation Former Manufactured Gas Plant Owensboro, Kentucky

The following is a checklist that has been developed to assist Atmos Energy Corporation with implementing the environmental Operations and Maintenance (O&M) activities associated with the construction of a site cover:

Perform a walking survey / inspection to ensure that the material serving as an environmental cover is being maintained and to detect any potential breaches in the cover such that the underlying affected soils could be exposed. Survey / inspection should include the following areas: Item Description Yes No N/A 1. Asphalt / paved area of church parking lot in good condition with no major cracks, potholes or other items in need of repair. Overall site in good condition with no evidence of construction, \square 3. pavement patching or other sign of disturbance to the asphalt cap. 4. Asphalt cap is adequate to prevent direct contact with all subsurface soils at the Site. Site free of any unexpected environmental conditions. 5.

If "No" is checked above, indicate the planned corrective measure to address the deficiency:

Deficiency Corrected by:	
Comments:	
Inspected by:	Date:

Note: The completed checklist should be maintained in the Atmos Energy project files along with other USEPA/KDEP documents and correspondence regarding the Site.

Attachment B

Health and Safety Plan

HEALTH AND SAFETY PLAN USEPA REMOVAL ACTION



Former Manufactured Gas Plant Third and Elm Streets Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky EPA ID #KYD980838395

Prepared by:





October 23, 2007

Mr. Jay F. Carnahan Atmos Energy Corporation 5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1800 Dallas, Texas 75240-2601

> Re: Revised Health and Safety Plan USEPA Removal Action Former Manufactured Gas Plant Third and Elm Streets Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky Linebach Funkhouser Project Number 163-07

Dear Mr. Carnahan:

Linebach Funkhouser, Inc. (LFI) has prepared the attached revised Health and Safety Plan (HSP) pertaining to the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Removal Action work being conducted at the above-referenced facility. The HSP has been prepared to provide the protocol to be followed by site workers who will be engaged in conducting the work. The enclosed revised plan incorporates comments made by USEPA on the HSP for this project originally submitted on September 10, 2007.

LFI is pleased to continue to be part of the Atmos Energy Corporation team on this important project. Please contact us at 502-895-5009 if you have any questions about the HSP.

Sincerely,

Brendaw P. Mark

Brendan P. Merk, P.G. Project Hydrogeologist Kentucky Professional Geologist #2361

Cc: Douglas C. Walther, Atmos Energy Stuart Schulz, Atmos Energy

Roy . Justime

Roy V. Funkhouser, P.G. Principal Kentucky Professional Geologist #1621

114 Fairfax Avenue 🛚 Louisville, KY 40207 📾 (502) 895-5009 🖾 Fax (502) 895-4005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
2.0	PROJECT ORGANIZATION	1
3.0	ACTIVITY/EXPOSURE OVERVIEW	
3.1	Site Constituents	3
3.2	Operational Hazards	4
3.3	Site Security	4
4.0	WORKER TRAINING & EDUCATION	5
5.0	PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT	5
6.0	AIR MONITORING	6
7.0	DECONTAMINATION PROCEDURES	8
8.0	EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN	9
8.1	Guidelines for Pre-Emergency Planning and Training	9
8.2	Emergency Recognition	9
8.3	Emergency Contacts	10
8.4	Personnel Roles, Lines of Authority, and Communication Procedures During Emergency	11
8.5	Evacuation Routes and Procedures, Safe Distances, and Places of Refuge	11
9.0	PERSONNEL AUTHORIZATION	11

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This Health and Safety Plan has been prepared to describe work activities and specific health and safety procedures applicable to the construction of a site cover over affected soil at a former manufactured gas plant (MGP) at Third and Elm Streets in Owensboro, Kentucky (the "Site"). The affected area is currently an open grass-covered field and, following construction of an asphalt-paved site cover, will be used as a parking lot and recreation area (anticipated basketball court).

This Plan has been prepared to see that:

- Site workers engaged in construction of the site cover are aware of the work activities to be conducted, and the general procedures to be followed;
- Site workers are informed of the specific constituents of concern;
- Site workers are not adversely exposed to constituents of concern; and,
- The general public and surrounding environment are not adversely impacted by dust and soil potentially being blown or tracked from the Site during the course of completing the project.

The following key activities will be conducted:

- Vegetation will be removed, as necessary;
- Site grading will be conducted to achieve the required sub-grade conditions; and,
- The affected area of the site will be capped with asphalt pavement.

2.0 PROJECT ORGANIZATION

Atmos Energy Corporation (Atmos Energy) will have the overall responsibility for implementation of this Plan. Atmos Energy will have a designated Project Manager with the authority to assure that site personnel comply with the Plan. In addition to the Atmos Energy's

Project Manager, a Health and Safety Officer (HSO) will be designated. The HSO's responsibilities will include:

- Supervision and enforcement of safety equipment usage.
- Supervision and inspection of equipment cleaning (if applicable).
- Supervision of decontamination area set-up and procedures (if applicable).
- On-site personnel orientation in potential hazards, personal hygiene principles, safety equipment usage and emergency procedures (daily "tailgate" or "toolbox" meetings as appropriate).
- Review and modification of the health and safety portion of this Plan as more information becomes available or conditions warrant.
- Coordination of emergency procedures.

Site workers engaged in the Site activities will be informed of the HSP portion of this Work Plan and will be provided access to a copy of this HSP at the work site. Site security controls will be maintained by use of construction fencing to limit access to the construction area, as well as the existing chain link fence that surrounds the property.

Visitors/Dump Truck Drivers

During site preparation and soil capping activities, access to the Site will be controlled. No unauthorized personnel shall proceed beyond the established security barrier. Prior to entering work areas during site capping activities, visitors must report to the HSO or the HSO's designated representative. Depending on work activities and site conditions, the HSO may restrict visitors from work areas. As determined by the HSO, only site personnel with a reasonable potential of contacting affected site soil will be required to be briefed on the HSP.

3.0 ACTIVITY/EXPOSURE OVERVIEW

The effects of exposure depend on the chemical, its concentration, route of entry, and duration of exposure. Standard risk-based exposure assumptions used by USEPA in developing remediation goals are based on theoretical exposure of 250 days per year for 25 year (construction workers)

and 350 days per year for 30 years (general public). Based on the nature and concentration of the constituents present and the overall limited duration of the site cover construction project (anticipated 8-hour shifts over a 30 day period), chemical exposure to workers and the public is a low hazard.

3.1 Site Constituents

Based on previous sampling results, benzo(a)pyrene, from the PAH group of chemicals, is the predominant constituent of concern. The PAH group consists of over 100 different chemicals that are formed during the incomplete burning of coal, oil and gas, garbage or other organic substances. PAHs are usually found as a mixture containing two or more of these compounds, such as soot. Typically, exposure is not to an individual PAH, but to a mixture of chemicals. In the environment, exposure will most likely be to PAH vapors or chemicals that are attached to dust and other particles in the air.

Because PAHs are byproducts of fossil fuel combustion, they are considered ubiquitous in urban settings. A study by Bradley et al. (1994) of sixty samples from urban soils found a 95% confidence interval on the mean concentration of benzo(a)pyrene toxic equivalents and total PAHs were 3 milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg) and 25 mg/kg, respectively. This study was used to evaluate any PAHs detected at concentrations above screening levels, as the Kentucky Department for Environmental Protection (KDEP) does not address background levels of PAHs.

The Occupation Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) have set a limit of 0.2 milligrams of PAHs per cubic meter of air (mg/m³). The OSHA Permissible Exposure Limit (PEL) for mineral oil mist that contains PAHs is 5 mg/m³ averaged over an 8-hour exposure period.

The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) recommends that the average workplace air levels for coal tar products not exceed 0.1 mg/m³ for a 10-hour workday, within a 40-hour workweek. There are other limits for workplace exposure for items which contain PAHs, such as coal, coal tar and mineral oil.

3.2 Operational Hazards

Prior to commencement of field activities, Atmos Energy's Project Manager and the Health and Safety Officer will conduct a site reconnaissance to identify any visible or operational hazards.

➤ Heat Stress

Field activities in hot weather conditions create a potential for heat stress. The warning symptoms of heat stress include fatigue; loss of strength; reduced accuracy, comprehension and retention; and reduced alertness and mental capacity. To prevent heat stress, personnel shall receive adequate water supplies and electrolyte replacement fluids, and maintain scheduled work/rest periods. Pulse rate and body temperature shall also be monitored as appropriate.

> Cold Stress

Field activities in cold weather conditions create a potential for cold stress. The warning symptoms of cold stress include reduced coordination, drowsiness, impaired judgment, fatigue, and numbing of the toes, fingers, nose and ears. To prevent cold stress, personnel shall wear appropriate clothing and maintain scheduled work/rest periods, with rest periods taken in a sheltered and heated location.

> Tools and Equipment

Tools and equipment used shall be inspected prior to use, maintained in safe condition, and determined adequate for their designated use. Leather gloves shall be donned when using tools that are designed to cut or trim materials.

> Noise Hazard

Operation of equipment may present a noise hazard to workers. Personnel will be provided with hearing protection for use when noise levels are excessive.

3.3 Site Security

The site is currently fenced on the north, west, and south sides. During construction of the Site cap, temporary frec-standing chain-link fencing will be installed around affected areas of the Site

where no fencing is currently present. The chain-link fencing will be equipped with a lockable gate in areas where ingress/egress access is required.

In the event that unauthorized personnel enter the site controlled work area, work in that area will be stopped. Work will not resume until the unauthorized personnel have been removed from the work area. A log of visitors will be maintained.

4.0 WORKER TRAINING & EDUCATION

Prior to commencing field activities, workers will be required to attend a Health and Safety/Site Indoctrination Session (i.e. "tailgate" safety meeting). The training session will be given by the HSO and will:

- Discuss the work tasks to be conducted and the manner in which the work is to be completed;
- Cover the health and safety procedures to be followed at the site with an emphasis on personal protective equipment requirements and monitoring and safety procedures.
- Discuss known levels of constituents in the soil.
- Provide the opportunity for workers to ask questions to ensure that each attendee understands the HSP.

5.0 PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT

The initial level of PPE defined for the project will be level D as described below. Level D protection will be maintained unless airborne levels of particulate dust are detected at the action levels listed in Section 7.0. If action levels are reached, Level C protection will be implemented. The HSO will have the flexibility to upgrade or downgrade PPE based on changing site conditions and input from the Atmos Energy's Project Manager.

Level D

Level C

Cotton/leather gloves
 Work boots
 Reusable (cotton) long sleeve
 Air-put

Level C will include the basic Level D criteria plus the following upgrades:Air-purifying respirator equipped

work clothes

Safety glasses

with appropriate cartridges

• Disposable tyvek coverall

6.0 AIR MONITORING

Air monitoring will be conducted during construction activities. A fugitive dust suppression and particulate monitoring program will be established to limit exposure of on-site personnel and the public around the site to affected dust during implementation of the proposed site capping activities. The potential exposure period to affected dust will be limited to the timeframe between when the existing vegetative cover is tilled into the underlying soil, and the asphalt subgrade layer across the soil is complete. During the limited interval when affected soil may be exposed and susceptible to wind transport, the following fugitive dust suppression and particulate monitoring program will be used at the site:

- Reasonable fugitive dust suppression techniques will be employed during site activities that may generate fugitive affected dust.
- Particulate monitoring will be employed during the handing of contaminated soil or when activities on site may generate fugitive dust from exposed contaminated soil. Such activities may include tilling, grading, or placement of the asphalt cap subgrade.
- Particulate monitoring will be conducted using real-time particulate monitors and will monitor particulate matter less than ten microns (PM₁₀) with the following minimum performance standards:

Object to be monitored: Dust Size range: <0.1 to 10 microns Sensitivity: 0.001 mg/m³ Range: 0.001 to 10 mg/m³ Overall Accuracy: <u>+</u> 10% as compared to gravimetric analysis of stearic acid or reference dust Operating Conditions: Temperature: 0 to 40°C Humidity: 10 to 99% Relative Humidity Power: Battery operated with a maximum capacity of eight hours continuous operation

- Particulate levels will be monitored immediately downwind at the work site and integrated over a period not to exceed 15 minutes. Consequently, instrumentation shall require necessary averaging hardware to accomplish this task; the MIE DataRam DR-4000 or similar is appropriate.
- In order to ensure the validity of the fugitive dust measurements performed, Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) measures will be implemented including periodic instrument calibration, operator training, daily instrument performance (span) checks and a record-keeping system.
- The action level will be 1 mg/m^3 over the integrated period not to exceed 15 minutes. The ø action level is based on the Health-Based Guidelines for Air Management, Public Participation, and Risk Communication During the Excavation of Former Manufactured Gas *Plants*, developed by the Wisonsin Bureau of Environmental and Occupational Health, Department of Health and Family Services (August 24, 2004). While conservative, this short-term interval will provide a real-time assessment of on-site air quality to assure both health and safety. Two particulate monitors will be employed; one at an upwind location and one downwind. If particulate levels are detected in excess of 1 mg/m³ at the downwind location, the upwind background level will be measured immediately. If during the timeframe that potentially affected soil is exposed, the working site particulate measurement is greater than 1 mg/m^3 above the background level, dust suppression techniques will be implemented to reduce the generation of fugitive dust and corrective action taken to protect site workers and reduce the potential for contaminant migration. Corrective measures may include increasing the level of personal protection for on-site personnel and implementing additional dust suppression.
- The following techniques have been shown to be effective for the controlling the generation and migration of dust during construction activities:
 - 1. Applying water on haul roads.

7

- 2. Wetting equipment and exposed soil.
- 3. Spraying water on blades during scraping and grading.
- 4. Hauling materials in properly tarped containers.
- 5. Restricting vehicle speed to 10 mph.
- 6. Covering exposed soil areas after construction activity ceases.
- 7. Reducing the exposed area size.

Experience has shown that in utilizing the above-mentioned dust suppression techniques, within reason as not to create excess water which would result in unacceptable wet conditions, the chance of exceeding the 1 mg/m³ action level is remote. Using atomizing sprays will prevent overly wet conditions, conserve water and provide an effective means of suppressing the fugitive dust.

• If the dust suppression techniques being utilized at the site do not lower particulates to an acceptable level (that is, below 1 mg/m³ and no visible dust off-site), work will be suspended until appropriate corrective measures are approved to remedy the situation. Also, the evaluation of weather conditions will be necessary for proper fugitive dust control, when extreme wind conditions make dust control ineffective. As a last resort removal actions may need to be suspended.

7.0 DECONTAMINATION PROCEDURES

To minimize the potential spread of impacted soil from the Site, affected soil, if any, that is observed to be encrusted on vehicle/equipment tires and treads will be removed before the vehicles leave the designated soil grading/capping area. A vehicle/equipment decontamination area will be established at a designated exit point from the Site. The area will consist of a surficial cover of plastic sheeting with a sump to collect drainage sediment, as necessary. The edges of the sheeting will be wrapped around wooden boards (2 x 4's), railroad ties, or similar material to create a containment area. For those workers exposed to affected particulates, the following decontamination steps shall be conducted in a designated area to be determined by the HSO. Again, these steps will be followed only if located in a soil removal area.

- Personnel 1) Remove hard hat and eye protection.
- (For Level C) 2) Remove gloves.
 - 3) Remove respirator.
 - 4) Wash all exposed skin (face and hands).

- 5) Bag all disposable PPE and dispose of in a manner approved by the HSO.
- 6) Wipe respirators after each use and clean at the end of the day with soap and water.

Personnel (For Level D And Mod-D)	1) 2) 3) 4) 5)	Wash and rinse boots, gloves, and protective coverall if used. Soap and water wash hands and face and exposed skin. Shower and change as soon as possible upon exiting Site. Wash all soiled clothing as soon as possible. Bag all disposable PPE and dispose of in a manner approved by the HSO.

Equipment 1) Scrape off encrusted material from tires, if any.

- 2) As necessary, soap and water wash equipment using brushes (high-pressure steam or water may be used).
- 3) Rinse equipment with water.
- 4) Continue washing and rinsing until clean.

Emergency decontamination procedures will include the following: Decontaminate personnel and equipment using soap and water as much as possible (if possible) prior to administering first aid procedures or transporting the victim to medical facility.

The following decontamination equipment is required:

- Soap and water solution
- Brushes

8.0 EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN

8.1 Guidelines for Pre-Emergency Planning and Training

Workers must be aware of the safety procedures in this Work Plan. Workers will be provided access to a copy of this Plan and a list of the emergency contacts and phone numbers immediately accessible on Site. Workers will also be informed of the route to the nearest qualified emergency medical services.

8.2 Emergency Recognition

Emergency conditions are considered to exist if:

- Any member of the field crew is involved in an accident or experiences any adverse health effects or systems of exposure while on site.
- A condition is discovered that suggests the existence of a situation more hazardous than anticipated.

In the event that any member of the work crew experiences any adverse health effects or symptoms of exposure while on the scene, the entire crew working in that area will immediately halt work and act according to the instructions provided by the HSO or Project Manager.

The discovery of any condition that would suggest the existence of a situation more hazardous than anticipated will result in the evacuation of the work crew and re-evaluation of the hazard and the level of protection required.

8.3 Emergency Contacts

In the event of any situation or unplanned occurrence requiring assistance, the appropriate contact(s) should be made from the list below. For emergency situations, telephone or radio contact should be made with the Site point of contact of Site emergency personnel who will then contact the appropriate response teams.

Table 1 – Emergency Contacts

Emergency Contacts		Phone Number
Fire Department and Ambulance		911
Poison Control	24 hour information	1-800-366-8888
Atmos Energy - Operations Manager, Owensboro	, KY	270-685-8137
Bruce Tucker		Cell 270-929-5071
Site Health & Safety Officer		502-895-5009
Brendan Merk, Linebach Funkhouser, Inc.		Cell 502-777-6079

Medical Emergency	Hospital	Phone Number
Ambulance	Owensboro Mercy Hospital	911
		270-688-2000

Directions to Hospital

Driving directions to the Owensboro Mercy Hospital are attached.

8.4 Personnel Roles, Lines of Authority, and Communication Procedures During Emergency

In the event of an emergency situation at the work site, the HSO designated by Atmos Energy will assume control and will coordinate decisions with Atmos Energy's Director of Safety. The HSO will confer with Atmos Energy's Director of Safety to resolve disputes about health and safety requirements and precautions. Atmos Energy's Director of Safety will also be responsible for coordinating all activities until emergency response teams (ambulance, fire department) arrive at the Site. The HSO will work with Atmos Energy's Director of Safety to ensure that the necessary personnel and agencies are contacted as soon as possible after the emergency occurs.

8.5 Evacuation Routes and Procedures, Safe Distances, and Places of Refuge

In the event of hazardous material emergency conditions, employees will evacuate the area, transport injured personnel, or take other measures to safely remedy the situation. Evacuation routes, safe distances, and places of refuge will be determined by the HSO and the field team prior to initiating work.

9.0 PERSONNEL AUTHORIZATION

By initialing and dating this form, the listed individual acknowledges that he/she has read and understands and will comply with the requirements of this Health and Safety Plan.



Attachment C

Streamlined Quality Assurance Project Plan

October 23, 2007

Proposed Scope of Work Linebach Funkhouser Project Number 163-07

STREAMLINED QUALITY ASSURANCE PROJECT PLAN Confirmatory Soil Sampling Atmos Energy Corporation Former Manufactured Gas Plant Site Owensboro, Kentucky

1.0 BACKGROUND

This streamlined Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) has been developed to establish the quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) procedures to be followed during the course of confirmatory soil sampling to be conducted at Atmos Energy Corporation's former manufactured gas plant site in Owensboro, Kentucky. The overall QA/QC objective is to develop and implement procedures for chain-of-custody, laboratory analysis, and reporting that will provide repeatable, scientifically valid results. The following sections describe the sampling and analysis procedures that will be implemented including laboratory analytical methods. In general, field methodologies will be consistent with USEPA Region 4's *Environmental Investigations Standard Operating Procedures and Quality Assurance Manual* (November 2001).

2.0 DATA QUALITY OBJECTIVES

The objective of the proposed sampling is to confirm that the proposed area of site capping is sufficient to cover affected areas of soil containing benzo(a)pyrene (BaP) at concentrations exceeding USEPA's Removal Action Level (RAL).

Soil sampling results will be compared to the USEPA RAL for BaP of 6.2 mg/kg. Attention will be given to assure that laboratory reporting limits are equal to or less than the RAL. Laboratory analyses will be conducted by a certified laboratory with an internal QA/QC program. Laboratory generated data deliverables for the project will include:

• A cover letter from the laboratory manager specifying the analyses conducted and any pertinent non-routine sample information;

- A detailed case narrative discussing unusual issues encountered during analysis and all quality control issues not conforming to the laboratory's quality assurance procedures; and,
- Summaries of internal QA/QC analyses relevant to the data.

3.0 PROJECT ORGANIZATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Linebach Funkhouser, Inc. (LFI) will provide the overall project management and technical oversight for this project. Laboratory analytical services will be subcontracted to a certified laboratory.

Mr. Roy Funkhouser, Principal with LFI, will serve as the Principal-In-Charge for the project. Mr. Funkhouser is a registered professional geologist in Kentucky and has 23 years of experience in environmental assessment and remediation work. Mr. Funkhouser will provide overall direction and will assure that LFI's technical quality standards are maintained. Mr. Brendan Merk, P.G., will manage the project, conduct the field sampling, and oversee the day-today activities and project scheduling.

4.0 SAMPLING PROCEDURES

Soil sampling locations have been selected to assess areas surrounding the proposed capped area to show remaining effects (if any) from past potential releases. Approximate sampling locations are shown in Figure 3 attached to this Work Plan. Soil borings will be advanced to a depth of approximately two feet below grade. Samples will be collected using pre-cleaned hand trowels, spatulas or hand augers.

4.1 General Sample Collection Protocol

Recovered materials will be described using the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS). The site professional will record lithology characteristics and any visible or olfactory impacts to recovered soils on boring logs. All re-usable sampling equipment will be decontaminated prior to advancing each boring by scrubbing with a non-phosphate detergent, rinsing with deionized

water, and allowing to air dry. Sampling personnel will don new disposable gloves between each sample location to reduce the possibility of cross-contamination.

4.2 Laboratory Analysis

The soil samples collected will be submitted to the laboratory for analysis of benzo(a)pyrene by USEPA Method 8270C. Care will be taken to assure that laboratory detection limits do not exceed Region 9 risk-based screening levels for residential use.

4.4 Containerization/Chain-of-Custody

Soil samples collected for laboratory analysis will be placed in new, laboratory-supplied containers. Each sample container will be labeled with sample identification, date, time, method of collection, sampler's initials and requested analysis. After the samples are collected, they will immediately placed in an iced cooler for storage at approximately 4°C prior for shipment to the laboratory. The sample coolers will be shipped to the analytical laboratory under chain-of-custody protocol via overnight courier.

4.5 Field Logs

A bound field logbook will be used for the maintenance of field records. The investigator's name, project name, and project number will be entered on the inside of the front cover of the logbook. Entries will be dated and time of entry recorded. All aspects of sample collection and handling, as well as visual observations, will be documented in the field logbooks.

Once completed, the field logbooks will be maintained as part of the permanent project files. Sample forms may be developed and used in lieu of a field logbook. Proper field sheets, sample labeling, chain-of-custody, and sample tracking documentation will be maintained as appropriate.
4.6 Investigation Derived Waste

Surficial soil sampling procedures to be used for this project will generate only a minimal amount of excess soil, if any. Excess soil, if any, generated by sampling activities will be placed back into the shallow borehole from which it originated.

4.7 Equipment Decontamination Procedures

LFI anticipates the use of pre-cleaned dedicated sampling trowels or spatulas at each location. A pre-cleaned hand-auger may be used if the trowels cannot penetrate the upper 6 inches of soil. The following procedures will be used for the cleaning (decontamination) of sampling equipment, should it be necessary to re-use a sampling trowel or hand-auger bucket at the site.

- 1. Clean with tap water and soap using a brush if necessary to remove particulate matter and surface films. The decontamination area will be secured within the site. Potential runoff of generated fluids will be controlled within a small bermed area lined with plastic. Cleaning fluids, if any are generated, are expected to be of a minimal amount, (1 to 2 gallons) and will be collected in the plastic-lined bermed area and allowed to evaporate or be decanted to the City sewer system (with approval from the City).
- 2. Rinse thoroughly with tap water.
- 3. Rinse thoroughly with analyte free (deionized) water.



Linebach · Funkhouser, Inc. environmental compliance & consulting

Date	Invoice #
7/9/2008	2404

114 Fairfax Avenue Louisville, KY 40207 (502) 895-5009 Fax (502) 895-4005

BILL TO

Atmos Energy Corporation Mr. Kevin Dobbs 2401 New Hartford Road Owensboro, Kentucky 42303

	Terms		Project
	Net 30		163-07
ription			Amount
Removal Action			\$228,572.0
		-	
\$325			
\$100			
\$650			
\$100			
01.050			
\$200			
\$325			
		J	
% Complete	Contract		
% Complete	Amount		
% Complete	Amount \$ 2,785.00		
% Complete	Amount		
% Complete 100 100 100 100	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00 \$ 16,450.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00 \$ 16,450.00 \$ 6,656.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00 \$ 16,450.00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00 \$ 16,450.00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00 \$ 6,348.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00 \$ 16,450.00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00 \$ 6,348.00 \$ 105,222.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00 \$ 16,450.00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00 \$ 6,348.00 \$ 105,222.00 \$ 437.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700.00 \$ 3,409.00 \$ 16,450.00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00 \$ 6,348.00 \$ 105,222.00 \$ 437.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700,00 \$ 3,409,00 \$ 16,450,00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00 \$ 6,348.00 \$ 0,348.00 \$ 105,222.00 \$ 437.00 \$ 23,832.00 \$ 2,300,00 \$ 2,416.00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700,00 \$ 3,409,00 \$ 16,450,00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00 \$ 6,348.00 \$ 0,348.00 \$ 105,222.00 \$ 437.00 \$ 23,832.00 \$ 2,300,00		
% Complete 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	Amount \$ 2,785.00 \$ 11,682.00 \$ 3,191.00 \$ 3,700,00 \$ 3,409,00 \$ 16,450,00 \$ 6,656.00 \$ 32,384.00 \$ 6,348.00 \$ 0,348.00 \$ 105,222.00 \$ 437.00 \$ 23,832.00 \$ 2,300,00 \$ 2,416.00	TOTAL	\$228,572
		ription Removal Action \$325 \$100 \$650 \$100 \$1,950 \$300 \$325	ription Removal Action \$325 \$100 \$650 \$100 \$1,950 \$300 \$325

Atmos Energy Corporation KPSC Initial Data Request Dated July 21, 2008 Case No. 2008-00230 DR Item 2

WITNESS: Mark A. Martin

- 2. Paragraph 6 of the application states that ownership of the Manufactured Gas Plant Site ("Site") was transferred to Atmos by the Fourth Street Baptist Church and that Atmos agreed to lease the Site back to the church and "make certain other improvements to the Site." Paragraph 7 refers to the costs of purchasing the Site.
 - a. Confirm whether the \$101,811 shown in Exhibit A as paid to the Regional Land Title Company is the cost of the Site. If this is not the cost, provide the amount paid for the site and state whether that amount is included in the \$101,822.

Response: The \$101,822 shown in Exhibit A was the cost to the Company of purchasing the Site.

b. Provide the terms of the lease, including the length and payment terms. If a separate lease agreement exists, provide a copy.

Response: A copy of the lease agreement is attached.

c. Provide the estimated costs and a description of the "certain other improvements" to be made to the Site and indicate in which account Atmos intends to record the costs.

Response: The "certain other improvements" to be made to the Site includes two basketball goals, playground equipment and a wooden gazebo, the estimated cost of which is \$40,000.00. Recovery of these costs will not be sought. These expenses will be recorded to Account 4261 (Donations).

d. Paragraph 8 of the application states that "any refunds or reimbursements received from any state funds, insurance companies, or other third parties will be credited to Account 186". Explain whether Atmos is proposing to credit Account 186 for the lease payments received from Fourth Street Baptist Church. **Response:**As shown by the attached lease, the only lease payment due from the Church was a nominal \$10.00 paid at the signing of the lease.

GROUND LEASE

2008 DATED AS OF THE 26 DAY OF <u>March</u>, 2007

BY AND BETWEEN

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION, as LANDLORD

AND

FOURTH STREET BAPTIST CHURCH, as TENANT

Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	
. <u>BASIC TERMS</u> 1	1.
. <u>LEASE OF LAND</u> 3	2.
. <u>CONDITION, USE, EXPENSES AND MAINTENANCE</u>	3.
. <u>USE OF PREMISES</u> 4	4.
. <u>REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES</u> 4	5.
. <u>TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AND ALTERATIONS</u> 5	6.
. <u>INSURANCE.</u>	7.
INDEMNIFICATION	8.
ACCESS TO PREMISES	9.
0. <u>DEFAULT</u> 6	10.
1. <u>DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION</u> 8	11.
2. <u>EMINENT DOMAIN</u> 9	12.
3. <u>ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES</u> 9	13.
4. <u>NOTICE</u> 9	14.
5. <u>SALE OR TRANSFER OF THE PREMISES</u> 10	15.
5. <u>LIENS</u> 10	16.
7. <u>MISCELLANEOUS</u> 10	17.

<u>EXHIBITS</u>

Exhibit A	-	Legal Description of the Premises
Exhibit B	-	Legal Description of the Tenant Property

GROUND LEASE

This GROUND LEASE (this "Lease") is made as of the 26 day of <u>March</u>, 2007 (the "Effective Date"), between Atmos Energy Corporation ("Landlord") and Fourth Street Baptist Church ("Tenant").

1. <u>BASIC TERMS</u>.

Certain fundamental terms of this Lease are set forth below for convenience of reference and are hereafter referred to as the "**Basic Terms**". Other provisions of this Lease will prevail over the Basic Terms in the event of any inconsistency.

1.1 <u>Land</u>: Landlord is the owner of that certain real property located in Ownersboro, Kentucky, and more particularly described on <u>Exhibit A</u> (the "Land").

1.2 <u>Tenant Property</u>: Tenant is the owner of that certain improved real property located adjacent to the Land, and more particularly described on <u>Exhibit B</u> (the "Tenant Property"), which is being used exclusively as the operations of a church and church-related activities.

1.3 <u>Tenant's Permitted Use</u>: Tenant may use the Premises (hereinafter defined) as a parking lot to serve the Tenant Property and for recreational activities related to church purposes (collectively, the "**Permitted Use**"). Tenant may not use the Premises for any other purpose, or in any way that is inconsistent with the terms and conditions set forth in the Restrictive Environmental Covenant dated <u>March 26</u>, 2007, recorded in the Official Public Records of Daviess County, Deed Book ______, Page _____ (the "Environmental Covenant").

1.4 <u>Term</u>: The "Term" commences on the Effective Date and terminates on the earlier of (a) the 100th anniversary of the Effective Date, or (b) the date that the Tenant Property ceases being used solely as a church and for church-related purposes. Tenant may renew this Lease for an additional term of 100 years by providing written notice thereof to Landlord at least one year prior to the expiration date of the Term. If properly exercised, the additional Term will be extended until the earlier of (i) the 200th anniversary of the Effective Date, or (ii) the date as that the Tenant Property ceases being used solely as a church and for church-related purposes.

1.5 <u>Rent</u>: The "Base Rent" due and payable under this Lease is \$10.00 for the entire Term, which amount has been paid as of the Effective Date. All amounts which Tenant is required to pay pursuant to this Lease will constitute and be referred to herein as "Additional Rent". Base Rent and Additional Rent are sometimes herein collectively referred to as "Rent".

1.6 Landlord's Address for Payments and Notices:

Atmos Energy Corporation 2401 New Hartford Road Owensboro, Kentucky 42303 Attention: VP Technical Services

Copies of any notices commencing or relating to any default by, or action, suit or proceeding against Landlord arising under this Lease will also reference this Lease and will be sent to the following:

Atmos Energy Corporation 1800 Three Lincoln Centre 5430 LBJ Freeway Dallas, Texas 75240 Attention: Legal/Real Estate

1.7 <u>Tenant's Address for Notices</u>:

Fourth Street Baptist Church 821 West Fourth Street Owensboro, Kentucky 42301 Attention: <u>Chauman</u>, <u>Board</u> of Trustees

1.8 <u>Exhibits</u>:

The following Exhibits are attached to this Lease and made a part of the Lease for all purposes:

Exhibit A	-	Legal Description of the Premises
Exhibit B	-	Legal Description of the Tenant Property

1.9 Additional Definitions:

(a) "Affiliate" means, with respect to a person, any other person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such person.

(b) "Insurance Requirements" means all terms of any insurance policy required by this Lease or maintained by Landlord and all requirements of the issuer of any such policies.

(c) "Landlord Improvements" means any and all improvements erected by Landlord, including, without limitation, the asphalt cap to be placed on the Premises by Landlord.

(d) "Legal Requirements" means all federal, state, county, municipal and other governmental statutes, laws, rules, orders, regulations, ordinances, judgments, deed restrictions, decrees and injunctions affecting either the Premises or the maintenance, construction, use or alteration thereof, whether or not hereafter enacted and in force, including, but not limited to, (i) all laws, rules or regulations pertaining to the environment, occupational health and safety and public health, safety or welfare, and (ii) any laws, rules or regulations that may require repairs, modifications or alterations in or to the Premises or in any way affect the use and enjoyment thereof; and all permits, licenses and authorizations and regulations relating thereto and all covenants, agreements, restrictions and encumbrances contained in any instruments, either of record or known to Tenant, at any time in force affecting the Premises.

(e) "Overdue Rate" means a rate of the lesser of 18% or the maximum rate then permitted under applicable law.

(f) "Premises" means the Landlord Improvements and the Land.

(g) "Tenant Improvements" means any improvements erected on the Land by Tenant in connection with their use of the Premises, as permitted by this Lease.

2. <u>LEASE OF LAND</u>.

2.1 <u>Land</u>. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, subject to and with the benefit of the terms, covenants, conditions and provisions of this Lease, the Premises.

2.2 <u>Landlord Improvements</u>. During the Term, Landlord, at its sole expense, has the exclusive right to enter upon the Premises for purposes of grading, installing an asphalt surface on some or all of the Land, repairing or maintaining any Landlord Improvements, and erecting any other improvements required by any Legal Requirements, the Environmental Covenant, or for any other reason that will not unreasonably interfere with Tenant's use of the Premises.

2.3 <u>Quiet Enjoyment</u>. Tenant will have complete and quiet enjoyment of and may peaceably enjoy the Premises and all appurtenances belonging thereto, throughout the Term, subject, however, to the express terms, covenants and conditions contained in this Lease.

3. <u>CONDITION, USE, EXPENSES AND MAINTENANCE</u>.

Condition of the Premises. Tenant is leasing the Premises "AS IS, WHERE IS AND 3.1 WITH ALL FAULTS" in its present condition on the Effective Date and by taking possession of the Premises on the Effective Date, Tenant is deemed to have accepted the Premises as suitable for the purposes for which they are leased and accepts the Premises as being in good and satisfactory condition. TENANT WAIVES ANY CLAIM OR ACTION AGAINST LANDLORD IN RESPECT OF THE CONDITION OF THE PREMISES. LANDLORD MAKES NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IN RESPECT OF THE PREMISES OR ANY PART THEREOF, EITHER AS TO ITS FITNESS FOR USE, SUITABILITY, HABITABILITY, DESIGN OR CONDITION FOR ANY PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE OR OTHERWISE. TENANT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE LAND HAS ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINATION AND IS THE SUBJECT OF AN EPA REMEDIAL ACTION; TENANT WAIVES ANY AND ALL CLAIMS AGAINST LANDLORD RELATED THERETO.

3.2 <u>Payment of Real Property Taxes and Utilities</u>. Landlord will be solely responsible for all taxes due related to the Premises, any utilities related to the Premises and all costs related to the maintenance of the Landlord Improvements. Tenant will cooperate with Landlord in obtaining any incentives, tax credits or tax abatements available due to Tenant's use of the Premises. Any abatement, rebate or refund of any taxes will be the sole and exclusive property of Landlord. Tenant will be solely responsible for all expenses related to the Tenant Improvements.

3.3 <u>Maintenance and Repairs</u>. Tenant will keep the Premises clean and free of debris throughout the Term of this Lease; however, Landlord will be solely responsible for the repair and maintenance of the Landlord Improvements. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, will be responsible for repair and maintenance of the Tenant Improvements.

4. <u>USE OF PREMISES</u>.

4.1 <u>Tenant's Use Covenants</u>.

(a) Tenant will use the Premises solely for the Permitted Use. Tenant will not use the Premises or any portion thereof for any other use without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent will be granted or denied in Landlord's sole and absolute discretion.

(b) Tenant, at its sole expense, will (a) promptly comply with all Legal Requirements and Insurance Requirements with respect of the use of the Premises, (b) not use or permit others to use the Premises for any unlawful purpose, and (c) take all actions necessary to ensure that all subtenants, invitees or others comply with all Legal Requirements.

(c) Tenant will not commit or suffer to be committed any waste on the Premises, or in the Landlord or Tenant Improvements, nor will Tenant cause or permit any nuisance thereon.

(d) Tenant will comply with the Environmental Covenant and take all actions necessary to ensure that all subtenants, invitees or others comply with the Environmental Covenant.

(e) Tenant will neither suffer not permit the Premises or any portion thereof to be used in such a manner as (i) may tend to impair Landlord's title thereto or to any portion thereof, or (ii) may reasonably make possible a claim or claims of adverse usage or adverse possession by the public, as such, or of implied dedication of the Premises or any portion thereof.

5. <u>REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES</u>.

5.1 Landlord's Representations and Warranties. Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant:

(a) Landlord is a corporation, validly existing in the states of its incorporation and qualified to do business in the State of Kentucky.

(b) Landlord has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Lease and perform its obligations hereunder, and any action necessary to authorize this Lease has been duly taken and the person or persons executing this Lease have been duly authorized to do so.

(c) The execution and delivery of this Lease and the performance by Landlord of its obligations hereunder are not and will not be prohibited by or cause a breach of any other agreement, mortgage, trust deed, ground lease, contract or other instrument or document to which Landlord is a party or by which it or the Premises is bound.

5.2 <u>Tenant's Representations and Warranties</u>. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord:

(a) Tenant is a <u>Texas</u> <u>Corporatio</u>, Validly existing in the state of its incorporation and qualified to do business in the State of Kentucky.

(b) Tenant has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Lease and perform its obligations hereunder, and any action necessary to authorize this Lease has been duly taken and the person or persons executing this Lease have been duly authorized to do so.

(c) The execution and delivery of this Lease and the performance by Tenant of its obligations hereunder are not and will not be prohibited by or cause a breach of any other

agreement, mortgage, trust deed, ground lease, contract or other instrument or document to which Tenant is a party or by which it or the Premises is bound.

6. <u>TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AND ALTERATIONS</u>.

6.1 <u>Tenant Improvements and Alterations.</u>

(a) Tenant may not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, such consent to be given in Landlord's sole discretion, install any Tenant Improvements or make any changes or alterations to the Premises and Landlord Improvements (such changes or alterations referred to as "Alterations"). Any Tenant Improvements or Alterations permitted by Landlord must also comply with the terms of the Environmental Covenant.

(b) If Tenant is permitted to make any Tenant Improvements or Alterations to the Premises, Tenant will notify Landlord upon completion of any Tenant Improvements or Alterations and Landlord may inspect same for workmanship and compliance with any approved plans and specifications.

(c) Upon expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and unless otherwise specified in this Lease and at Landlord's direction, Tenant will remove any of the Tenant Improvements or Alterations, and will otherwise demolish any or all of the Tenant Improvements or Alterations.

(d) Tenant Improvements or Alterations remaining on the Premises for more than 30 days after the later of the date of any surrender of the Premises or termination of this Lease will be deemed abandoned by Tenant or its subtenants or licensees and will become the property of Landlord at no cost to either party.

(e) At Landlord's request, upon completion of the Tenant Improvements or Alterations, Tenant will promptly furnish to Landlord final lien waivers from all persons performing work or supplying or fabricating materials for the Tenant Improvements or Alterations, fully executed, acknowledged and in recordable form.

7. <u>INSURANCE.</u>

7.1 <u>Tenant's Insurance</u>.

(a) Throughout the Term, Tenant will maintain in respect of the Premises commercial general liability insurance naming Landlord as an additional insured in amounts of at least \$1,000,000.00 with respect to bodily injury to or death of any one or more persons and not less than \$500,000.00 with respect to property damage. These liability coverage limits may be reviewed every 2 years and may be increased by Landlord if Landlord believes such increase is necessary to maintain the same relative level of coverage. The policy will be primary and non-contributing and will contain cross liability endorsements and, if possible, be written on an occurrence basis. Such policy or policies will provide for contractual liability coverage with respect to Tenant's indemnity obligations under this Lease.

(b) All insurance maintained in accordance with the provisions of this <u>Paragraph 7.1</u> must be issued by companies reasonably satisfactory to Landlord. The liability insurance must show Landlord as an additional insured.

7.2 <u>Additional Insurance Obligations</u>. Tenant will deliver to Landlord certificates of all insurance policies required hereunder and will thereafter deliver to Landlord certificates within 30 days after the renewal of any existing policy. All insurance policies required under this Lease will be on an "occurrence" rather than a "claims made" basis and will contain a provision that the same cannot be canceled without 30 days prior notice to Landlord. Tenant will bear any loss or liability which falls under the amount deductible under any insurance policy which such party is required to maintain hereunder. Nothing herein will prevent either party from maintaining additional amounts or types of insurance coverage at its own sole cost and expense.

8. <u>INDEMNIFICATION</u>.

WITHOUT REGARD TO THE POLICY LIMITS OF ANY SUCH INSURANCE, TENANT WILL PROTECT, INDEMNIFY, HOLD HARMLESS AND DEFEND LANDLORD, LANDLORD'S EMPLOYEES, INVITEES AND LICENSEES (COLLECTIVELY, THE "LANDLORD-RELATED PERSONS") FROM AND AGAINST ALL LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, CLAIMS, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, CAUSES OF ACTION, COSTS AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES AND EXPENSES), TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, IMPOSED UPON OR INCURRED BY OR ASSERTED AGAINST LANDLORD OR THE LANDLORD-RELATED PERSONS BY REASON OF: (A) ANY ACCIDENT, INJURY TO OR DEATH OF PERSONS OR LOSS OF OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY OCCURRING ON OR ABOUT THE PREMISES OR ADJOINING SIDEWALKS, (B) ANY PRESENT OR FUTURE USE OR MISUSE BY TENANT OF THE PREMISES, AND (C) ANY FAILURE ON THE PART OF TENANT TO PERFORM OR COMPLY WITH ANY OF THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE. TENANT'S LIABILITY FOR A BREACH OF THE PROVISIONS OF THIS <u>SECTION 8</u> WILL SURVIVE ANY TERMINATION OF THIS LEASE.

9. <u>ACCESS TO PREMISES</u>.

Landlord may enter upon the Premises at all times to make any necessary inspections, repair or maintenance of the Premises or for any other purposes, including, but not limited to, the right to enter upon, investigate, drill wells, take soil borings, excavate, monitor, test, cap and use available land for the testing of remedial technologies. Landlord shall also have access to Tenant's employees, and to all relevant documents and records regarding the matter as to which a responsibility, liability or obligation is asserted or which is the subject of any proceeding. Tenant may not unreasonably interfere with the conduct of Landlord's use of the Premises.

10. <u>DEFAULT</u>.

10.1 <u>Events of Default</u>. If any one or more of the following events (individually, an "Event of Default") occurs:

(a) if Tenant fails to observe or perform any other term, covenant or condition of this Lease and such failure is not cured by Tenant within a period of 30 days after receipt of notice thereof from Landlord, unless such failure cannot with due diligence be cured within a period of

30 days, in which case it will not be deemed an Event of Default if Tenant proceeds promptly and with due diligence to cure the failure and diligently completes the curing thereof; provided, however, in no event will such cure period extend beyond 90 days after such notice; or

(b) if Tenant (i) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, (ii) files a petition in bankruptcy or a petition to take advantage of any insolvency law, (iii) makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (iv) consents to the appointment of a receiver of itself or of the whole or any substantial part of its property, or (v) files a petition or answer seeking reorganization or arrangement under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof; or

(c) if Tenant, on a petition in bankruptcy filed against it, is adjudicated a bankrupt or has an order for relief thereunder entered against it or a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree appointing, without its consent, a receiver of Tenant or of the whole or substantially all of its property, or approving a petition filed against Tenant seeking reorganization or arrangement of Tenant under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof, and such judgment, order or decree is not vacated or set aside or stayed within 90 days from the date of the entry thereof; or

(d) if Tenant is liquidated or dissolved, or begins proceedings toward such liquidation or dissolution, or, in any manner, permits the sale or divestiture of substantially all of its assets; or

(e) if the estate or interest of Tenant in the Premises or any part thereof is voluntarily or involuntarily transferred, assigned, conveyed, levied upon or attached in any proceeding.

then, and in any such event, Landlord may exercise one or more remedies available to it herein or at law or in equity.

10.2 <u>Remedies</u>. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, Landlord may (i) terminate this Lease, (ii) terminate Tenant's right of possession of the Premises, without terminating this Lease, (iii) remove and store, at Tenant's expense, all property in the Premises, (iv) cure such Default for Tenant at Tenant's expense (plus a 15% administrative fee), and/or (v) withhold or suspend payment of sums Landlord would otherwise be obligated to pay to Tenant under this Lease. Landlord may, at any time after terminating Tenant's right to possess the Premises without terminating this Lease, elect to terminate this Lease and pursue any and all other rights and remedies otherwise available upon such latter election. All such rights and remedies, together with any rights and remedies available under Legal Requirements, are cumulative.

10.3 <u>Measure of Damages</u>. If Landlord terminates Tenant's right to possess the Premises but not the Lease, Tenant will immediately vacate and surrender the Premises and pay Landlord (i) the cost of recovering the Premises and removing and storing Tenant's or other property, and (ii) all expenses incurred by Landlord in enforcing this Lease, including reasonable attorneys' fees.

10.4 <u>Landlord's Right to Cure Tenant's Default</u>. If Tenant fails to make any payment or to perform any act required to be made or performed under this Lease, and fails to cure the same within the relevant time periods provided in this <u>Section 10</u>, then Landlord, without waiving or releasing any obligation of Tenant, and without waiving or releasing any obligation or default, may (but will be under no obligation to) at any time thereafter make such payment or perform such act for the account and at the expense of Tenant, and may, to the extent permitted by law, enter upon the Premises for such purpose and

take all such action thereon as, in Landlord's opinion, may be necessary or appropriate therefor. No such entry will be deemed an eviction of Tenant. All sums so paid by Landlord and all costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, in each case to the extent permitted by law) so incurred, together with a late charge thereon (to the extent permitted by law) at the Overdue Rate from the date on which such sums or expenses are paid or incurred by Landlords, will be paid by Tenant to Landlord on demand. The obligations of Tenant and rights of Landlord contained in this <u>Section 10</u> will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

10.5 <u>Attorneys' Fees</u>. If a proceeding is commenced with respect to any alleged default under this Lease, the prevailing party in such proceeding will receive, in addition to its damages incurred, such sum as the court will determine as its reasonable attorneys' fees, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith.

10.6 <u>No Waiver</u>. No failure by Landlord to insist upon the strict performance of any term hereof or to exercise any right, power or remedy consequent upon a breach thereof, and no acceptance of full or partial payment of Rent during the continuance of any such breach, will constitute a waiver of any such breach or of any such term. To the extent permitted by law, no waiver of any breach by Landlord will affect or alter this Lease, which will continue in full force and effect with respect to any other then existing or subsequent breach.

10.7 <u>Landlord's Defaults</u>. In the event of any default by Landlord, Tenant's exclusive remedy will be an action for damages, but prior to any such action Tenant will give Landlord written notice (the "**Default Notice**") specifying such default with particularity, and Landlord will thereupon have 30 days after receipt of the Default Notice in which to cure such default or to commence to cure such default if any such default cannot be cured within such 30-day period, in which event Landlord will prosecute such cure with diligence to a conclusion. Unless and until Landlord fails to timely cure or proceed with diligence to cure any default after such Default Notice, Tenant will not have any remedy or cause of action by reason thereof. All obligations of Landlord hereunder will be construed as covenants, not conditions; and all such obligations will be binding upon Landlord only during the period of its ownership of the Premises and not thereafter.

10.8 <u>No Right or Remedy is Exclusive</u>. No right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Landlord or Tenant is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and each and every right and remedy is cumulative and in addition to any other right or remedy given hereunder, or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

11. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION.

11.1 <u>Damage or Destruction to the Premises</u>. If the Premises is damaged by fire or any other casualty, Landlord will repair and restore the Landlord Improvements to the same or better condition and structure (the "**Casualty Restoration**") in compliance with this Lease; provided, however, that Tenant, at it sole cost and expense, shall be responsible for repairing and restoring any Tenant Improvements. If the Landlord Improvements cannot be restored within 180 days of the date of the casualty, then Landlord may terminate this Lease by written notice to Tenant.

11.2 <u>Release of Parties Upon Rightful Termination</u>. Upon termination of this Lease pursuant to this <u>Section 11</u>, each of the parties will thereby be released from all further obligations hereunder, except for items which have theretofore accrued and be then unpaid or which by their terms survive termination of the Lease.

12. <u>EMINENT DOMAIN</u>.

12.1 <u>Tenant's Rights</u>. If the whole of the Premises is taken or condemned for any public or quasi-public use under any statute or by right of eminent domain or by private purchase in lieu thereof (a "**Taking**"), then this Lease will automatically terminate as of the date of the Taking. Any termination hereunder will be effective upon the earlier of the date an immediate possession order is entered or title vests in a condemning authority. In the event this Lease terminates under this Paragraph, neither party will have any further rights or liabilities hereunder, except as expressly provided in this Lease.

12.2 <u>Major Partial Taking</u>. If at any time during the Term 20% or more of the Land (a "**Major Partial Taking**"), then Landlord and Tenant will have the right to terminate this Lease as of the earlier of the date that title vests in the condemnor or the date that the condemnor takes possession of the property so taken, by giving written notice of such termination to the other within 90 days after notice to Tenant of such taking.

12.3 <u>Minor Partial Taking</u>. If a partial taking that is not a Major Partial Taking occurs, or a Major Partial Taking occurs and this Lease is not terminated, then this Lease will terminate only as to the part so taken as of the date of the taking.

12.4 <u>Allocation of Condemnation Award</u>. In the event of such a condemnation of the whole or a part of the Premises, the award for such taking will be allocated solely to Landlord.

12.5 <u>Notification</u>. Each party will notify the other within 30 days of any notification from any governmental entity regarding the proposed Taking of any or all of the Premises. In addition, the parties will copy each other on any subsequent correspondence regarding the same.

12.6 <u>Termination</u>. A termination by Tenant of this Lease under this <u>Section 12</u>, will terminate all further obligations hereunder, except for items which have theretofore accrued and be then unpaid or which by their terms survive termination of the Lease.

13. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES.

Upon the reasonable request of the other party at any time or from time to time, but no more than twice per each calendar year, each of Landlord and Tenant will execute, acknowledge and deliver to the requesting party or to the requesting party's designee, within 15 days after request a written instrument in a form reasonably satisfactory to both parties duly executed and acknowledged (i) certifying that this Lease has not been modified, except as set forth in such certificate, and is in full force and effect, as modified; (ii) specifying the dates to which the Base Rent and other charges hereunder have been paid; (iii) stating whether or not, to the knowledge of the party executing such instrument, the other party thereto is in default and, if so, stating the nature of such default; (iv) stating the Effective Date; and affirming such other factually accurate matters pertaining to the provisions or subject matter of this Lease as may be reasonably requested by the other party.

14. <u>NOTICE</u>.

Any notices, consents, approvals, elections, submissions, requests or demands required or permitted to be given under this Lease or pursuant to any law or governmental regulation by Landlord to Tenant or by Tenant to Landlord will be in writing (whether or not expressly so provided) and is deemed received and effective 3 days after being deposited in the United States mail, registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid or 1 day after being sent by overnight express mail or nationally recognized courier service (e.g., UPS) to Landlord or Tenant, at the respective addresses set forth herein

or such other addresses as either party may designate by notice to the other from time to time. In lieu of registered or certified mail, and in any event, during any period of postal strike or other interference with the mails, any notice may be given by personal hand delivery with a receipt signed by the person served or by any person authorized by law to serve process in the jurisdiction where such service is accomplished and is deemed received and effective when received. Either party may change its address for notice by written notice given to the other in the manner hereinabove provided.

15. SALE OR TRANSFER OF THE PREMISES.

Landlord has the right to sell or transfer the entire Premises without the consent of Tenant. If Landlord sells or transfers all or any portion of the Premises and Landlord's entire interest in this Lease, Tenant will release Landlord from any liability under this Lease arising after the date of such transfer. No change of ownership of the Premises, or any portion thereof, or the party to which Rent is to be paid, or any change in the address to where Rent is paid will be binding upon Tenant for any purpose until Tenant has received notice of such assignment and assumption fully executed by Landlord and such purchaser or transferee. The term "Landlord" includes any successor permitted by the terms of this Section.

16. <u>LIENS</u>.

Tenant will not create or knowingly allow to remain and will discharge at its expense any lien, encumbrance, attachment, title retention agreement or claim upon the Premises within 30 days of becoming aware of any such lien or encumbrance or any attachment, levy, claim or encumbrance.

17. MISCELLANEOUS.

17.1 <u>Assignment and Subletting</u>. Tenant may not assign this Lease or sublet all or any portion of the Premises without the express written consent of Landlord, to be given in Landlord's sole discretion.

17.2 <u>Brokers and Commissions</u>. Both Landlord and Tenant represent that they have not dealt with any brokers in connection with the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Lease. If any person asserts a claim to a finder's fee, brokerage commission or other compensation on account of alleged employment as finder or broker or performance of services as a finder or broker in connection with this transaction, the party who retained such person will indemnify and hold the other party harmless from and against any such claim and all costs, expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with such claim or any action or proceeding brought thereon, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and court costs in defending such claim.

17.3 <u>Transfer of Licenses</u>. Upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, to the extent transferable, Tenant will use commercially reasonable efforts to transfer to Landlord or Landlord's nominee all licenses, operating permits and other governmental authorizations and all contracts, including contracts with governmental or quasi-governmental entities which may be necessary or useful in the operation of the Tenant Improvements. This provision will survive termination of the Lease.

17.4 <u>Independent Covenants</u>. It is the intention of the parties hereto that the obligations of each party hereunder will be separate and independent covenants and agreements.

17.5 <u>Invalidity of Certain Provisions</u>. If any provision of this Lease is deemed invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remainder of the provisions of this Lease will not be affected thereby, and each and every provision of this Lease will be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

17.6 <u>Choice of Law</u>. This Lease and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto will be interpreted and construed in accordance with and governed by the Laws of the State in which the Premises are located without regard to the law of that State concerning choice of law. Any suit arising from or relating to this Lease will be brought in the county wherein the Premises are located, and the parties hereto waive the right to be sued elsewhere.

17.7 <u>No Waiver</u>. The waiver by Landlord or Tenant of any breach of any term, covenant or condition herein contained may not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition herein contained. No covenant, term or condition of this Lease may be deemed to have been waived unless such waiver be in writing signed by the party charged therewith.

17.8 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Lease and the Exhibits attached hereto and forming a part hereof, set forth all the covenants, promises, agreements, conditions and understandings between Landlord and Tenant concerning the Premises. There are no oral agreements or understandings between the parties hereto affecting this Lease, and this Lease supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, agreements and understandings, if any, between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matters hereof, and none thereof will be used to interpret or construe this Lease. Except as herein otherwise expressly provided, no subsequent alteration, amendment, change or addition to this Lease, nor any surrender of the Term, will be binding upon Landlord or Tenant unless reduced to writing and signed by them.

17.9 <u>Successors and Assigns; Third Party Benefit</u>. The rights, covenants and agreements contained in this Lease will bind and inure to the benefit of Landlord and its permitted successors and assigns and Tenant and its permitted successors and assigns. There are no third party beneficiaries to this Lease or any provision hereof.

17.10 <u>Construction of Lease</u>. The captions preceding all of the paragraphs of this Lease are intended only for convenience of reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this Lease or the intent of any provision hereof. Whenever the singular is used, the same includes the plural and vice versa and words of any gender includes the other gender. As used herein, "including" means "including, without limitation". The provisions of this Lease have been fully negotiated between parties of comparable bargaining power with the assistance of counsel and will be applied according to the normal meaning and tenor thereof without regard to the general rule that contractual provisions are to be construed narrowly against the party which drafted the same or any similar rule of construction.

17.11 <u>Partnerships</u>. Nothing contained in this Lease may be construed to make Landlord and Tenant partners or joint venturers or to render either party liable for any debts or the obligations of the other.

17.12 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Lease may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be an original, but all of which together constitute one and the same instrument.

17.13 <u>No Offer</u>. The submission of this Lease for examination does not constitute an offer to enter into a Lease, and this Lease will become effective only upon execution and delivery hereof by Landlord and Tenant.

17.14 WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY. LANDLORD AND TENANT MUTUALLY, EXPRESSLY, IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY FOR ANY PROCEEDINGS, WHETHER IN LAW OR IN EQUITY ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS LEASE, OR ANY CONDUCT OR COURSE OF DEALING OF THE PARTIES,

STATEMENTS (WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY PERSON. THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO TENANT TO ENTER INTO THIS LEASE.

17.15 <u>Time is of the Essence</u>. Time is of the essence of this Lease and each and all of its provisions in which performance is a factor.

17.16 <u>Landlord's Liability</u>. The liability of Landlord to Tenant (or any person or entity claiming by, through or under Tenant) for any default by Landlord under the terms of this Lease or any matter relating to or arising out of the occupancy or use of the Premises is limited to Tenant's actual damages and is recoverable only from the interest of Landlord in the Premises and any proceeds received by Landlord as compensation for its ownership interest in the Premises, and Landlord (and its partners, shareholders or members) will not be personally liable for any deficiency.

Signature Page to Follow

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have caused this Lease to be executed the day and year first above written.

LANDLORD:

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

By: Name: President Title:

TENANT:

FOURTH STREET BAPTIST_CHURCH	
Å ()	
By: Sund mars	
Name: Flemat POSET	
Title: Chrappinman of Thusse	
······································	

STATE OF KENTUCKY

ş ş ş

COUNTY OF DAVIESS

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged and sworn to before me by <u>FRANK POSEY</u>, Chairman of Trustes of Fourth Street Baptist Church on behalf of said church, this the <u>26</u> day of <u>MARCH</u>, 2008

Notary Public My Commission expires:

STATE OF <u>KENTUCKY</u> § COUNTY OF <u>DAVIESS</u> §

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged and sworn to before me by $\underline{JAVKevin Dobbs}$. <u>Operations VP</u> of Atmos Energy Corporation on behalf of said corporation, this the \underline{JC} day of <u>MARCH</u>, 2008.

rahurkel

Notary Public / My Commission expires: 13008

EXHIBIT A

Being that certain 1.048 acres on West Third Street, as shown on plat entitled " Fourth Street Baptist Church, Property Survey", of record in Plat Book 36, page 181, in the Office of the Daviess Count Clerk, to which plat reference is hereby made for a more particular description of said lot.

AND BEING the same property conveyed to Fourth Street Baptist Church, by a Deed from Wendell Marsh and Tina R. Marsh, husband and wife, dated March 24, 2005, of record in Deed Book 797, page 67, in the Office of the Daviess County Clerk. Also see Deed dated April 8, 2005, of record in Deed Book 797, page 693, in the Office of the Daviess County Clerk.

EXHIBIT "B"

Beginning at a stake in the south margin of West Third Street at the northwest corner of the Western Colored School lot, thence southwardly with the west line of the school lot 166.5 ft. and thence continuing southwardly with said line extended, one additional foot to an iron pipe, thence westwardly and parallel with the south margin of West Third Street 44 ft. to an iron pipe, thence northwardly and parallel with the west line of said Western Colored School lot 167.5 feet to a stake in the south margin of West Third Street 44 ft. to the beginning.

BOOK 797 PAGE 696

II. Beginning at a stake in the south margin of 3rd St. 101 ft. west of the southwest corner of 3rd and Elm Streets, thence southward 166-1/2 ft. to a stake, thence westwardly 166-1/2 ft. to a stake in a line of the old woolen mill lot and 166-1/2 ft. north of the north margin of 4th Street, thence with the east line of the woolen mill lot northwardly 166-1/2 feet to a stake on the south margin of 3rd Street, thence with the south margin of 3rd Street, eastwardly 166-1/2 feet to the beginning, containing 5/8 of an acre, be the same more or less, it being one-half of the one acre and a quarter lot on which the church now stand.

III A Lot of land beginning on the southwardly line of Third Street at a corner of the lot conveyed to George Weible by deed dated October 23d, 1856, and recorded in Deed Book N, page 170 (said corner being also the corner of a lot conveyed to Henry Weible by deed dated October 23, 1856, and recorded in Deed Book N, page 176), thence running eastwardly along the southwardly side of Third Street two hundred and fifty-two (252) feet more or less to the eastwardly line of ten(10) acre lot No. 8; thence running southwardly along said eastwardly line of said ten (10) acre lot No. 8 two hundred and twenty-one (221) feet; thence running westwardly parallel to the first line two hundred and thence running northwardly with his line two hundred and twenty-one (221) feet to the beginning.

There is excepted from the above described lot numbered III and not hereby conveyed, the lot described herein as number I which is included in the foregoing description but was separated therefrom, subsequently re-acquired, and now separately described hereinabove;

Also there is further excepted from the foregoing description of lot III the following

)6

1.

697

BOOK 797 PAGE 697

A rectangular shaped, lot out of the extreme southeast portion of the premises herein conveyed and which lot is described as follows: BEGINNING at a stake, the southeast corner of the premises hereby conveyed; thence northwardly and with the east line of said lot 54.5 feet to a stake; thence westwardly and parallel with West Third Street 53 feet to a stake; thence southwardly and at right angles to Third Street and parallel with the first line mentioned 54.5 feet to a stake in the south line of the premises conveyed by this instrument; thence eastwardly with said last mentioned south line 53 feet to the point of beginning, together with the regulating station and all improvements situated thereon and the appurtenances thereunto belonging or in any wise appertaining.

THERE IS ALSO EXCEPTED AND NOT HEREBY CONVEYED the pipe lines or gas mains and all equipment appurtenant thereto, together with an easement for right-of-way hereinafter described, and which pipe lines or gas mains extend from a point in the south margin of West Third St. southwardly under and along the east boundary of the premises conveyed by this deed to the lot above described.

THIS LOT III is conveyed subject to the easements and rights reserved by Western Kentucky Gas Company in a certain deed dated November 14, 1947, by said Gas Company to Board of Education of the City of Owensboro, recorded in Deed Book 193 at page 41 in the Daviess County Court Clerk's Office, to which deed reference is hereby made for a particular description of said reserved rights and easements.

- IV. SITUATED in the City of Owensboro, Kentucky, on the west side of Elm Street between Third and Fourth Streets, the same having a frontage on Elm Street of 86 feet and running back westwardly the same width 105 feet more or less to the cast line of the Owensboro Public School for Negroes, and bounded on the north by the lot sold by Matilda R. Tyler to George McHenry, on the east by Elm Street, on the west by said Public School lot, and is located 40 feet south of Third Street, that is to say, its north line is 40 feet south of said Third Street, and being the same real estate which was conveyed to R.S. Hughes by Matilda R. Tyler by deed dated December 2, 1899, recorded in Deed Book 70, page 132, Clerk's Office of the Daviess County Court.
- V. Beginning at a stake on the southwest corner of Elm and Third Streets, running back parallel and on a line with Third Street 107-1/2 feet to a lot now owned by Colored Baptist Church; thence at right angles with said first line and on line parallel with Elm Street 40' to a

 $\mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{F}$

stake in line of Colored Church lot, thence at right angles with last line and parallel with first line 107-1/2 feet to a stake on Elm Street; thence at right angles with last line on the line of Elm Street 40 feet to the beginning. BOOK 797 PAGE 69.8

- VI. Beginning at a stake 268.7 feet West of the West margin of Elm Street and 167.5 feet south of the south margin of Third Street, and running S. 25 feet to a stake; thence W 52.9 feet to a stake; thence N 25 feet to a stake; thence E. 52.9 feet and parallel with Third Street, to the point of beginning; and subject to the right of way reserved in conveyance to Grantor from Western Kentucky Gas Company.
- VII. Beginning at a stake in the West margin of Elm Street 138 feet south of the southwest corner of Elm and Third Streets in said city; thence north with the west margin of Elm Street 12 feet, more or less, to a stake, the southeast corner of a lot conveyed to R. S. Hughes by Matilda R. Tyler on December 2, 1899 and recorded in the office of the Clerk of the Daviess County Court in Deed Book 70 at page 132; thence westwardly and parallel with Third Street 105 feet, more or less, to a stake in the eastern margin of the Board of Education lot; thence Southwardly and parallel with Elm Street 12 feet, more or less, to a stake in the Board of Education lot; thence eastwardly and parallel with Third Street 105 feet, more or less, to the point of beginning.

AND BEING the same property conveyed to Green River Regional Mental Health/Mental Retardation Board, Inc. by Board of Education of Owensboro Independent School District, by deed dated August 9, 1984, of record in Deed Book 536, page 627, Office of the Daviess County Court Clerk.

NPR -8 2 20:

SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

Fourth Street Baptist Church (hereinafter "Fourth Street Baptist") of 821 West Fourth Street, Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky 42301, is the lessee under a Ground Lease ("Lease") dated March 26,20° with Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos Energy").

Fourth Street Baptist hereby assents to the grant of the attached Environmental Covenant by Atmos Energy and agrees that the Lease shall be subject to said Environmental Covenant and to the rights, covenants, restrictions and easements created by and under said Environmental Covenant insofar as the interests created under the Lease affect the Property or Impacted Area identified in the Environmental Covenant and as if for all purposes said Environmental Covenant had been executed, delivered and recorded prior to the execution, delivery and recordation and/or registration of the Lease.

The execution of this subordination agreement by Fourth Street Baptist shall not subject such person to liability for environmental remediation pursuant to KRS Chapter 224, provided that such person shall not otherwise be liable for environmental remediation pursuant to Chapter 224.

The execution of this subordination agreement by Fourth Street Baptist shall not be presumed to impose any affirmative obligation on the person with respect to said Environmental Covenant.

Fourth Street Baptist's act of subordinating its prior interest in the Property to said Environmental Covenant shall not affect the priority of that interest in relation to any other interests that exist in relation to the property.

Fourth Street Baptist further assents specifically to the subsequent recordation and/or registration of a modification to the Environmental Covenant, in accordance with the terms as referenced in the Environmental Covenant and agrees that the Lease shall be subject to the Modified Environmental Covenant and to the rights, covenants, restrictions, and easements created thereby and there under insofar as the interests created under the Lease affect the Property or Impacted Areas as so modified and as if for all purposes said Modified Environmental Covenant had been executed, delivered and recorded prior to the execution, delivery and recordation of the Lease.

Fourth Street Baptist has caused this instrument to be executed this 26 day of March, 2007.

Fourth Street Baptist Church

By: Grant Name: 12 Aut Title: Chran Maral

RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENTAL COVENANT

STATE OF KENTUCKY) COUNTY OF <u>DAVIESS</u>)

The foregoing Subordination Agreement was signed, sworn to and acknowledged before me by <u>FRANK POSEY</u>, on behalf of the Fourth Street Baptist Church, this the \underline{A}_{μ} day of <u>MArch</u>, 2008.

<u>Somme</u> <u>Kranwickel</u> Notary Public My Commission Expires: July 30, 2008

This document prepared by:

Nick Hofmann Atmos Energy Corporation 5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1800 Dallas Texas 75240

.

Atmos Energy Corporation KPSC Initial Data Request Dated July 21, 2008 Case No. 2008-00230 DR Item 3

WITNESS: Mark A. Martin

3. Paragraph 10 immediately follows paragraph 8 in the application. Clarify whether a paragraph was omitted or whether the numbering was inadvertent.

Response: The Company inadvertently mislabeled the paragraphs and apologizes for the inconvenience.

.

Atmos Energy Corporation KPSC Initial Data Request Dated July 21, 2008 Case No. 2008-00230 DR Item 4

WITNESS: Mark A. Martin

4. Paragraph 10 of the application states that Atmos is not seeking approval of any rate-making treatment of these costs and expenses at this time, while paragraph 11 states that the expenditures in question are extraordinary and non-recurring costs. Paragraph 11 also states that Atmos may not have the opportunity to recover these expenses without the Commission Order it requests. It has been the general practice of the Commission not to permit deferral and future rate recovery of non-recurring costs after they have been expensed by the utility. (See Case No. 2003-00433, June 30, 2004 Order at 42-45.) Provide a detailed explanation for why Atmos believes its extraordinary and non-recurring costs for remedial environmental actions related to the Site should be deferred for possible future rate recovery.

Response: The Company is seeking to defer such expenses to Account 186 until the Company's next general rate case. During that proceeding, the recoverability of these expenses, will be determined by the Commission. Several factors currently exist that the Company believes justifies deferring consideration of these expenses until the Company's next rate case. First, although KRS 278.183 has historically been viewed as applying to the electric industry only, the statute is worded broad enough to allow an environmental surcharge for a non-electric utility. The statute allows a "utility" the current recovery of its costs of complying with those "federal, state or local environmental requirements which apply to coal combustion wastes and by-products from facilities utilized for production of energy from coal...". The Company is not requesting, however, expansion of that statute to the costs which are the subject matter of this proceeding even though they are costs of complying with federal environmental requirements related to "by-products" from the production of energy from coal. The statute is referred to simply as evidence that the legislature is supportive of the concept that these type of non-recurring, environmental costs should be recoverable currently by a utility. Although the Company is not proposing such a surcharge, it is simply requesting that it be permitted to at least preserve the right to seek recovery of these costs in its next general rate case.

Secondly, by the Franklin Circuit Court ruling in <u>Commonwealth of Kentucky, ex</u> rel. Gregory D. Stumbo, Attorney General v. Kentucky Public Service <u>Commission and Union Light, Heat and Power Company</u>, Case No. 06-CI-269, has cast doubt on how any expense outside of a general rate case proceeding can be recouped unless specifically allowed by statute. Without deferring these costs, the Company's ability to recover what would otherwise be recoverable, will be permanently lost.

Finally, the EPA has set a very aggressive timeline for completion of this project. This timeline was neither planned nor budgeted for and such expenses were not included in the Company's revenue requirement calculation in the last rate case. The Company believes that a deferral order is the simplest and most cost effective process to review such expenses.

Atmos Energy Corporation KPSC Initial Data Request Dated July 21, 2008 Case No. 2008-00230 DR Item 5

WITNESS: Mark A. Martin

5. Refer to Exhibit A to the application.

a. Provide the specific account(s) – account title and account number – in which Atmos has recorded each of the itemized expenditures shown in the exhibit.

Response: Please see the attached Itemized Expenditures (through May 31, 2008), for a list of the items on Exhibit A with accounts and account descriptions noted.

b. The \$159,417 paid the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), which is more than 50 percent of the total expended to date, is listed as miscellaneous. Provide a detailed narrative description of the nature of the EPA expenditure.

Response: The \$159,417 represents payment to EPA for the costs it has incurred at the site. The EPA costs at the site are comprised primarily of site investigation costs, laboratory and analytical costs and payroll costs. A detailed accounting of the costs is attached.

Atmos Energy Corporation Owensboro, Kentucky MGP Site Itemized Expenditures (through May 31, 2008)

Date	Expenditure Type	Vendor Name	Amount	Account	Description
07/27/2007	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	MUNSCH HARDT KOPF AND HARR PC	\$ 6,703.75	101	Plant in Service (recorded to account 1070 as of 5/31/08)
09/14/2007	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	BRYANT ENGINEERING INC	1,702.50	101	Plant in Service (recorded to account 1070 as of 5/31/08)
08/31/2007	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	MUNSCH HARDT KOPF AND HARR PC	1,031.40	101	Plant in Service (recorded to account 1070 as of 5/31/08)
12/04/2007	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	BRYANT ENGINEERING INC	1,465.00	101	Plant in Service (recorded to account 1070 as of 5/31/08)
01/03/2008	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	BRYANT ENGINEERING INC	2,440.00	101	Plant in Service (recorded to account 1070 as of 5/31/08)
03/14/2008	LAND	REGIONAL LAND TITLE COMPANY	101,822.00	101	Plant in Service (recorded to account 1070 as of 5/31/08)
08/07/2007	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	BRYANT ENGINEERING INC	2,307.50	101	Plant in Service (recorded to account 1070 as of 5/31/08)
03/19/2008	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	MESSENGER INQUIRER INC	71.02	8800	Distribution Other Expense
03/27/2008	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	BRYANT ENGINEERING INC	634.50	8800	Distribution Other Expense
12/06/2007	CONSULTING	LINEBACH FUNKHOUSER INC	382.50	8800	Distribution Other Expense
03/17/2008	CONSULTING	LINEBACH FUNKHOUSER INC	3,107.06	8800	Distribution Other Expense
03/27/2008	CONSULTING	LINEBACH FUNKHOUSER INC	5,410.00	8800	Distribution Other Expense
10/31/2007	CONSULTING	LINEBACH FUNKHOUSER INC	10,959.28	8800	Distribution Other Expense
05/02/2008	CONTRACTOR - SERVICES	BRYANT ENGINEERING INC	1,102.00	8800	Distribution Other Expense
03/07/2008	MISCELLANEOUS	ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY	159,417.65	8800	Distribution Other Expense
Total			\$ 298,556.16		

Atmos Energy Corporation KPSC Initial Data Request Dated July 21, 2008 Case No. 2008-00230 DR Item 6

WITNESS: Mark A. Martin

6. Provide the ending dates of Atmos' most recent fiscal year and the 12-month periods used as the base period and forecasted period in its most recent general rate case.

Response: The Company's fiscal years ends each year on September 30th. The base period used in the Company's most recent rate case was April 1, 2006 through March 31, 2007. The forecasted test period used in the Company's most recent rate case was July 1, 2007 through June 30, 2008.